
 

 
Agenda 

 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
 
 
 

Date: Wednesday 22 January 2020 

Time: 6.00 pm 

Place: The Old Library - Oxford Town Hall 

 
For any further information please contact:  

John Mitchell, Committee and Member Services Officer 

Telephone: 01865 252217 

Email: jmitchell@oxford.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 

 
Details of how City Councillors and members of the public may engage with this 
meeting may be found on page 9 of this agenda. 
 
 
 
 
As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record the meeting please let the 
Committee Services Officer know how you wish to do this before the start of the 
meeting. 
 
 



 
 

Cabinet 
 
Membership 
 
 
Chair/ Leader Councillor Susan Brown Leader of the Council, Cabinet 

Member for Economic 
Development and Partnerships 

 
Vice Chair/ 
Deputy Leader 
 

Councillor Linda Smith Deputy Leader (Statutory), 
Cabinet Member for Leisure and 
Housing 

 
 

Councillor Ed Turner Deputy Leader, Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Asset 
Management 

 
 

Councillor Nigel Chapman Cabinet Member for Safer 
Communities and Customer 
Focused Services 

 
 

Councillor Mary Clarkson Cabinet Member for Culture and 
City Centre 

 
 

Councillor Tom Hayes Cabinet Member for Zero 
Carbon Oxford 

 
 

Councillor Alex Hollingsworth Cabinet Member for Planning 
and Sustainable Transport 

 
 

Councillor Mike Rowley Cabinet Member for Affordable 
Housing 

 
 

Councillor Marie Tidball Cabinet Member for Supporting 
Local Communities 

 
 

Councillor Louise Upton Cabinet Member for Healthy 
Oxford 

 
 
 
 

The quorum for this meeting is three, substitutes are not allowed. 
 
Future items to be discussed by the Cabinet can be found on the Forward Plan which is 
available on the Council’s website 
 

Copies of this agenda 

 
Reference copies are available to consult in the Town Hall Reception. Agendas are published 6 
working days before the meeting and the draft minutes a few days after. 

 

All agendas, reports and minutes are available online and can be: 

- viewed on our website – mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk 

- downloaded from our website 

- viewed using the computers in the Customer Services, St Aldate’s, or 

- subscribed to electronically by registering online at mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk 

 

 
 

http://10.206.136.158/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=345&RD=0
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20169/council_meetings
http://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/ielogon.aspx?lp=1&RPID=2852798&HPID=2852798&Forms=1&META=mgSubscribeLogon


 

AGENDA 
 

PART ONE 
PUBLIC BUSINESS 

 
 
  Pages 
   

1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

2   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 

3   ADDRESSES AND QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  
 

 

4   COUNCILLOR ADDRESSES ON ANY ITEM FOR DECISION ON 
THE BOARD'S AGENDA  
 

 

5   COUNCILLOR ADDRESSES ON NEIGHBOURHOOD ISSUES  
 

 

6   ITEMS RAISED BY BOARD MEMBERS  
 

 

7   SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 

 

 Scrutiny Committee meets on 14 January. Any recommendations to 
Cabinet from that meeting will be published as a supplement to this 
agenda. 
 

 

8   CONNECTING OXFORD 
 

11 - 128 

 Lead Member: Planning and Sustainable Transport (Councillor Alex 
Hollingsworth) 

 

 The Executive Director, Development has submitted a report to 
support further scheme and business case development of Connecting 
Oxford proposals.   
 
Recommendations: That Cabinet resolves to: 
 
Endorse the overall approach proposed as the basis for further 
scheme and business case development of Connecting Oxford 
proposals in partnership with Oxfordshire County Council. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

9   USE OF S106 AND RETAINED RIGHT TO BUY RECEIPTS TO 
INCREASE THE PROVISION OF MORE AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
 

129 - 142 

 Lead Member: Affordable Housing (Councillor Mike Rowley)  

 The Head of Housing Services has submitted a report to seek project 
approval and delegations to enable the spending of Retained Right to 
Buy Receipts and s.106 funding for the purpose of delivering, or 
enabling the delivery of, more affordable housing, through new build or 
acquisition activity. 
 
Recommendations: That Cabinet resolves to: 
 
1. Give project approval to the proposals, to purchase 

accommodation or issue grants, as set out in this report, and within 
the allocated capital budgets, for the purpose of delivering more 
affordable housing in Oxford; 

2. Note that the proposals set out in this report, in relation to Retained 
Right to Buy Receipts (RRTBRs) - £13.2m in the HRA in 20/21, and 
£2.35m in 21/22; Recycled Capital Grant Funds (RCGF) - £370k in 
the HRA in 20/21; and s.106 funds - £3m in the General Fund in 
20/21; have informed the budget setting process and that the 
implications for budgets are included within the 2020/21 
consultation budget; 

3. Recommend to Council that a capital budget for £3m of 
expenditure, subsidised using RRTBRs, is approved in 2019/20, to 
enable an off-plan purchase of Social Rented homes, this sum 
being effectively brought forward from the overall £13.2m identified 
in 2020/21 in the consultation budget, which would then reduce to 
£10.2m in 20/21 accordingly; 

4. Delegate authority to the Director of Housing, in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Affordable Housing; the Head of 
Financial Services/Section 151 Officer; and the Council’s 
Monitoring Officer, to enter into agreement for the award of 
grant, contractual arrangement and/or spend, for the provision 
of additional affordable housing in perpetuity, using Retained Right 
to Buy Receipts or Recycled Capital Grant funding; 

5. Delegate authority to the Head of Planning Services, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Affordable Housing; the 
Head of Financial Services/Section 151 Officer; and the Council’s 
Monitoring Officer, to enter into agreement for the award of 
grant, contractual arrangement and/or spend, for the provision 
of additional affordable housing in perpetuity, using s.106 funds; 
and  

6. Delegate authority to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Members for Finance and Asset Management, and 
Affordable Housing, to approve any property or development 
purchases over £500,000 for affordable housing, within this project 
approval. 
 

 

 



 

10   ENERGY & WATER SUPPLY PROCUREMENT 2020 – 2024 
 

143 - 156 

 Lead Member: Zero Carbon Oxford (Councillor Tom Hayes)  

 The Transition Director has submitted a report to approve parameters 
and approach for the procurement of energy and water for the period 
period 1 October 2020 to 30 September 2024 with a view to Oxford 
City Council becoming a net zero carbon council in terms of energy 
usage. 
 
Recommendations: That Cabinet resolves to: 
 
1. Approve the procurement strategy of seeking the purchase of 
certified renewable electricity and renewable gas supplies;  
2. Authorise officers to explore options to better stimulate investment 
in new local renewable energy generation through a corporate Power 
Purchase Agreement (PPA) approach for the council’s energy 
supplies;   
3. Approve (subject to 2 above) the use of the Kent County Council 
energy procurement framework via its trading arm LASER (the 
specialist public sector energy buying organisation) for up to a further 
four years (2020-2024) to procure the Council’s energy and water 
contracts from October 2020;  
4. Approve the continuation of the energy purchasing approach - a 
flexible contract for larger electricity and gas supplies, and a fixed term 
fixed price contract for smaller energy consuming sites and water 
supplies; 
5. Approve the purchase of appropriate offset products to mitigate the 
impact of vehicle fuel purchase; 
6. Note the continuing  impact of the Council’s Carbon Reduction 
Programme in reducing the need for offsetting in the future and the 
overall energy and fuel requirements to support the council’s 
operation; and  
7. Note that with the combination of the procurement of renewable 
energy, certified and verifiable offsetting of fuel impacts and a 
programme to reduce energy consumption in place the Council can 
rightly claim to be Net Zero in terms of Green House gases associated 
with its operations. 
 
 

 

11   COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME 2020-21 
 

157 - 174 

 Lead Member: Supporting Local Communities (Councillor Marie 
Tidball) 
 

 

 The Head of Financial Services has submitted a report to consider the 
feedback from the recent consultation on the proposed changes to the 
Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme and to agree the principles of 
the new scheme to be drawn up for approval by Council on 27th 
January. 

 



 

 
Recommendations: That Cabinet resolves to: 
 
Note the outcome of the consultation on the proposed Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme; 
Delegate authority to the Head of Financial Services  to draft the 
details of the new Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2020/21 in 
accordance with paragraphs 6-9 of this report, so that it can be 
submitted to Council for approval at its meeting on the 27th January 
2020; and 
Recommend Council to resolve to adopt the new Local Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme for 2020/21. 
 
 
 

12   FLAG FLYING ON WORLD REFUGEE DAY 
 

175 - 178 

 Lead Member: Leader, Economic Development and Partnerships 
(Councillor Susan Brown) 

 

 The Head of Law and Governance has submitted a report to seek 
approval to fly the "City of Sanctuary" flag annually on 20 June for 
World Refugee Day and 18 December for International Migrants’ Day, 
following a cross-party motion passed by Council on 22 July 2019. 
 
Recommendations: That Cabinet resolves to: 
 
Authorise the flying of the City of Sanctuary flag annually on 20 June 
for World Refugee Day and 18 December for International Migrants’ 
Day. 
 

 

13   MINUTES 
 

179 - 188 

 Recommendation: The City Executive Board resolves to APPROVE 
the minutes of the meeting held on 19 December 2019 as a true and 
accurate record. 
 

 

14   DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS 
 

 

 Meetings are scheduled for the following dates: 
 

 12 February 

 11 March 

 15 April 

 10 June 

 15 July 

 12 August  
 
All meetings start at 6pm. 

 



 

 
 



 

DECLARING INTERESTS 
 
General duty 
 
You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item 
on the agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to you. 
 
What is a disclosable pecuniary interest? 
 
Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your* employment; sponsorship (ie payment for 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your 
election expenses); contracts; land in the Council’s area; licences for land in the Council’s 
area; corporate tenancies; and securities.  These declarations must be recorded in each 
councillor’s Register of Interests which is publicly available on the Council’s website. 
 
Declaring an interest 
 
Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a meeting, 
you must declare that you have an interest.  You should also disclose the nature as well as 
the existence of the interest. 
 
If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having declared it at the meeting you 
must not participate in discussion or voting on the item and must withdraw from the meeting 
whilst the matter is discussed. 
 
Member’s Code of Conduct and public perception 
 
Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Members’ Code of 
Conduct says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never 
improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and that 
“you must not place yourself in situations where your honesty and integrity may be 
questioned”.  What this means is that the matter of interests must be viewed within the 
context of the Code as a whole and regard should continue to be paid to the perception of 
the public. 
 
*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member her or himself 
but also those of the member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with as husband or wife or 
as if they were civil partners. 



 

 
HOW OXFORD CITY COUNCILLORS AND MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC CAN ENGAGE 

AT THE CABINET 
 

Addresses and questions by members of the public, (15 minutes in total) 
 
Members of the public can submit questions in writing about any item for decision at the 
meeting. Questions, stating the relevant agenda item, must be received by the Head of Law 
and Governance by 9.30am two clear working day before the meeting (eg for a Tuesday 
meeting, the deadline would be 9.30am on the Friday before). Questions can be submitted 
either by letter or by email (to cabinet@oxford.gov.uk ). 
 
Answers to the questions will be provided in writing at the meeting; supplementary 
questions will not be allowed. If it is not possible to provide an answer at the meeting it will 
be included in the minutes that are published on the Council’s website within 2 working 
days of the meeting. 
 
The Chair has discretion in exceptional circumstances to agree that a submitted question or 
related statement (dealing with matters that appear on the agenda) can be asked verbally 
at the meeting. In these cases, the question and/or address is limited to 3 minutes, and will 
be answered verbally by the Chair or another Cabinet member or an officer of the Council. 
The text of any proposed address must be submitted within the same timescale as 
questions. 
 
For this agenda item the Chair’s decision is final. 
 
Councillors speaking at meetings 
 
Oxford City councillors may, when the chair agrees, address the Cabinet on an item for 
decision on the agenda (other than on the minutes). The member seeking to make an 
address must notify the Head of Law and Governance by 9.30am at least one clear working 
day before the meeting, stating the relevant agenda items. An address may last for no more 
than three minutes. If an address is made, the Cabinet member who has political 
responsibility for the item for decision may respond or the Cabinet will have regard to the 
points raised in reaching its decision. 
 
Councillors speaking on Neighbourhood issues (10 minutes in total) 
 
Any City Councillor can raise local issues on behalf of communities directly with the 
Cabinet. The member seeking to make an address must notify the Head of Law and 
Governance by 9.30am at least one clear working day before the meeting, giving outline 
details of the issue. Priority will be given to those members who have not already 
addressed the Cabinet within the year and in the order received. Issues can only be raised 
once unless otherwise agreed by the Cabinet. The Cabinet’s responsibility will be to hear 
the issue and respond at the meeting, if possible, or arrange a written response within 10 
working days. 
 
Items raised by Cabinet members 
 
Such items must be submitted within the same timescale as questions and will be for 
discussion only and not for a Cabinet decision. Any item which requires a decision of the 
Cabinet will be the subject of a report to a future meeting of the Cabinet 

mailto:cabinet@oxford.gov.uk


 

 



 

. 

 

To: Cabinet 

Date: 22 January 2020 

Report of: Executive Director, Development 

Title of Report:  Connecting Oxford – Further Scheme and Business 
Case Development 

 

Summary and recommendations 

Purpose of report: To support further scheme and business case 
development of Connecting Oxford proposals.   
 

Key decision: Yes 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Alex Hollingsworth, Planning & Sustainable 
Transport 

Corporate Priority: Vibrant and sustainable economy; Clean and green city 

Policy Framework: Corporate Plan 2016-2020. 

Recommendation: That Cabinet resolves to: 

 1. Endorse the overall approach proposed as the basis for further scheme 
and business case development of Connecting Oxford proposals in 
partnership with Oxfordshire County Council. 

  

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 Detailed breakdown of Connecting Oxford initial 
consultation responses 

Appendix 2 Map of proposed Traffic Restriction points & Eastern Arc 
Workplace Parking Levy option 

Appendix 3 

 

Map showing route of proposed new high frequency bus 
route serving the Eastern Arc 

Appendix 4 

 

Appendix 5 

Service & Community Impact Assessment (SCIA)  

 

Detailed Project Programme 

Introduction  

11

Agenda Item 8



1. Oxfordshire County Council and Oxford City Council have further developed 
ideas to transform transport connectivity in and around Oxford – called 
Connecting Oxford based on the policies and strategy in the county’s Local 
Transport Plan, Connecting Oxfordshire. This paper sets out proposals to 
support the development of a detailed scheme and Department for Transport 
(DfT) compliant business case for Connecting Oxford. 
 

2. Oxfordshire County Council Cabinet will be considering an equivalent version of 
this paper for decision on 21 January 2020. 
 

3. The Local Transport Plan sets out a vision and strategy to transform how people 
travel to and within Oxford to overcome existing problems of congestion and 
pollution and ensure future growth can be accommodated. It confirms that doing 
nothing is not an option with a 25% increase in commuting journeys to and 
within Oxford predicted by 2031, which, if current travel behaviours persist, could 
result in 13,000 more commuter car trips each day. This amount of additional car 
traffic in Oxford is simply not sustainable and would severely overburden the 
transport network and impact on people’s quality of lives. 
   

4. Connecting Oxford includes a workplace parking levy and traffic restrictions. 
While these measures would be applied within Oxford, the improvements they 
would enable and directly deliver would have benefits across the county. For the 
large number of people who currently regularly travel in and out of Oxford for 
work, education or leisure and those who will do so in the future as the 
population in the county grows, using public transport will become a more 
attractive option. Proposals could also have a scalable model that could benefit 
other towns in Oxfordshire.  

 
5. Traffic restrictions would reduce the number of vehicles taking up valuable space 

on the roads, particularly in Oxford where space is at a premium. This will enable 
the reassignment of some existing roadspace to benefit cyclists, pedestrians and 
bus passengers, with more reliable, quicker and safer journeys. Less traffic and 
congestion would also mean better air quality and reduced carbon dioxide 
emissions from transport.  

 

6. Severe traffic congestion is having a negative impact on existing bus services. 
Oxford Bus Company has confirmed bus speeds in the centre of Oxford are 38% 
slower than in 2006, and so to ensure the timetable is met it has to put around 
one third more buses on the road. This, together with falling passenger numbers 
as a result of the slower journey times, has hit profitability, which is down by two-
thirds. If not addressed, this unsustainable trend could see further impact on less 
profitable city and rural services. 

 

 
7. A Workplace Parking Levy (WPL) would also reduce traffic by encouraging 

employers to reduce the amount of workplace car parking they provide and by 
encouraging employees to use more sustainable and active modes of travel. A 
WPL would also bring in a reliable and locally controlled funding stream that 
would be used to fund new and improved bus services, cycle and pedestrian 
measures and a range of employer and employee financial benefits to promote 

12



more sustainable travel (and mitigate the impact of introducing the levy). More 
active travel by cycling and walking will also have added health benefits for 
citizens. 

 

8. It should be noted the proposals could potentially result in the increased cost, 
duration and length of some car journeys, while others may see quicker journeys 
on less congested roads. A concern expressed by some is of a negative impact 
on recruitment and retention of staff for some employers and those undertaking 
operational travel. Any impacts could have a different effect depending on the 
individual or group affected. A full assessment of the scheme’s potential benefits 
and impacts will be carried out as part of the business case process with the 
final scheme designed to ensure any adverse impacts are mitigated. Proposals 
would also be subject to further engagement, consultation and a possible public 
inquiry.    
 

9. The Connecting Oxford proposals form a key element in delivering objectives set 
out in the report to December 2019 Cabinet - Initial Response to the Report on 
the Citizens’ Assembly on Climate Change – to reduce the carbon impact of 
transport in the city. Transport accounts for 17% of greenhouse gas emissions in 
Oxford, with 50 tonnes of CO2  emitted by road traffic in Oxford every morning 
rush hour 

 

10. A reduction in traffic volumes would also help meet City Council objectives to 
improve air quality and the health and wellbeing of citizens. Transport accounts 
for about 75% of nitrogen dioxide (NO2) pollution in Oxford.  Air pollution has 
been found to contribute to cancer, asthma, stroke and heart disease, diabetes, 
obesity, and with changes linked to dementia. Data published by the Committee 
on the Medical Effects of Air Pollutants (COMEAP) estimated that around 36,000 
premature deaths in the UK every year could be linked to long-term exposure to 
air pollution, with health experts warning that there is no safe level of NO2.  

 

11. The financial implications of developing a detailed scheme up to and including 
submission of a scheme Order and business case for approval by DfT is 
estimated to be £1.602m. Project funding has been secured from the Housing 
and Growth Deal, as it supports the housing growth and sustainable access in 
and around Oxford, and is expected to have an overall positive impact on 
Oxfordshire’s economy. The DfT has also confirmed that WPL development and 
implementation costs can be recovered using future net proceeds from the levy, 
through its successful implementation. 

 

 
 
Findings from Public & Stakeholder Consultation – Sep-Oct 2019 
 
12. An extensive engagement exercise to obtain feedback from the public and 

stakeholders on the Connecting Oxford proposals was held between 18 
September and 20 October 2019. Over 3,000 responses were received in total. , 
2932 responded via an online survey (95% of which responded in a personal 
capacity with the remaining 5% responding on behalf of a business, employer or 

13



other organisation). In addition, some further written feedback was received in 
emails and letters. Respondents included employers comprising businesses and 
other organisations, as well as parish councils and a variety of different 
community interest groups. A detailed breakdown of the consultation 
responses is in Appendix 1. 

 

13. In summary, the feedback confirms there is recognition that doing nothing is not 
an option and there is general support for objectives and principles set out in the 
Connecting Oxford plan. Overall, only a minority of online survey respondents – 
both among the public (25%) and stakeholders (32%) – believed the proposed 
WPL would make journeys worse. With the proposed transport restrictions a 
minority of the public (42%) believed these would make their journey worse, 
while a small majority of stakeholders (53%) believed that journeys would be 
worse.  

 

14. Focusing on residents within and immediately around the city in postcodes OX1, 
OX2, OX3 and OX4 - there was a more positive view of the proposals: 18% 
believed the WPL would make journeys worse vs 43% who believed it would 
improve journeys. When considering the proposed traffic restrictions, 40% 
believed these would make journeys worse vs 39% who believed they would 
improve journeys.  
 

15. Across the public responses as a whole, generally there was strong support for 
both sets of measures among those that used a car for only part of their journey 
to their regular destination, or travelled entirely by other means – public 
transport, cycling or walking; and strong opposition among those that travelled 
solely by car.  

 

16. Nevertheless, half of online survey respondents (50%), including car drivers, 
wanted to see improvements for cycling and buses in Oxford. 

 
17. A number of individuals and stakeholders, including submissions from the 

University of Oxford and Oxford University Hospitals Trust, indicated that 
proposals should go further – including extending the current proposed WPL 
zone to other parts of the city.  

 

18. However, there were also real concerns among others around the potential 
impact of proposals including reduced access to facilities, services and work, 
displacement of traffic and pollution, increased cost and time spent travelling. A 
significant number of online survey respondents (28%) supported exemptions 
from traffic restrictions for Blue Badge holders. 

 

19. Many respondents – particularly among stakeholders - indicated that they 
wanted more detail including on potential impacts and the alternatives modes of 
travel and a reassurance that these alternatives are in place and implemented in 
a timely way.          

 
Recommended next steps 

14



 

20. Officers consider that many of the concerns raised at this stage could be 
addressed and mitigated through careful design of the proposals. And so, in light 
of feedback received, it is recommended that the following aspects of proposals 
are considered further and as part of the detailed scheme design and business 
case. This will also include further engagement and consultation (as outlined 
further below) to ensure proposals meet wider objectives but also provide 
transport and environmental benefits to those directly affected including 
residents, employees or employers.  
 
Traffic restrictions 
 
 The exact location of the traffic restriction points; 
 Whether further restrictions or other traffic management schemes are 

required; 
 The timing of the restrictions to determine when they should operate 

including consideration of these operating all day or just part-time; 
 Whether there should be further exemptions and how these would be 

administered in practice; and 
 The supporting transport strategy.  
 
Workplace parking levy 
 
 The level of charge;   
 The exact boundary of the Eastern Arc WPL; 
 Whether there should be any exemptions and/or discounts; and 
 The supporting transport strategy including establishing priorities for 

investment of income raised, and as required by the enabling legislation, a 
detailed 5-year investment plan and outline plan of investment covering a 10-
year period.  

 
21. Several individuals and organisations, including some large employers, 

expressed support for alternative options, including a congestion charge or 
expansion of the WPL area.  Alternative options will be considered at the next 
stage, as required as part of the DfT business case process.  Any alternative 
options pursued would need to be deliverable and proportionate, and it is 
important that any WPL scheme delivers clear benefits to employers who pay for 
it and their employees. 

 
22. A Service & Community Impact Assessment confirms a number of actions will be 

taken should the project proceed including detailed modelling and 
economic/social impact assessments; and further discussion and formal 
consultation with communities groups, community interest organisations and 
individuals at risk of negative impact and the groups representing them. 

 
23. A ‘Partnership’ involving major employers and businesses, including those 

representing health and education sectors, affected by Connecting Oxford 
proposals, would also be established with the intention of using the Partnership 
to help shape proposals and to try to accommodate stakeholder requests or at 
least mitigate their concerns.  

15



 
24. A substantial body of technical and legal work will be required alongside 

activities associated with further stakeholder engagement and consultation, as 
above. 

Background – Oxfordshire Local Transport Plan 

25. The Oxfordshire Local Transport Plan (LTP), Connecting Oxfordshire, which 
includes the Oxford Transport Strategy (OTS), sets out a vision and strategy to 
transform how people travel to and within Oxford to overcome existing problems 
of congestion and pollution and ensure future growth can be accommodated. 

 
26. The OTS confirms that doing nothing is not an option with a 25% increase in 

commuting journeys to and within Oxford predicted by 2031, which, if current 
travel behaviours persist, could result in 13,000 more commuter car trips each 
day. This amount of additional car traffic in Oxford is simply not sustainable and 
would severely overburden the transport network and impact on people’s quality 
of lives.   
 

27. To overcome these challenges the OTS sets out an integrated strategy based 
on the following components:  

 
 A better public transport network, primarily bus-based, with more 

capacity (including new, more remote Park & Rides) and faster journey 
times. 

 
 A walking and cycling network that is continuous and high-quality with 

space for very high levels of cycling and more pedestrians in areas of 
high footfall.      

 
 A reduction in traffic levels to enable the above bus and walking and 

cycling improvements, partly through substantial road space reallocation, 
as well as reducing traffic emissions.  

 
28. The councils have been very successful in securing funding for these plans, with 

over £80 million available over the next five years for schemes in and around 
Oxford including Banbury Road, Botley Road, Woodstock Road, A40 and A44. 
Additional funding for other schemes will be required including further transport 
‘corridor’ improvements inside and outside Oxford, rail improvements at Oxford 
station and, in the longer term, the Cowley branch line.  
 

29. Associated with implementation of Connecting Oxford, there will also be a further 
roll-out of Controlled Parking Zones (CPZ) across areas not covered and in 
addition to the nine CPZ schemes that the county council approved in April 2019 
for formal consultation.. 
 

30. The councils also continue to work towards the implementation of a Zero 
Emissions Zone (ZEZ) for the city, which would see all road traffic become zero 
emission by the mid-2030s. And in combination with other proposals set out in 
OTS, including those contained within Connecting Oxford itself, will help to 
improve air quality and therefore people’s health and wellbeing.   

16

https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/roads-and-transport/connecting-oxfordshire/connecting-oxford
https://mycouncil.oxfordshire.gov.uk/documents/s33711/Background%20CA_JUN2816R12%20Connecting%20Oxfordshire%20vol%208%20part%20i%20-%20Oxford%20Transport%20Strategy.pdf
https://mycouncil.oxfordshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=931&MId=5734
https://mycouncil.oxfordshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=931&MId=5734


 
31. The provision of dedicated infrastructure for pedestrians, cyclists and public 

transport – bus lanes, cycle lanes, footpaths – have helped manage the growth 
in travel movements over past years. However, all parts of the transport network 
are now under pressure.  If we are to transform how people travel to and within 
Oxford and provide enough capacity to meet future travel demand, investment is 
needed to improve pedestrian, cycle and public transport routes to make these 
more attractive to users. We must also focus on measures that provide 
sustained traffic reduction and support increased modal shift away from private 
car travel.  
 

32. In recognition of this, the OTS proposes a workplace parking levy, traffic 
restrictions and parking controls. And whilst these measures would be applied 
within Oxford, the improvements they would enable and directly deliver would 
have benefits across the county, particularly for the large number of people who 
currently regularly travel in and out of Oxford for work, education or leisure and 
those who will do so in the future as the county grows.   
 

33. Traffic reduction would also reduce carbon dioxide emissions, with transport in 
the UK estimated to contribute about 33 per cent – and 17% within the city of 
Oxford - and therefore supports Oxfordshire councils in their own commitments 
to zero carbon.       

 
The Connecting Oxford proposals 
 

34. Proposals contained in Connecting Oxford are based on the policies and 
strategy in the county’s LTP which includes the OTS. An illustration of the 
proposals is provided at Annex 2, with a summary below including potential 
benefits.   
 

Traffic Restrictions 
 

What are they? 
 

35. Traffic restrictions are places where the road would be closed to most traffic in 
both directions. They would be similar to the existing “bus gate” traffic 
restrictions in the High Street and other locations in Oxford city centre, which 
were introduced in 1999. 

 
36. Buses, cyclists, taxis and private hire vehicles, and all emergency vehicles, 

would be allowed to pass through the traffic restrictions. There may also be 
exemptions for other vehicles including those with Blue Badges. 
 

37. Like existing restrictions in the city centre, the new restrictions would be 
enforced using cameras. There would be no rising bollards or barriers. 
 

38. Like current restrictions, the new restrictions may not all operate over the same 
time period.  Some may only operate during peak times. 
 

What are the benefits? 
 

17

https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/file/roads-and-transport-connecting-oxfordshire/connectingoxfordshire.pdf


39. Traffic restrictions reduce the number of vehicles taking up valuable space on 
the roads. This means road space can be reallocated to create better, cleaner 
space for other modes of transport: 

 
 Wider, segregated cycle lanes to allow for all abilities of cyclist; 
 Safer, more pleasant walking and cycling environment; 
 Buses will be able to flow freely, even in places where there is no road 

space for bus lanes; 
 Less pollution and noise; and 
 Essential vehicles will move around the city more easily. 

 
40. On major routes within the city (e.g. A- and B- roads) it is estimated that traffic 

levels need to be reduced by about 25% to create free-flowing traffic movement.  
In the two years after the 1999 city centre traffic restrictions were introduced, 
traffic reduced by around 60% in Oxford High Street, around 40% on Magdalen 
Bridge, and around 20% in the city centre overall. Over the longer term, city 
centre traffic flows have continued to reduce slightly, with overall flows into the 
city centre 25% lower today than in the 1990s. 

 
Where would they be? 
 

41. In Oxford city centre three new traffic restrictions are proposed at Worcester 
Street, Thames Street and St Cross Road to reduce the number of motor vehicle 
trips which pass through the city centre. In the Eastern Arc of Oxford two new 
traffic restrictions on Marston Ferry Road and Hollow Way are proposed to 
reduce traffic on the B4495. 
 

42. Other traffic restriction and other traffic management schemes, including low 
traffic neighbourhoods, might be required to ensure traffic is not displaced and 
residential roads are not used as rat-runs. 

 
Workplace Parking Levy  
 
What is it? 
 

43. A Workplace Parking Levy (WPL) is an annual charge paid by employers for 
each parking space they provide, on or off-site, that is used for employee 
(commuter) car parking. Operational parking is exempt from a WPL as are fleet, 
visitor and customer car parking spaces. And whilst employers are responsible 
for paying the charge, they may choose to pass some or all of it on to employees 
who park at work. 

 
44. In Nottingham, where a WPL was implemented in 2012, the annual charge per 

space is currently £415. In Oxford, the annual charge would likely be £400 - 
£600. This is a current working assumption based on the need to fund new bus 
services, and cycle & pedestrian infrastructure which is estimated to cost 
between £60-£100 million. The levy in Nottingham has been used as a guide, as 
well as consideration of the cost of an annual SmartZone bus pass (£565) in 
Oxford. The actual figure will need to be established as part of the development 
of a business case and directly relate to the investment needed to improve 
alternatives to car journeys. 

18



 
45. The powers to introduce a WPL are contained in the Transport Act 2000. And 

although a WPL scheme is developed, consulted on and implemented by the 
local transport authority, it must be approved by the Secretary of State for 
Transport. It must also be promoted, and income collected, by the Local 
Transport Authority (in Oxfordshire, the county council).  
 

46. By law, net proceeds from a WPL are only available for the purpose of directly or 
indirectly facilitating achievement of local transport policies including those set 
out in the Oxfordshire Local Transport Plan and Oxford Local Plan.  
 

What are the benefits? 
 

47. A WPL incentivises employers to reduce their car parking supply and/or 
incentivises employees not to drive to their place of work, and travel by public 
transport, walk or cycle instead, which would help to reduce traffic and 
congestion, especially at peak times.  
 

48. It would also provide a substantial, predictable, locally controlled source of 
funding which can be used for both capital and revenue projects so new and 
improved bus services as well as funding for additional Park & Ride capacity and 
better walking and cycling routes. Employer and employee benefits, including 
grants for car parking management and discounted bus fares and Park & Ride 
parking could also be offered. 
 

49. The funding from the levy would also be used to provide travel planning and car 
parking management advice and assistance to support sustainable travel but 
also assist businesses and employers to implement and comply with the 
scheme, and to negate any adverse impacts of the scheme. 
  
 

50. Nottingham also estimated that for every £1 raised by WPL, £3 of external 
funding has been levered in. This combined investment has in total delivered 
£10 of economic benefit to the city per £1 raised by WPL. 

 
Where would it be? 

 
51. The initial proposal for the WPL area, which was consulted upon, covered a strip 

around the Eastern Arc of Oxford, as shown in Appendix 2. The area is an 
irregular shape because it follows the path of a proposed ‘core’ route for new 
high frequency bus services, linking major employers in the area to Park & Ride 
sites and the larger towns in Oxfordshire. The area covers everywhere within the 
Ring Road that is within around 10 minutes’ walking distance from the core bus 
route as shown in Appendix 3. 

 
 
 
 
 

52. This Eastern Arc area was chosen because it: 
 

19



 Contains just under half of the city’s commuter car parking spaces, and so 
generates a significant amount of the traffic and congestion in and around 
Oxford; and 
 

 Because it is not as well served by bus, pedestrian and cycle routes as it 
needs to be – and so needs significant investment in transport 
infrastructure and services.  

 

53. As at stated at Paragraph 21, alternative options including expansion of the WPL 
will be considered at the next stage, as required as part of the DfT business 
case process. 
 

Future stakeholder and public engagement and communications 
 

54. Effective engagement and communications will be critical to developing and 
securing support for a detailed scheme. Through the recent engagement 
exercise stakeholders have confirmed they want to be more involved in shaping 
the WPL proposals and further engagement including with community groups 
will also be required to better understand concerns and access needs in relation 
to designing more detailed traffic restriction proposals, both in the city centre and 
Oxford’s Eastern Arc. The Local Enterprise Partnership and other Oxfordshire 
district councils will also need to be involved.  

 
55. In 2011 government policy in relation to a WPL was: “[Government] will require 

any future [WPL] schemes to demonstrate that they have properly and 
effectively consulted local businesses, have addressed any proper concerns 
raised and secured support from the local business community. This will make 
sure that future schemes will not impose a burden on business.”  
 

56. Therefore, before carrying out formal consultation, and a possible Public Inquiry, 
further engagement will take place, including:   
 

 A ‘Partnership’ will be established involving employers and businesses, 
including those representing health and education sectors and the private 
sector. A Terms of Reference is being developed to confirm the 
Partnership’s membership, mandate and scope of work. The intention 
would be to use the Partnership to help shape proposals and to try to 
accommodate stakeholder requests or at least mitigate their concerns.  

 
 Face-to-face meetings and other events with resident and community 

groups, smaller employers and businesses and other stakeholders 
affected by traffic restrictions or WPL, will also be undertaken. Officers 
are developing the details of this.  

 

57. In addition, there will continue to be a regular flow of communications through 
media and social media countywide to ensure high levels of public awareness 
over the proposals. This will be increased significantly as detailed proposals 
move towards the next phase of public consultation.  

 
Financial implications of developing a detailed proposal and business case 

20



 
Business case tasks and costs 
 

58. The financial implications of developing a detailed scheme up to and including 
submission of a draft scheme Order and full business case for approval by DfT is 
estimated to be £1.602m. This includes a 20% contingency. 
 
 

59. These costs are specifically associated with: 
 

 Transport & emissions modelling and research 
 Supporting transport strategy development & highway design 
 Social & economic impact assessments 
 Cost & income models 
 Preparation of the business case documentation 
 Stakeholder engagement & consultation including a possible Public 

Inquiry 
 Legal advice & support 
 Project management support 

 
60. Note, this excludes costs associated with further scheme development and 

implementation following approval by DfT.  Further scheme development would 
include more detailed design of highway schemes (traffic restrictions, bus and 
cycle priority schemes, and supporting traffic management schemes) which are 
assumed to be funded by money either secured from the DfT or future WPL 
income (see Para.62).   
 
Funding the business case 
 

61. Project funding has been secured from the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth 
Deal, as the project supports housing growth and sustainable access in and 
around Oxford. .   
 
 

62. The DfT have confirmed that costs associated with developing and implementing 
the WPL scheme can be covered by net proceeds generated by future WPL 
income up to a period of 10 years. In-year costs, i.e. those incurred when the 
scheme is up and running and where they directly or indirectly support the aims 
and objectives of the Local Transport Plan, can also be deducted from net-
proceeds. 

 

Legal issues 

63. The WPL scheme development will be led by Oxfordshire County Council it is  
the Transport Authority. The Council is a consultee for the Oxfordshire County 
Council’s Transport Plan. Oxfordshire County Council will be receiving legal 
advice on the scheme from its own legal team as well as external legal support 
to draft the WPL scheme Order.  

64. As referred to in paragraph 30 of this report, the Council’s work with regard to 
traffic reduction supports its aim to achieve net zero. The legal framework for 

21



such is set out in the Climate Change Act 2008 (CCA2008) and the Climate 
Change Act 2008 (2050 Target Amendment) Order. The Order sets the 
expectation that the UK will achieve net zero by 2050.  

65. The Environment Act 1995 requires the Council to periodically review and 
assess current and likely future air quality against national air quality objectives 
for pollutants. Where any objective is unlikely to be met by the relevant deadline 
the Council must designate the affected area as an Air Quality Management 
Area (AQMA) and make an Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) liaising with the 
transport authority to work towards meeting the objectives. The Council declared 
a city wide AQMA in 2010. 

 

Level of risk 

66. The councils are at a relatively early stage in terms of developing these 
proposals and, whilst a project risk register has been established, a full risk 
assessment has not been undertaken. A thorough analysis of risks associated 
with Connecting Oxford will however be undertaken as part of the business case 
which will be presented to county and city Cabinets later in 2020. 
 

67. At this stage, there are potential risks around the economic impact and potential 
for proposals to affect economic growth in the city and beyond. This may reduce 
opportunities for retention and growth in local employment opportunities. There 
is however no evidence that traffic restrictions introduced in Oxford city centre in 
1999 had this effect, nor has this been the result in Nottingham; recent reporting 
in the Financial Times in fact confirms that since Nottingham introduced a WPL 
in 2012 the number of businesses has increased by almost a quarter (+2,350) 
and there has been a net increase in jobs of 23,400.  
 

68. However, there is a greater risk that business and jobs growth will be 
constrained if congestion continues to increase and further transport capacity 
and improved connectivity does not materialise. For example, the OTS estimates 
that by 2031, under a do-nothing scenario, the impact of the resulting congestion 
is forecast to result in a loss of around £150 million from the economy of the city 
per year. Car journey times from the surrounding Oxfordshire towns are also 
anticipated to increase on average by 18% to the city centre and 14% to 
Headington.  

 

Equalities impact 
 

69. Oxfordshire County Council has completed a Service & Community Impact 
Assessment (SCIA), see Appendix 4.  
 

70. The precise impacts of the proposals will depend on the details of the final 
scheme and the package of infrastructure and services that it enables or directly 
funds and supports.  
 

71. However, positive outcomes are expected because WPL funds will enable a 
range of major transport projects, which will greatly improve the city’s 
accessibility, particularly by public transport, walking and cycling, and in areas 

22



where access other than by car is particularly poor such as Oxford’s Eastern 
Arc. This will increase the number and quality of travel options available to the 
public, particularly for those without access to a car. As at paragraphs 43 & 44, it 
is also proposed that WPL income is used to provide a range of employer and 
employee benefits reducing the impact of the charge, and for those in scope, the 
cost of using bus services and Park & Ride. 
 

72. Access restrictions and WPL, and the transport projects it can fund, will also 
have positive benefits for air quality and pollution by helping to reducing traffic 
levels and by encouraging more people to travel by public transport, walking and 
cycling. So also increasing uptake of more active travel options, which would 
have both mental and physical health and wellbeing benefits. 
 

73. The main potential negative impact might be the increased cost, duration and 
length of car journeys. It is possible there is a negative impact on recruitment 
and retention of staff and those undertaking operational travel, including those 
working for the council. Any impacts would have a different effect depending on 
the individual or group affected. However, there is a greater risk to the economy 
and employment in not taking action to reduce traffic volumes. 
  

74. The Service & Community Impact Assessment confirms the following actions will 
be taken as a result of the assessment: 
 

 Detailed modelling and economic/social impact assessments; 
 Further discussion with communities/individuals at risk of negative impact 

and groups representing them; 
 Formal consultation to include all communities/individuals at risk of 

negative impact, and groups representing them; and 
 Consideration of changes to the proposals, including discounts and 

exemptions, to address residual risks identified after actions above have 
been completed. 
 

Timetable 
 

75. The proposed project programme is at Annex 5, with an outline of key 
milestones given below. 

 
21 and 22 January 2020 – county and city councils Cabinets to decide whether 
and how to proceed developing Connecting Oxford.  
 
January-October 2020 – develop more detailed proposals and continue 
discussions with stakeholders. 
 
Winter 2020/21 - formal consultation on a detailed proposal.  
 
May/June 2021 - possible Public Inquiry. 
 
Autumn 2021 - request for Department for Transport approval (as required). 

 
76. The programme allows time to develop a scheme that is right for Oxford, and – 

more importantly – allows time for the council to talk to the city’s employers, 

23



Oxfordshire residents and other stakeholders to shape and build support for the 
scheme before proceeding. 

 
77. In addition to reports to county and city Cabinets at appropriate stages, monthly 

or more regular Project Steering Group meetings will take place with county and 
city members including the Cabinet Member for Planning and Transport, Cabinet 
member for Zero Carbon Oxford, the county’s Cabinet Member for Environment 
and Cabinet Member for Finance. And whilst the Project Steering Group will give 
overall strategic direction for the project, any final decisions including on matters 
concerning consultation and implementation will be made by the county’s 
Cabinet.  
 

78. If the councils are satisfied that the case has been made and sufficient support 
from employers has been secured, specifically linked to the WPL, then a draft 
scheme Order will be submitted to the Secretary of State for Transport (who 
must approve the scheme) around autumn 2021.  

 

Report author Mish Tullar 

Job title Head of Corporate Policy, Partnerships and 
Communications 

Service area or department Assistant Chief Executive 

Telephone  07483 010499   

e-mail  mtullar@oxford.gov.uk 

 

24



Appendix 1 

1 
 

Oxfordshire County Council 
Oxford City Council 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Connecting Oxford: 
Report of Engagement 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
November 2019 
 
 

25



Appendix 1 

2 
 

Executive summary 
 
Oxfordshire County Council and Oxford City Council launched their Connecting 
Oxford proposals on 18 September 2019 and sought views from the public and 
stakeholders. The engagement period lasted until 20 October 2019.   
 
All of the feedback has been analysed by the Connecting Oxford project team, 
however this report of engagement seeks only to summarise the feedback – with the 
complete dataset of responses retained should the Connecting Oxford strategy 
advance into the more detailed planning and design stage. 
 
A copy of the Connecting Oxford questionnaire is provided at the end of this report.   

 
Key facts 
 

 A total of 2932 respondents completed and submitted the online survey. 
 

 95% of responses were completed in a personal capacity.  The remaining 5% 
were completed on behalf of a business, employer or other organisation. 

 
Where do people live? 
 

 Most respondents lived within or immediately surrounding Oxford (OX1 to 
OX4 accounted for 64% of postcodes). 
 

 The most frequently recorded postcode was OX2 - 22% of respondents. 
 

 There were also clusters of respondents living in major Oxfordshire towns and 
villages including Thame, Faringdon, Chipping Norton, Kidlington and Henley-
on-Thames.  

 
Gender and age 
 

 There were more female respondents (55%) than male respondents (45%). 
 

 Just under half of the respondents who provided their age range were 
between 35-54 years old.  This age range is also the largest in Oxfordshire, 
accounting for 40% of the population.  

 
Main travel purpose 
 

 56% of respondents indicated that their main travel purpose was ‘commuting 
to and from work’. A further 1 in 4 respondents said their main travel purpose 
was shopping, leisure and tourism.  

 
 
 
 

26

https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/roads-and-transport/connecting-oxfordshire/connecting-oxford
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/roads-and-transport/connecting-oxfordshire/connecting-oxford


Appendix 1 

3 
 

Main mode of travel 
 

 35% of respondents indicated that their main mode of travel was ‘car all the 
way to my destination’.  32% said ‘bicycle’. ‘Bus’ was selected as the main 
transport mode by 11% of respondents.  

 
Disability 
 

 9% of respondents indicated that they have some form of disability. 
 
Views on Traffic restrictions 
 
Those responding in a personal capacity 
 

 Overall, more of those responding in a personal capacity thought that the 
proposed traffic restrictions would make their journey worse (42%) than better 
(33%). 

 

 For those respondents living in Oxford, 40% thought the traffic restrictions 
would make their journey worse and 39% thought they would be better. 

 

 Views on traffic restrictions varied according to mode of travel: 
 

o 75% of those responding whose main mode of travel is car considered 
the traffic restrictions would make their journeys worse; 5% thought 
their journey would be ‘better’). 

 
o 25% of those responding whose main mode of travel is not car (or car 

for only part of their journey) consider that the traffic restrictions would 
make their journeys worse; 48% thought their journey would be 
‘better’). 

 

 Frequently stated reasons why people felt the traffic restrictions would make 
their journeys better were: 

 
Better and safer cycling; better bus travel; less pollution and better air 
quality; reduced traffic and congestion  

 

 Frequently stated reasons why people felt the traffic restrictions would make 
their journeys worse were: 

 
Reduced access; longer journeys and increased costs; displacement of 
traffic and congestion; increased pollution and carbon emissions; lack 
and high cost of non-car alternatives, impact on local economy and 
jobs 

 
Those responding on behalf of an employer, business or other organisation 
 

 53% of those responding on behalf of organisations indicated that proposed 
traffic restrictions would make transport in Oxford worse 

27



Appendix 1 

4 
 

 

 26% indicated that the traffic restrictions would make transport in Oxford 
journeys better 

 

 Frequently stated reasons why people representing an organisation felt the 
traffic restrictions would make their journeys worse were: 
 

Congestion on alternative routes, possible difficulties with operational 
access, staff access and recruitment/retention concerns, worsening 
pollution where traffic is displaced and lack of public transport 
alternatives to existing car journeys that would be prevented 

 

 Frequently stated reasons why people representing an organisation felt the 
traffic restrictions would make their journeys better were:  

 
Reduced traffic and congestion, better walking and cycling provision, 
reduced pollution and better public transport provision 

 
 
Views on workplace parking levy 
 
Those responding in a personal capacity 
 

 Overall, more of those responding in a personal capacity thought that the 
proposed workplace parking levy would make their journey better (36%) than 
worse (25%). 

 

 For those respondents living in Oxford, 43% thought the workplace parking 
levy would make their journey better and 18% thought they would be worse. 

 

 Views on the workplace parking levy also varied according to mode of travel: 
 

o Just under 50% of those responding whose main mode of travel is car 
considered the workplace parking levy would make their journeys 
worse. 

 
o 50% of those responding whose main mode of travel is not car 

consider that the traffic restrictions would make their journeys better; 
12% felt that their journeys would be worse 

 

 Frequently stated reasons why people felt the workplace parking levy would 
make their journeys better were: 

 
Better bus travel; behaviour change; reduced traffic and congestion; 
better and safer cycling 

 

 Frequently stated reasons why people felt the workplace parking levy would 
make their journeys worse were: 

 

28



Appendix 1 

5 
 

Increased cost of travelling/living; impact on economy and businesses; 
uncertainty over required improvements to public transport and other 
non-car modes; negative impact on people who need to use a car; 
possible displaced car parking. 

 
Those responding on behalf of an employer, business or other organisation 
 

 34% of those responding on behalf of an organisation indicated that the 
proposed workplace parking levy would make transport in Oxford better 

 

 32% indicated that the WPL would make transport in Oxford worse 
 

 Frequently stated reasons why people representing an organisation felt the 
workplace parking would make their journeys better were: 

 
Better public transport, reduced traffic and better conditions for walking 
and cycling  

 

 Frequently stated reasons why people representing an organisation felt the 
workplace parking would make their journeys worse were: 

 
The impact of the local economy, staff access/recruitment and 
retention and lack of non-car travel alternatives 

 
Letter and email comments from stakeholders/organisations 
 

 45 stakeholder groups submitted responses to the Connecting Oxford 
proposals either instead of or in addition to the online questionnaire.  Of the 
very many comments made on the proposals, the most frequently raised were 
as follows: 

 
General support for the objectives of Connecting Oxford 
More information on proposals needed 
Stakeholder input needed/offered as proposals develop 
WPL area should cover further areas within the city 
WPL could have an unfair impact on businesses 

 
 
 
 
  

29



Appendix 1 

6 
 

Introduction  
 
Oxfordshire County Council and Oxford City Council launched their Connecting 
Oxford proposals on 18 September and sought views from the public and 
stakeholders.  The engagement period lasted until 20 October and in total, 2932 
online responses were received.  Some further written feedback was received in 
emails and letters. 
 
All of the feedback has been analysed by the Connecting Oxford project team, 
however this report of engagement seeks only to summarise the feedback – it does 
not go into detail on all of the feedback received (this report does not summarise the 
response to all questions, mostly for GDPR reasons).   
 
There is a lot of detail provided in the feedback received and a wide range of opinion 
on the proposals.  It is recognised that whilst this report summarising responses is 
very useful for observing patterns and themes, the complete dataset of responses 
needs to be retained and referenced for deeper analysis should the Connecting 
Oxford strategy advance into the more detailed planning and design stage. 
 
A copy of the Connecting Oxford questionnaire is provided at the end of this report.   

  

30



Appendix 1 

7 
 

About you and your organisation (Questions 1 – 17) 
 
 
All respondents to the online survey had the opportunity to complete questions about 
themselves, and where applicable, the employer, business or other type of 
organisation that they represented. The following provides a summary of responses.  
 

Question 1 - About you 

 
Out of 2932 online responses received, 95% were completed in a personal capacity.  
The remaining 5% were completed on behalf of a business, employer or other 
organisation. 
 
 

Question 6 - respondents’ home postcode 

 
A recognisable home postcode was provided by 2798 respondents (95%)  

 
Figure 1: Respondents’ home location postcode 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

31



Appendix 1 

8 
 

Figure 2: OX1-4 postcode boundaries for reference 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Most respondents lived within or immediately surrounding Oxford as indicated 
by the home postcode provided (OX1-4 accounted for 64% of postcodes). 

 

 The most frequently recorded postcode was OX2 (an area north and west of 
Oxford covering Cutteslowe, Summertown, Jericho, North Hinksey, Dean 
Court, Botley and Cumnor), with 22% of respondents providing this as their 

32



Appendix 1 

9 
 

home postcode. Nevertheless, there is a good spread of responses from 
residents living across the city and in all areas likely to be affected by 
proposals (see Figure 4). 
 

 There are also clusters of respondents living in other major Oxfordshire towns 
and villages including Thame, Faringdon, Chipping Norton, Kidlington and 
Henley-on-Thames (see Figure 3). 

  

33



Appendix 1 

10 
 

Figure 3: Home postcode distribution across Oxfordshire (for respondents 
answering by online survey or email/letter)   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

34



Appendix 1 

11 
 

Figure 4: Home postcode distribution across Oxford City (for respondents 
answering by online survey)   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

35



Appendix 1 

12 
 

Question 9 - respondents’ gender 

 
2035 respondents answered the question on their gender (69%).  There were more 
female respondents (55%) than male respondents (45%). 

 

Question 10 - respondents’ age 

 
2033 respondents (69% of the total) answered the question on their age  
 

Figure 5: Respondent’s age 

 
Just under half of the respondents who provided their age range were between 35-
54 years old.  This age range is also the largest in Oxfordshire, accounting for 40% 
of the population (Office for National Statistics census data, 2011). 

 

 The age range between 18-24 years is greatly underrepresented in survey 
responses at just 2% of the total. This compares to 20% of the Oxford total 
population falling in this age range, and 10% of the Oxfordshire countywide 
population. 

 39% of survey responses were from 25-44 years old compared to 32% of the 
Oxford population and 28% of the Oxfordshire countywide population. 

 The age band between 45-64 years is overrepresented in the survey with 
41% of survey responses between these ages compared to 18% of the 
Oxford population and 25% of the Oxfordshire countywide population. 

  

36



Appendix 1 

13 
 

Question 14 - respondents’ disability status 

 
1874 respondents answered the question on disability (64%). Only 9% of 
respondents indicated that they have some form of disability. 
 

Question 19 - Respondents’ work location 

 
Only respondents who completed the online survey in a personal capacity were 
asked to provide a postcode of their normal place of work, if this was applicable. A 
recognisable work postcode was provided by 1556 respondents (53%).  
 

Figure 6: Respondents normal place of work by postcode 

 

 Most respondents providing a work postcode indicated that their normal place 
of work is within the area covered by postcodes OX1-4 (85%). 

 

 Over half of respondents’ normal place of work is within the area covered by 
postcodes OX1 and OX3 (53%). 
 

 There is a net outflow of respondents from areas covered by the OX2 and 
OX4 postcodes, with more respondents travelling from rather than commuting 
to these locations for their normal place of work (5% more travelling from OX2 

and 
4% more travelling from OX4).  

  

37



Appendix 1 

14 
 

Figure 7: Normal place of work postcode distribution across Oxfordshire 
 

 

38



Appendix 1 

15 
 

Figure 8: Normal place of work postcode distribution across Oxford City 
 

 
  

39



Appendix 1 

16 
 

 Of the respondents who provided a postcode for their normal place of work 
within Oxford, most are in the centre of the city; reflecting the greater number 
of different employers/more discrete places of work in the city centre.  

 

 The remaining work postcodes provided are mostly dispersed across Oxford’s 
Eastern Arc including in: 

o Headington- predominately at the hospital locations 
o Cowley- particularly the Mini plant and surrounding business parks 

 
  

40



Appendix 1 

17 
 

Online survey responses from those responding in a 
personal capacity (Questions 18 – 22) 
 
The following section relates to respondents who answered questions and provided 
other feedback in a personal capacity only (2800 respondents).  

 
Question 18 - travel purpose 

 
2800 people answered this question (100% of those responding as individuals). 
 

Figure 9: Travel purpose  

 

 Over half of the respondents indicated that their main travel purpose was 
‘commuting to and from work’ (56%). 
 

 Similar proportions of respondents indicated that they travelled for ‘shopping, 
leisure and tourism’ (19%) or ‘other’ purposes (17%). 

 

 A small number of respondents selected ‘visiting friends and family’ (6%) and 
‘business travel whilst at work’ (3%) as their main travel purpose. 
 

 Of those who selected ‘other’, 5% of respondents mentioned the school run 
as part of or their sole journey purpose.  

 

Question 20 – how do you most often travel? 

 
2800 respondents answered the question on mode of travel for their main journey 
purpose in Oxford (100% of those responding as individuals). 
 
 

41



Appendix 1 

18 
 

Figure 10: Mode of travel 

 

 Most respondents indicated that their main mode of travel was ‘car all the way 
to my destination’ (35%) or ‘bicycle’ (32%).  

 

 ‘Bus’ was selected as the main transport mode by 11% of respondents.  
 

 There was a relatively even distribution of respondents who ‘Park & Ride 
(bus)’ (2%), ‘Park & Cycle’ (1%) or ‘Park & Walk’ (2%). 

 
  

42



Appendix 1 

19 
 

Question 22 – respondents’ priorities when travelling 

 
2595 of those who responded in a personal capacity (93%) answered the question 
requiring ranking of their three most important priorities when travelling in Oxford. 
Some responses could not be used in the analysis because the question was 
incorrectly answered including selecting more than three priorities.  
 

Figure 11: Top three important journey priorities for all modes of travel 
 

 

 ‘How long my journey takes’ is the option selected most often by respondents 
- 41% indicated that it was their most important priority, and a total of 79% 
selected this as either their most, second most or third most important priority. 

 

 ‘The reliability of my journey’ is the next most common priority selected by 
respondents - 68% selected this as their most, second or third most important 
priority. 

 

 ‘Being able to do something whilst travelling’ is selected the least by 
respondents - with only 3% choosing this as their most, second or third most 
important priority. 

 
The following chart shows how priorities of respondents varies according to their 
main journey purpose in Oxford, so ‘car all the way to my destination’ or all other 
modes including a car for part of their journey such as ‘car & cycle’.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

43



Appendix 1 

20 
 

Figure 12: Most important journey priorities by car only and all other modes  

 
When separating out for those who travel by car only compared to those travel by all 
other modes journey priorities are still similar, with ‘How long my journey takes’ and 
‘The reliability of my journey’ the most important priorities. 
 

 ‘How long my journey takes’ is the most selected priority, with 53% of car 
users and 35% of other mode users choosing this 

 One quarter of other mode users selected ‘the reliability of my journey’ as 
most important (25%), with a similar proportion of car users choosing this 
priority (24%)  

 ‘Being able to do something else whilst travelling’ is the least selected priority, 
chosen by only 1% of car users and 1% of other mode users 

 
  

44



Appendix 1 

21 
 

Views on traffic restrictions (Question 23) 
 

Question 23 – Views on whether traffic restrictions would make journeys better 
or worse overall 

 
All the 2800 people responding in a personal capacity answered the question on 
whether they thought traffic restrictions would make their journey better or worse 
overall, based on their journey priorities. 
 

Figure 13: Personal views on traffic restrictions of all online respondents 

 More respondents thought that the proposed traffic restrictions would make 
their journey worse (42%) than better (33%). 
 

 14% of respondents did not perceive a change to their journey as a result of 
the traffic restrictions. 
 

 11% of respondents did not know the impact of proposed traffic restrictions on 
their journey. 
 
  

45



Appendix 1 

22 
 

Figure 14: Personal views on traffic restrictions of all online respondents 
living in Oxford 

Compared to all respondents, fewer of those responding to the online questionnaire 
and stating an Oxford home postcode (OX1 to OX4), considered that the traffic 
restrictions would make their journeys worse (40%); more considered they would 
make their journeys better (39%).  There were 1881 respondents (67%) who 
provided an Oxford postcode and answered this question. 
  

46



Appendix 1 

23 
 

The following chart shows how people’s views on the traffic restrictions varied by 
their main mode of travel in Oxford. All other modes included a car for part of the 
journey such as ‘car & cycle’.  

 
Figure 15: Personal views on traffic restrictions of all online respondents 

travelling by car only and all other modes  
 

The traffic restrictions are viewed differently by different mode users – over 70% of 
respondents who travelled by car only for their main journey in Oxford thought that 
traffic restrictions would make their journey worse. This compared to only about 25% 
of those who used other modes including a car for part of their main journey.  Just 
under 50% of respondents who selected other modes of travel indicated that their 
journeys would be better with the traffic restrictions 
 
Respondents were subsequently asked why they thought their journey would be 
‘better’, ‘about the same, ‘worse’ or ‘don’t know’ overall with traffic restrictions. A total 
of 2026 (70%) respondents left comments with a summary of the most common 
themes set out below.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

47



Appendix 1 

24 
 

Traffic restrictions would make journey ‘better’  
 

Comment theme, in 
descending order of 
number of mentions  
 

Summary of responses 
 

Better and safer 
cycling 
 

Many respondents thought less traffic would make cycling 
safer, quicker and easier, including for and travelling with 
children.  
 
Creating more space for segregated cycle lanes was 
welcomed, however, some respondents were concerned 
that this might not be fully realised.  
 
There was also some concern that more buses could 
impact on cycle safety.  
 

Better bus travel  
 

Respondents linked less traffic with more reliable and 
quicker bus services.  
 
Some respondents also wanted additional restrictions to 
speed up buses in places where no restrictions are 
proposed, for example, in the south east of the city. Other 
respondents thought that quicker buses would also 
improve air quality with fewer buses idling in traffic 
congestion.  
 

Less pollution and 
better air quality 
 

Respondents said reducing traffic would also improve air 
quality which would benefit everyone.  
 

Reduced traffic and 
congestion 
 

Respondents welcomed proposals that reduced traffic and 
congestion because this would directly benefit cyclists, 
pedestrians and bus travellers.  
 
Some respondents commented that improvements to 
benefit cyclists, pedestrians and bus travellers need to be 
in place before the traffic restrictions are implemented.   
 

Healthier and safer 
travel including on 
foot 
 

Many respondents thought their journeys on foot would 
improve, particularly from better air quality and noise 
because of less traffic. Respondents thought this would 
mean healthier journeys. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

48



Appendix 1 

25 
 

Traffic restrictions would make journey ‘about the same’  
 

Comment theme, in 
descending order of 
number of mentions 
 

Summary of responses  
 

Unaffected by 
proposals 
 

Respondents thought that they would not be affected by 
the traffic restrictions including any potential impacts or 
benefits. Reasons including living, working or travelling 
outside areas directly affected including areas to the west 
(incl. Botley), east and south east of the city.  
 
Some respondents also thought their mode of travel would 
be unaffected including those that use a train or who also 
travel by bus, on foot or bicycle within or to the city. 
 

Unsure of the 
benefits and impacts 
 

Some respondents were sceptical that traffic levels could 
be reduced and/or whether benefits could be realised.  
 
Others were also unsure whether there would be benefits 
beyond the city centre and Oxford’s eastern arc, giving 
Abingdon Road, Botley Road, Cowley Road and Iffley 
Road as examples.  
 

Proposals won’t 
address all problems 
or don’t go far 
enough 
 

Some respondents wanted additional traffic restrictions 
and/or for impacts to benefit the whole city.  
 
Some respondents also thought that there was a lack of 
vision and more could be done to improve walking, cycling 
and bus travel, for example.  
 
Others thought proposals ignored traffic congestion caused 
by the school run and leisure and shopping trips. 
 

Proposals would 
benefit some modes 
but could negatively 
impact others 
 

Respondents could see benefits to some modes - bus and 
cycle - but disbenefits to others, including car travel. 
Respondents were concerned about residents’ access, 
with the traffic restrictions on Marston Ferry Road and 
Hollow Way mentioned several times in relation to this. 

 
Displacement of 
traffic &/or 
congestion 
 

Respondents felt that traffic might reduce in some areas, 
including the city centre, but were concerned that it would 
not reduce or could even increase in other areas, 
particularly those further away from the restrictions 
including areas to the west (incl. Botley), south and south 
east of the city.  
 
There was particular concern about knocking traffic onto 
already congested roads.  This included the ring road and 
approaches to the city e.g. A34, A40. 

49



Appendix 1 

26 
 

Traffic restrictions would make journey ‘worse’ 
 

Comment theme, in 
descending order of number of 
mentions  
 

Summary of responses  
 

Reduced access 
 

Respondents were concerned about their ability 
to continue travelling to work, school, shops and 
other destinations. Concerns included travelling 
with young children or a member of the family 
or friend who has a disability or mobility issue, 
carrying heavy goods and linked journeys e.g. 
combining the school drop off with the commute 
to work. 
 
Respondents living near the restriction(s) were 
particularly concerned about access to their 
homes but also to surrounding shops, schools 
and GP surgeries and other local 
services/facilities. Some also felt that 
restrictions could impact on social relations. 
 

Longer journeys & increased 
transport costs 
 

Respondents felt that restrictions would 
increase the length of journeys resulting in 
additional time and cost of travelling. Those 
who car share and who might also be affected 
by the WPL were concerned that it would 
impact on incomes. 
 

Displacement of traffic & 
congestion 
 

Concern that traffic would displace to strategic 
(ring road and approaches) and local roads 
(including residential streets) and that this 
would lead to more congestion and poor air 
quality in those areas.  
 

Increased pollution & carbon 
emissions 
 

Concern that restrictions would mean people 
driving further which would increase pollution in 
certain areas and lead to more carbon 
emissions overall.  
 

Lack & high cost of non-car 
alternatives 
 

Respondents, whether they lived in the city or 
travelled from outside, felt alternative transport 
options were limited and therefore not viable. 
Respondents living outside the city thought their 
options were further reduced with walking and 
cycling being completely out of scope.  
 
Linked to this, respondents felt that 
improvements to public transport would need to 
be implemented before traffic restrictions were 

50



Appendix 1 

27 
 

in place.  
 
The cost of public transport, particularly bus 
services and paying for Park & Ride parking, 
was felt to be expensive and so travelling by car 
in comparison was considered cheaper.  
 

Impact on local economy & 
jobs  
 

Some respondents were concerned that 
restrictions could impact on jobs and the 
economy, with reduced access and/or 
additional travel costs affecting whether people 
or businesses would want to continue working 
or operating here. Many respondents cited the 
already high cost of living in or travelling to 
Oxford as a reason for their concern.  
  

Impact on those with 
disabilities and/ or other health 
related issues which impact on 
mobility 
 

Respondents were concerned about how they 
would be able to continue travelling to and 
around the city with restrictions in place. This 
included those who were disabled or who care 
for a family member or friend with reduced 
mobility or other health problems. There was 
concern that alternatives – bus, cycle and walk 
– would not be viable options. Many of these 
respondents saw their access to a car, even for 
occasional journeys, as being essential. 
 

 
 

‘Don’t know’ whether traffic restrictions would make journey ‘better’, ‘about the same’ 
or ‘worse’  
 

Comment theme, in descending 
order of number of mentions  
 

Summary of responses  
 

Unclear of the proposals’ 
impact or of the changes being 
proposed 
 

Many respondents were unclear of the 
proposals benefits and impacts either because 
they felt there was not enough detail or because 
they were unclear as to what was being put 
forward and how it might affect the area they 
live in or journey they made, for example.  
 
Many respondents thought there could be 
benefits, certainly in some areas, but also 
impacts in others and so wanted to see further 
analysis of the proposals to make a more 
informed decision.  
 

Reduced access  Those respondents who chose ‘don’t know’ 
were also concerned about their ability to 

51



Appendix 1 

28 
 

continue travelling to work, school, shops and 
other destinations, and the impact traffic 
restrictions could have on even occasional car 
journeys. 
 

Displacement of traffic & 
congestion 
 

There was also concern and uncertainty about 
traffic displacement particularly to residential 
streets but also the ring road and A34, albeit to 
a lesser extent. Concerns raised included 
moving congestion and pollution to other 
streets. 
 

Whether non-car alternatives 
would be in place in advance 
and whether these would be 
sufficient 
 

Some respondents were unsure whether non-
car alternatives would be in place in advance, 
with many saying they should be particularly 
improved bus services. Several respondents 
mentioned the cost of bus travel and lack of bus 
services as a reason for not choosing these 
modes currently. 
 

 
  

52



Appendix 1 

29 
 

Views on a workplace parking levy (Question 24) 
 
 

Question 24 – Views on whether workplace parking levy would make journeys 
better or worse overall 

 
All of the 2800 people responding in a personal capacity answered the question on 
whether they thought the workplace parking levy would make their journey better or 
worse overall, based their journey priorities. 
 
Figure 16: Personal views on workplace parking levy of all online respondents 

 

 More respondents believed that the workplace parking levy would make 
journeys better (36%) than worse (25%). 

 

 The workplace levy is viewed more positively than the traffic restrictions (see 
Figure 13) by those responding in a personal capacity- 3% more believe that 
the workplace levy will be better and 17% less indicated their journey would 
be worse. 

 

 A notable proportion of respondents did not know what impact the workplace 
levy would have on their journey (21%).  This is about twice as many as said 
they didn’t know the impact that the traffic restrictions would have on their 
journeys (see Figure 13). 

 
 
 

53



Appendix 1 

30 
 

Figure 17: Personal views on workplace parking levy of all online 
respondents living in Oxford 

 

Compared to all respondents, more of those responding to the online questionnaire 
and stating an Oxford home postcode (OX1 to OX4), considered that the workplace 
parking levy would make their journeys better (43%); fewer considered they would 
make their journeys worse (18%).  There were 1881 respondents (67%) who 
provided an Oxford postcode and who also responded to this question. 
  

54



Appendix 1 

31 
 

The following chart shows how respondents’ views about the effect of the proposed 
workplace parking levy varies according to the main mode of travel. Again, all other 
modes included a car for part of the journey such as ‘car & cycle’. 
 
Figure 18: Personal views on workplace parking levy of all online respondents 

travelling by car only and all other modes 
 

 
As with views on the traffic restrictions (see Figure 15), the impact on people’s 
journeys of the workplace parking levy is viewed differently according to mode: 
 

 Almost half of respondents who selected ‘car all the way to destination’ 
indicated that the workplace parking levy would make their journeys worse; 
12% indicated that they would be better. 

 

 50% of respondents who selected other modes of travel, including a car for 
part of the journey, indicated that their journeys would be better, whilst 12% 
indicated that it would be worse. 

 

 A notable proportion of residents indicated they did not know the impact the 
workplace parking levy would have on their journey (‘car all the way to 
destination’ 24%; other modes 19%).  

 
Respondents were subsequently asked why they thought their journey would be 
better or worse overall with a workplace parking levy. A total of 1707 (58%) 
respondents left comments with a summary of the most common themes raised 
given below.  

 
 
 

55



Appendix 1 

32 
 

 
A workplace parking levy would make journey ‘better’  

 

Comment theme, in 
descending order of 
number of mentions 
 

Summary of feedback 

Better bus travel 
 

Respondents thought they would benefit from both new 
and improved bus services as well as quicker journeys 
and better reliability.  
 
Some respondents thought that if bus services were more 
reliable and cheaper this would make them change their 
travel behaviour.  
 
The need for more Park & Ride capacity, as well as free 
or cheaper parking at Park & Ride sites, was also raised 
frequently.  
  

Behaviour change Respondents thought the WPL would bring about a 
change in behaviour. Either encouraging employers to 
reduce the amount of car parking they provide or nudge 
staff to use public transport, walk or cycle to work.  
 
Some respondents thought however that the charging 
level would need to be higher to make a real difference.  
 

Reduced traffic and 
congestion 
 

Reduced traffic was mentioned frequently, with WPL and 
investment in non-car modes helping to reduce traffic and 
congestion. 
 
Some respondents linked traffic reduction with road space 
reallocation, particularly for cycling.  
 

Better and safer 
cycling 
 

Respondents thought cycle journeys would improve from 
less traffic but also from investment in cycle infrastructure. 
 

 
 
A workplace parking levy would make journey ‘about the same’  

 

Comment theme, in 
descending order of 
number of mentions 
 

Summary of feedback 

Journeys not affected 
 

Some respondents thought their journey would be 
unaffected because they travelled or worked outside the 
proposed WPL area. This included those living or working 
in areas in the west of Oxford city.  
 

56



Appendix 1 

33 
 

Others thought that their mode of travel would be 
unaffected including those who walk, cycle and use the 
train.  
 

Impact on local 
economy 
 

Respondents thought it was another tax and could impact 
on the local economy. Some thought this could be 
overcome if there was real improvement in alternatives. 
Whilst others were concerned of the potential impact on 
those on low incomes, with those working at the hospitals 
and schools mentioned often.  
 

WPL area should be 
enlarged 
 

Some thought the WPL area should include the city centre 
and/or areas beyond the ring road. Respondents thought 
proposals didn’t go far enough if these areas were 
excluded.  
 

No impact in reducing 
traffic 
 

Respondents thought the WPL would make no difference - 
either because the WPL area was not large enough or 
because employers or employees would continue to pay 
the levy and not reduce parking or change travel 
behaviour.  
 

 
 

A workplace parking levy would make journey ‘worse’  
 

Comment theme, in 
descending order of 
number of mentions 
 

Summary of feedback 

Increased cost of 
travelling/living if the 
charge was passed 
onto employees 

Respondents were concerned that the levy would be 
passed on to them or other employees and the impact this 
could have on finances, particularly those on low incomes. 
Some respondents indicated that they already pay for 
parking at their workplace. The already high cost of living 
in Oxford and Oxfordshire was also mentioned by some 
respondents.  
 
Some respondents also questioned the fairness given it 
would only impact on those working in the Eastern Arc of 
Oxford.  
 

Impact on economy 
and businesses 

Respondents were also concerned about the negative 
impact of a WPL, particularly on employers and 
businesses, and the potential impact this could have on 
discouraging businesses from Oxford and adding to 
ongoing challenges around recruitment and retention of 
staff.  
 
There was also concern that businesses might relocate 

57



Appendix 1 

34 
 

out of the WPL area to other parts of the city or county. 
 
Other respondents thought it was another tax on 
businesses.  
 

Improve public 
transport and 
alternative methods 
of transport  
 

Respondents felt that changes (both WPL and traffic 
restrictions) should not be made until public transport and 
alternative methods of transport, such as walking and 
cycling, were significantly improved. 
 
There was also concern about there being adequate 
capacity to cope with future demand for bus services and 
Park & Ride.  
 

Impacting on those 
who need a car 

Respondents felt they or other people needed parking due 
to a lack of viable alternative methods of transport or 
needing flexible transport from a personal perspective or 
employment circumstances e.g. travel for business during 
their time at work.  
 

Impact of displaced 
car parking 
 

Respondents thought this might encourage people to park 
in nearby streets which would impact on residents in 
terms of increased traffic, congestion & pollution.  
 

 
‘Don’t know’ if a workplace parking levy would make journey ‘better or worse’ 
 

Comment theme, in 
descending order of 
number of mentions 
 

Summary of feedback 

Unaffected by WPL Many respondents indicated that they would be 
unaffected by proposals either because they don’t 
commute to a place of work in Oxford’s Eastern Arc or are 
self-employed or retired, for example.  
 
Some respondents also thought they would not benefit 
from improvements either because they did not travel in 
Oxford’s Eastern Arc or because they were unsure if 
funding would be used to improve their favoured mode of 
travel. This included those living in areas outside the levy 
both within and outside Oxford.  
 

Unsure of impact 
 

Some respondents were unsure whether the WPL would 
reduce traffic and/or raise enough income to fund 
alternatives.  
 
Some respondents were also unclear what a WPL was 
and whether they or their employer would be affected.  

Further detail required Respondents wanted more information on proposals and 

58



Appendix 1 

35 
 

 their impacts. Without this information some respondents 
said they could not make an informed opinion on the 
impact of the WPL. This included knowledge on income it 
could raise and alternatives it would fund.  
 
Linked too this, many respondents felt alternatives need 
to be provided in advance including better & cheaper bus 
services and Park & Ride.  
 

Unfair 
 

Respondents thought a WPL was unfair on those it 
affected including employers, employees, those on low 
incomes, those who said their job or personal 
circumstances required travel by car or where no 
alternative mode of travel is or would be available.  
 
Some respondents also thought it was unfair to only 
include part of the city within the WPL proposal.   
 

 
  

59



Appendix 1 

36 
 

Ideas for Other Changes (Questions 25 – 29) 
 

Question 25 – Could anything else be done to improve your journeys in Oxford 

 
All of those responding in a personal capacity (2800) answered this question based 
on their priorities and most respondents indicated that something else could be done 
to improve their journey. 
 
Many replies covered more than one aspect for suggested improvement.  Figure 19 
plots the 10 most frequently requested improvements.  The chart shows how 
people’s main mode of transport influenced the suggestions for improvements that 
were made. 

60



Appendix 1 

37 
 

 
 

F
ig

u
re

 1
9
 –

 w
h

a
t 

e
ls

e
 c

a
n

 b
e

 d
o

n
e

 t
o

 i
m

p
ro

v
e

 y
o

u
r 

jo
u

rn
e

y
 i

n
 

O
x

fo
rd

?
 

61



Appendix 1 

38 
 

Two categories of replies made up 50% of all responses for suggested 
improvements, namely: 

 Expand and enhance segregated and continuous cycling routes and promote 
safe cycling (26% of all suggestions) – mainly mentioned by those whose 
main mode of transport is cycle but also mentioned by those whose main 
mode is car, bus or walk. 

 Comprehensive bus service improvements including new routes and 
expansions to serve surrounding villages, increasing priority for buses in traffic 
and a reduction in fares  (24% of all suggestions) – mainly mentioned by 
those whose main mode of transport is car, but also by those whose main 
mode is bus, cycle or walk.   

 
After the top two responses, there were four categories for suggested improvements 
all with a similar frequency of response namely: 

 Further road access restrictions, traffic calm central areas and local 
neighbourhoods.  

 Roads & traffic management (fix roads, improve circulation, better manage 
roadworks). 

 More and better enforcement of Traffic regulations – e.g. speeding, parking, 
dangerous driving. 

 Park & Rides - expand sites, make parking free, fares cheaper. 
  

62



Appendix 1 

39 
 

Online survey responses from those responding on 
behalf of an employer, business or other 
organisation (Questions 26 – 29) 
 
132 responses were received online from people representing an organisation, on 
behalf of 119 identifiable organisations (some organisations submitted several 
responses, and in some cases, it was not possible to identify a specific organisation 
from the response). 
 
These 119 organisations are listed below.  
 

St Christopher's Primary School, Seeing Eye Productions Ltd, Adrian James 
Architects, Newtrim (UK) Limited, Pure Offices, Pamoja Education Ltd, Regus, 
The Dog House, Hollow Way Medical Centre, Headington Quarry School, 
Oxfordshire Transport & Access Group, Heather House B&B, Martin & Co, 
Oxford, MTDB Ltd t/a Common Ground, Colourful Coffins, Tyndale 
Community School, Oxford High School, Railfuture, Thames Valley Branch, St 
Anne's College, Indigo - shop on the Cowley Road, Cowley Parish Church of 
England, Summer Fields School, Oxbotica, Oxwash Limited, BMW (UK) 
Manufacturing Ltd, Basil Wyatt Holdings Ltd and Basil Wyatt Property Ltd, 
Kennington Parish Council, City Primary School, Risk Decisions Ltd, St 
Clare's Oxford, City of Oxford Licensed, Christ Church, Oxford Health NHS 
Foundation Trust, Employee of the John Radcliffe Hospital, Summertown 
Health Centre, Mobike, Zzoomm plc, St Christopher's Primary School, 
Cowley, Oxford Fertility, Arriva, Observatory Medical Practice, Visual Meaning 
Ltd, Bartlemas Surgery, L'altreVi Ltd, Zeta Specialist Lighting, River Hotel, 
CBT Oxford Ltd, Abingdon Town Council, BBOWT, Yogavenue, Gray Baynes 
and Shew LLP Architects and Surveyors, Linacre College, Oxford, Corpus 
Christi College, St Lukes Radiology Oxford Ltd, New College, Instruments of 
Time and Truth, Oxford Equity Group, Climate Organization, S Hutchins & 
Green Ltd, Freight Transport Association, Bright Properties, Oxford Harmonic 
Choir, Wolfson College, University of Oxford, Branca, Marston Ferry and 
Blackhall Allotment Society, St Michael's C of E Primary School, Oxford, OX3 
0EJ, VSL and Parnters Ltd, North Hinksey Parish Council, New Marston 
Primary School, Mail Boxes Etc., R & G Building Services (Oxford) Ltd, Joe's 
Restaurant in Summertown, John Wiley & Sons ltd, Urwin (Oxford) Ltd trading 
as Martin & Co, Oxford, Stovely Chimney Sweep and Stove Servicing, Oxford 
Bus Company and Thames Travel, St Edward's School, Driving instructors, 
BongoIT, Babylon Trading, Frog Orange, Matthew Clulee hair spa, St Gregory 
the Great Catholic School, Isis Creative Framing, Jennifer Tanner Ltd, 
Beckley and Stowood Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group, New College 
School, Goring & Streatley Transport Office, Oxford University Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust, Keble College, Oxford West End Development Limited, 
Residents' Association for Elsfield Road and Oxford Road, Old Marston, 
Oxford Preservation Trust, The Swan School, Bodleian Packaging and 
Delivery Service, University of Oxford, Jeremy Jones Associates, Oxford 
Business Park, Rose Hill and Iffley Low Carbon, 19 Beaumont Street Surgery, 
Oxford, Bodleian Libraries, University of Oxford, J & M Insulations Limited, 

63



Appendix 1 

40 
 

South Jericho Residents' Association, Oxford Brookes University, Old Marston 
Parish Council, The Cherwell School, Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning 
Group, Council of Oxfordshire Teacher Organisations, Oxford City Liberal 
Democrats, Sharp Laboratories of Europe Ltd., Harwell Campus Bicycle 
Users Group, Oxford Friends of the Earth, Oxfordshire Neighbourhoods & 
Villages Trust Ltd, Broken Spoke Bike Co-op, General Practitioners (practice 
not specified), CPRE Oxfordshire, Oxford Health NHS Trust, Bus Users 
Oxford, The Oxford Food Company Ltd, Cycling UK 

 

Question 26 – what are your organisation’s top three priorities for transport in 
and around Oxford? 

 
All respondents answering on behalf of a business or organisation answered the 
question requiring ranking of the three most important priorities for staff commuting 
to and from work, business travel (excluding commuting) and movement of goods 
and service vehicles. Some responses could not be used in the analysis because the 
question was incorrectly answered including selecting more than three priorities. 
 

Figure 20: Top three most important journey priorities  
 

 Regardless of journey purpose, priorities are ranked similarly - ‘reliability’ is 
the most important priority followed by ‘impact on fitness and health’ 
 

 ‘Journey times’ and ‘transport costs’ are considered least important, with 
these priorities not selected under ‘movement of goods and service vehicles’ 

  

64



Appendix 1 

41 
 

Question 27 – Does the organisation think traffic restrictions will make 
transport in Oxford better or worse overall? 

 
All 132 respondents representing an organisation answered the question on would 
the proposed traffic restrictions make transport in Oxford better or worse overall. 
 

Figure 21: Views on traffic restrictions of businesses, employers or 
organisations 

 Over half of businesses, employers or organisations responding online 
indicated that the proposed traffic restrictions would make their journeys 
worse (53%). 
 

 Just over one quarter of businesses, employers or organisations responding 
online indicated that the proposed traffic restrictions would make journeys 
better for their organisation (26%). 
 

 11% more respondents believed that the traffic restrictions would have a 
negative impact on their organisation compared to those responding to the 
survey in a personal capacity (see Figure 13). 

 
Respondents commented on why they answered the way they did with a summary of 
the most common themes raised given below. 
 
 
 
 
 

65



Appendix 1 

42 
 

Traffic restrictions would make transport in and around Oxford ‘better’ overall 
 

Comment theme, in 
descending order of 
number of mentions 

Summary of feedback 

Reduced traffic & 
congestion Respondents felt that traffic restrictions would be 

effective in reducing traffic and congestion levels in 
the city, with linked benefits for cycling, walking, 
pollution and public transport connectivity. 
 
Respondents also felt that the traffic restrictions 
would boost the number of people walking and 
cycling. 
 

Better cycling/walking 

Reduced pollution 

Better public transport 

 
 
Traffic restrictions would make transport in and around Oxford ‘about the same’ 
overall 
 

Comment theme, in 
descending order of 
number of mentions 
 

Summary of feedback 

Congestion on alternative 
routes 

Concerns that the traffic restrictions would simply 
transfer traffic to other routes in and around the city, 
causing congestion and pollution problems 
elsewhere, achieving no overall benefit 
 

Travel habits hard to 
change 

Concern that the measures proposed would be 
insufficient to change ingrained travel habits 

Experience from London 
Concern that London congestion charge has not 
achieved significant overall improvements 

 
 
Traffic restrictions would make transport in Oxford ‘worse’ overall 
 

Comment theme, in 
descending order of 
number of mentions 
 

Summary of feedback 

66



Appendix 1 

43 
 

Congestion on alternative 
routes 

Concerns that the traffic restrictions would simply 
transfer traffic to other routes in and around the city, 
causing congestion and pollution problems 
elsewhere, and making the overall situation worse. 

Operational access Concerns that the traffic restrictions would cause 
difficulties for operational transport required for 
organisations to function, such as staff travel while at 
work, deliveries, servicing, visiting patients or clients. 
 
In many cases respondents felt these operational 
trips could not be easily made by other modes and 
could not be easily made using alternative routes.  
There were some exemptions suggested to allow for 
operational access requirements.  

Staff access/recruitment & 
retention concerns 

Concern that the traffic restrictions would increase 
the time and cost for staff commuting to work, and 
that this would in turn make recruitment and 
retention of skilled staff more challenging. 

Pollution Linked to the first point above, concern that the 
traffic restrictions would i) displace traffic to other 
areas and increase pollution in those areas; and ii) 
increase emissions and pollution overall due to 
longer distances travelled by diverted traffic. 

Lack of public transport 
alternatives 

Concern that suitable public transport options are 
not available for staff, patients, visitors or customers 
who would be affected by the traffic restrictions. 

 
 
‘Don’t know’ if traffic restrictions would make transport in and around Oxford better or 
worse overall 
 

Comment theme, in 
descending order of 
number of mentions 

Summary of feedback 

Mixed views These respondents saw both advantages and 
disadvantages, so felt they were unable to assess 
the overall impact 

67



Appendix 1 

44 
 

Need more evidence These respondents felt they needed more 
information before they could assess the overall 
impact. 

 
 

Question 28 – Does the organisation think the workplace parking levy and the 
improvements it will pay for will make transport in Oxford better or worse 
overall? 

 
All 132 respondents representing an organisation answered this question. 
 

Figure 22: Views on workplace parking levy of businesses, employers or 
organisations 

 

 About a third of businesses, employers or organisations responding online 
indicated that a workplace parking levy and the improvements it would pay for 
would make transport in and around Oxford ‘better’ (34%). A similar 
proportion also indicated that it would make transport ‘worse’ (32%).  

 

 Nearly 1 in 5 indicated that transport would be ‘about the same’ (18%).  
 
From their organisation’s perspective, respondents were subsequently asked why 
they thought transport in and around Oxford would be ‘better’, ‘about the same’, 
‘worse’ or ‘don’t know’ as a result of the proposed workplace parking levy. A 
summary of the most common themes raised is given below.  
 
 

68



Appendix 1 

45 
 

The workplace parking levy would make transport in and around Oxford ‘better’ 
overall 
 

Comment theme, in 
descending order of 
number of mentions 
 

Summary of feedback 

Better public transport Respondents felt funds from the WPL would allow 
public transport to be improved, and would 
encourage commuters to use public transport 

Reduced traffic Respondents thought the WPL would reduce traffic 
in the city 

Better cycling/walking Respondents felt the WPL could fund cycling and 
walking improvements and that it would encourage 
commuters to use non-car modes. 

 
 
The workplace parking levy would make transport in and around Oxford ‘worse’ 
overall 
 

Comment theme, in 
descending order of 
number of mentions 
 

Summary of feedback 

Impact on local 
economy 

View that the WPL is simply an additional tax on 
employers.  Some who viewed the WPL in this way did 
not believe that transport improvements would be 
delivered, and/or felt that the improvements identified 
were insufficient to provide an overall transport benefit. 

Staff 
access/recruitment & 
retention concerns 

View that the WPL will make working in the area less 
attractive for staff and so cause employers to relocate 
away from Oxford, with consequences for the city’s 
economy, with no overall transport benefit. 

Lack of alternatives 
Concern that alternatives to the car are insufficient, so 
scheme will not achieve a mode shift and will therefore 
provide no overall transport benefit. 

 
 
The workplace parking levy would make transport in and around Oxford ‘about the 
same’ overall 
 

69



Appendix 1 

46 
 

Comment theme, in 
descending order of 
number of mentions 
 

Summary of feedback 

Staff 
access/recruitment & 
retention concerns 

Concerns that the WPL would have to be passed on 
to staff (because the organisation could not afford to 
pay it) and that this would make it harder to recruit 
and retain skilled staff. 

Impact on local 
economy 

View that the WPL is simply an additional tax on 
employers.  Some who viewed the WPL in this way 
did not believe that transport improvements would be 
delivered, and/or felt that the improvements identified 
were insufficient. 

Cost Concern that the WPL would impose additional costs 
on employers. 

Employers will relocate 
away from Oxford 

View that the WPL will cause employers to relocate 
away from Oxford, with consequences for the city’s 
economy. 

 
 
Respondents didn’t know what impact the workplace parking levy would have on 
transport in and around Oxford overall 
 

Comment theme, in 
descending order of number of 
mentions 
 

Summary of feedback 

No impact on organisation 
Respondents felt their organisation would not 
be affected by the WPL so did not wish to 
comment on the overall impact. 

Need more evidence 
These respondents felt they needed more 
information before they could assess the overall 
impact. 

 
  

70



Appendix 1 

47 
 

Responses to more detailed questions (Q30-39) 
 
The responses to the more detailed questions include comments from those 
responding in a personal capacity as well as those responding on behalf of a 
business, employer or other organisation. Two thirds of all respondents continued 
with the survey to answer the more detailed questions.  A summary analysis for 
these questions is set out in the sections below. 
 
 

Q31. Should there be any exemptions for the traffic restrictions?   

 
1699 people (58% of all responses) provided feedback on this question. 
 
Figure 23 plots responses by most common types of suggested exemptions.  The 
exemption to the proposed traffic restrictions most frequently requested were vehicle 
trips undertaken by mobility impaired / disabled persons.  This was followed by 
exemptions for residents and then travel for hospital staff, medical workers, care 
givers & health patients.  It was suggested that these are essential and urgent trips 
not possible by public transport. 
 
60 responses stated that taxis and private hire vehicles should not be exempt from 
traffic restrictions due to concern about the excessive number of such vehicles plying 
for hire in the central city area. 
 

71



Appendix 1 

48 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

F
ig

u
re

 2
3
 –

 s
u

g
g

e
s

ti
o

n
s
 f

o
r 

e
x

e
m

p
ti

o
n

s
 f

o
r 

tr
a

ff
ic

 r
e

s
tr

ic
ti

o
n

s
 

72



Appendix 1 

49 
 

Q32. At what times and on which days should the traffic restrictions be in 
force?  

 
1630 people (56% of all responses) answered this additional question. Figure 24 
shows the categorised responses.  The highest number of responses (28%) stated 
that restrictions should be in place on Monday to Friday during peak periods only, 
when the traffic levels are at their highest.  The second highest number of responses 
(21%) called for restrictions to be in place 24hrs and 7 days a week, supported by 
comments calling for bold action to foster significant behaviour change, and to be 
consistent and avoid confusion. 
 

Figure 24 – when should the traffic restrictions be operational? 
 

 
 
There were also many comments regarding heavy traffic accessing the Westgate 
Centre on Saturdays and that this should be better managed through restrictions. A 
high number of comments reflected on the need for intensive engagement with 
commerce and utility providers to ensure that deliveries and essential services can 
be appropriately scheduled to avoid severe impacts on business. 
 
 
 
 
 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

24 hrs x 7
days,

7am to 7pm
x 7 days

7am to 7pm
x 6 days
(Exclude
Sundays)

7am to
7pm,

weekdays

Weekday
am and pm

peak
periods and
Saturdays

Weekday
am & pm

peaks

am peak
weekdays

Not during
peak

periods

Weekends
only

Exclude
school

holidays

When
congested

Daytime 

Other 

Peak periods All the 
time 

Other 

73



Appendix 1 

50 
 

Q33. What other complementary schemes would you like to see for the traffic 
restrictions? 

 
1319 people (45% of all respondents) answered this additional question. Figure 25 
shows the categorised responses.  The highest number of responses were in 
support of promoting sustainable transport with the top three measures in this 
category to complement traffic restrictions being: 

 Roll out of priority/segregated cycling and pedestrian network & active travel 
promotion 

 Lower pricing of (or free) Park & Ride services 

 Expand and intensify bus services and the route network, especially to Hospitals 
and Business Parks 

 

This response was similar across respondents’ main mode of travel.  One notable 
difference being that car users most frequently requested measure was for free and 
expanded access to Park & Ride locations.  
 
Road network management measures were the second most popular main category 
of suggested enhancements with the key measures referenced: 

 Congestion charging 

 Traffic management improvements (e.g. one-way streets, signals timings, mini-
roundabouts) 

 Low traffic neighbourhood schemes / mini Holland's / urban realm improvements / 
planting 

 Better enforcement (e.g. of parking violations, dangerous driving, obeying traffic 
rules) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

74



Appendix 1 

51 
 

Figure 25.  Main Categories of Responses for Question 33 Split by  

Respondents Main Mode of Travel 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Other notable responses were comments calling for a greater focus on safer/lower 
speed roads around schools and promoting active travel for school children/students. 
 
Another frequent comment was the wish to see tourist and special hire buses and 
coaches parking outside the central area and not adding to congestion and pollution 
inside in the city centre. 
 
Figures 26 to 29 detail specific complementary measures that were mentioned by 
respondents grouped by each of the four main categories identified in Figure 25: 
 

 Promote sustainable transport modes (Figure 26) 

 Road network management (Figure 27) 

 Improvements for specific user groups (Figure 28) 

 Other travel demand management measures and promotional activity 
(Figure 29) 

 

75



Appendix 1 

52 
 

 
Figure 26. Q33 - Specific Measures to complement traffic restrictions – Promote Sustainable Modes 

 

 
 
 
 

76



Appendix 1 

53 
 

 
 

Figure 27. Q33 - Specific Measures to complement traffic restrictions – Improvements to Road Network Management 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

77



Appendix 1 

54 
 

Figure 28. Q33 - Specific Measures to complement traffic restrictions – Improvements for specific user groups 
 

 
 
 

78



Appendix 1 

55 
 

Figure 29. Q33 - Specific Measures to complement traffic restrictions – Other Travel Demand Management Measures & 
Promotional Activity 

 

 
 
 

  

79



Appendix 1 

56 
 

Q34. Are the suggested traffic restrictions in the right places? 

 
The responses to the first part of the question “Are the suggested traffic restrictions 
in the right places?” is shown in Figure 30 below. The 595 responses recorded were 
evenly split between those whose main mode of travel is car, bike and those using 
public transport. 

 
In total, for all modes taken together, there are more responses that voice 
disagreement with the proposed placement of traffic restrictions than responses in 
general agreement with the proposed locations.  There is a contrast when comparing 
between respondents in terms of their main mode of travel. Of the responses made 
from those travelling by car there are many more disagreeing with the locations of 
restrictions and/or being against the restrictions generally as compared to car users 
in agreement.  In contrast, responses for those travelling by bicycle, there were twice 
the number in agreement with the locations to those having some disagreement.  

 
Figure 30 – Are the traffic restrictions in the right place? (Q34) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Of the 353 recorded responses proposing additional roads to be included in the 
traffic restrictions (see Figure 31), 63% came from people who cycle as their main 
mode of travel. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
80



Appendix 1 

57 
 

Figure 31 – suggestions for additional traffic restrictions (Q34) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 32 shows respondents’ suggestions regarding roads to be excluded from 
restrictions.  The most requested change was for Marston Ferry Road, a view shared 
by car users, public transport users and cyclists.  The general opinion being that 
traffic would be displaced outwards onto an already congested ring road and result in 
a worse situation overall.  The comment was frequently made that planned increases 
in bus services will not in the short to medium term be sufficient to create the 
balance. There were also numerous comments, mainly from car-as-main-mode 
respondents requesting Hollow Way to be excluded as it would prevent local resident 
access. 
 

  

81



Appendix 1 

58 
 

Figure 32 – Suggestions for roads not to be included in the traffic restrictions 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Q35. Should employers who provide 10 or fewer commuter car parking spaces 
be exempt from the workplace parking levy? Should there be other 
exemptions? 

 

There was a total of 873 recorded responses to the question of whether the proposal 
for employers who provide 10 or fewer commuter car parking spaces to be exempt 
was right: 

 315 (36%) indicated there should no exemptions, suggesting that even 
employers who provide 10 or fewer spaces should be in scope  

 87 (10%) stated there should only be exemptions for employers providing 
5 or fewer employee parking spaces 

 269 (31%) of responses agreed that the proposal of 10 or less spaces 
being exempt was appropriate. 

 
There was a total of 692 responses to the question of whether anyone else should 
be exempt from the workplace parking levy.  The most frequent responses in order 
were a) hospital staff b) blue badge holders/ disabled persons and c) school staff 
(teachers).  See figure 33 below. 
  

82



Appendix 1 

59 
 

Figure 33 - Q35 - Should Anyone Else be Exempt from the WPL 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Q36 - views on the proposed boundary of the Eastern Arc workplace parking 
levy. 

Responses to this question were categorised into two groups a) those commenting 
on the location of the proposed boundary and b) all other comments.  The results are 
presented in figures 34 and 35 below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 83



Appendix 1 

60 
 

Figure 34 – what is your view on the proposed WPL area boundary? (Q36) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
568 comments were recorded on the boundary position, see figure 34 above, with a 
slight majority satisfied with the proposed boundary. A large proportion also indicated 
that that the boundary should be extended further within the ring road.  

 
Figure 35 – responses to Q36 of those not currently supporting WPL 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Of the other responses, i.e. those which did not relate to the location of the 
boundary, (539 responses) these were mostly a balance of respondents needing 
more information to be able to comment and those not agreeing with the WPL 
introduction.  In addition, a significant number of respondents commented that public 
transport should be improved significantly before a WPL is introduced. 
 
 

84



Appendix 1 

61 
 

Q37. Views on the level of charge for the workplace parking levy? £400 - 600 
per parking space per year is the suggested level. 

 
1354 respondents (46%) provided a comment on this question. Of the responses, 
783 were categorised as they directly responded to the question, and as shown in 
Figure 36, 320 of these agreed with a WPL set somewhere between £400 and £600, 
115 suggested £400 or less while 205 suggested a level of £600 or above.  
 
Of the 1354 responses, 25% indicated that they were not in support of a workplace 
parking levy and a further 13% were not sure what level to suggest. 
  

85



Appendix 1 

62 
 

Figure 36 - Responses to Q37 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Q38. Views on the suggested bus routes and employer/employee benefits that 
could be funded through the workplace parking levy, and whether the levy 
should be used to fund any other transport improvements. 

 
There was an overall 47% response rate to Q38, totalling 1384 respondents. The 
question posed was tiered asking a) for views on the proposed use of WPL funds 
and b) if the respondent had suggestions for funding other transport improvements.  
 
Only a small percentage of respondents specifically commented on the suggested 
bus routes and employer/employee benefits. Of those that did, 70% expressed 
general agreement on the proposals.   
 
1521 other suggestions were made for how the levy could be used.  The top three 
suggestions were: 
 

 Develop priority/segregated cycling network and comprehensive cycling 
promotion 

 Expansion and intensification of bus service network (including non-radial routes 
and to hospitals and business parks) 

 Free or strongly subsidised bus and Park & Ride services 
 
These most recorded responses mirror the analysis of Question 33 (What other 
complementary schemes would you like to see for the traffic restrictions). 
 

86



Appendix 1 

63 
 

The following chart illustrates these responses grouped according to the main mode 
of travel of the respondent. 
 

Figure 37 - Responses to Q38 grouped according to main mode of travel of 
respondent 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

87



Appendix 1 

64 
 

Q39. If you'd like to make any other comments before you finish, please do so 
here 

 
1235 respondents provided further comments.  A further 32 individuals submitted 
comments by email or letter.  These range of responses have been plotted in Figure 
38.  These follow a similar pattern of feedback throughout the open questions in the 
online survey. The interventions most requested are listed as follows:  

 The need to focus more on the expansion of the cycling network to prioritise road 
space to promote safe, well connected routes  

 Expansion and intensification of the bus network to serve more trip needs, 
especially poorly served and isolated surrounding settlements. 

 

Fig 38.  Representation of responses to Q39, Any Other Comments? 

 

 

 

88



Appendix 1 

65 
 

Stakeholder/organisation letter and email comments 
 
The following 45 stakeholder groups and organisations submitted responses by 
email or letter in addition to or instead of completing the questionnaire. 
 

Arlington, Bicester Town Council, Brasenose College, Bullingdon Community 
Association, Centre for Research into Energy Demand Solutions, Chilton 
Parish Council, CoHSAT (Coalition for Healthy Streets and Active Travel), 
Cowley Area Transport Group, Cyclox, East Hendred Parish Council, 
Freeland Parish Council, Freight Transport Association, Friends of Old 
Headington, Headington Action, Holiday Inn Express Hotel, Hollow Way 
Medical Centre, Iffley Vets, Magdalen College School, Oxford Biomedica, 
Oxford Bus Company, Oxford City and County Bowls Club, Oxford City 
Cycling UK, Oxford City Economic Growth Board, Oxford Civic Society, 
Oxford Pedestrians Association, Oxford Schools Bus Partnership, Oxfordshire 
County Council Liberal Democrats Group, Oxfordshire Cycling Network, 
Oxfordshire Green party, Oxfordshire National Pensioners Convention Group, 
Oxford University Conference of Colleges, Oxford University Hospitals NHS 
Trust, POETS (Planning Oxfordshire’s Environment and Transport 
Sustainably), Rewley Park Management Company, ROX (Rescue Oxford), St 
John Street Area Residents’ Association, St Margaret’s Road Summertown 
Neighbourhood Forum, South Oxfordshire District Council, SPADE 
(Sunningwell Parishioners Against Damage to the Environment), Stagecoach 
in Oxfordshire, Thomas White Oxford, University of Oxford, Vale of White 
Horse District Council, Watlington Parish Council, Wolfson College 

 
The following is a brief summary of the most common raised issues in the non-
questionnaire stakeholder responses. 
 
General support for the proposals 
 
Whilst some concerns were expressed, the majority of the organisations that 
submitted non questionnaire responses expressed general support for the objectives 
of Connecting Oxford albeit many of these did so in the context of needing further 
detail of how the proposals had been arrived at and what impact they would have. 
 
More information 
 
Most respondents want to see more information on the practical implications of the 
proposals, in terms of how effective they would be in reducing traffic and improving 
conditions for non-car alternatives.  One of the most common themes in relation to 
the need for more information was how much traffic displacement there would be 
(mainly as a result of the traffic restriction points) on alternative routes, especially 
Oxford’s radial routes and ring road.  There was concern that the proposals could 
simply move congestion problems around, possibly even exacerbating existing 
problems. 
 
There were also queries regarding how much revenue the WPL proposals would 
raise and whether it would be enough to pay for the bus services and non-car 
infrastructure needed to create travel behaviour change. 

89



Appendix 1 

66 
 

 
There was strong support for the councils to undertake traffic modelling to help better 
understand how the proposals would influence travel across the city.  This would 
therefore help to refine the details of the proposals.  Suggestions were made by 
some about how the modelling should be carried out. 
 
Stakeholder input to development of the proposals 
 
Some organisations said they would like to be involved in shaping the proposals as 
they develop.  This includes those that have large numbers of staff and hold lots of 
detailed information about how they currently travel to and around the city. 
 
WPL coverage 
 
It was suggested by many resident, transport and planning groups, and employers 
that the WPL should apply across the whole city.  Covering only the proposed area 
of the Eastern Arc is considered by some to be inequitable and not sufficiently 
effective in reducing traffic volumes and influencing behavioural change. It was also 
frequently suggested that every parking space used for commuting should be 
covered by the WPL and not just those where workplaces had 11 or more.   Concern 
was expressed about concentrations of employment that generate large volumes of 
traffic and congestion but which are not in scope of the WPL. 
 
Unfair WPL and impact on businesses 
 
A number of businesses felt that the WPL would be an unfair charge for local 
businesses who already contribute to the local economy by way of business rates.  
Queries were raised about why certain areas of the city including beyond the ring 
road would not be in scope for the WPL.  
 
Businesses and schools were concerned that the introduction of a WPL would have 
an unhelpful negative impact on staff recruitment and retention – it is already difficult 
to attract staff to jobs in the city.  
 
Why not a congestion charge? 
 
There was a call for more information/explanation as to why the use of a congestion 
charge was not being proposed.  A number of respondents felt that a congestion 
charge would be more effective and equitable than a WPL. Not least because it 
would affect all car journeys and not just those that ended at a parking space in the 
Eastern Arc. 
 
More broadly, respondents want to know what other approaches were considered 
and why they were rejected. 
 
Space filled up with new journeys? 
 
Concerns were expressed about how reducing traffic and congestion may simply 
attract other journeys by car that people were not making previously because of the 
delay that they were subject to.  Measures should be put in place to prevent new 

90



Appendix 1 

67 
 

space simply being filled up again with new vehicle journeys.  The use of a 
congestion charge in addition to the traffic restriction points was one suggestion for 
how this issue can be addressed. 
 
Potential for more displaced traffic/rat running – more traffic restrictions 
needed 
 
A wide range of different respondents raised concerns that the proposals could result 
in traffic displacement to parts of the network that may or may not already be 
congested. Others were concerned that traffic restriction points could cause more rat 
running including through residential areas for example Donnington Bridge Road, the 
roads between Iffley and Cowley Roads and also in the Headington, Old Headington, 
Northway and Marston areas of the city.  Some felt that Iffley Road and St Clements 
could become a new alternative route for journeys to and from the Marston and 
Headington areas.  As such additional traffic restriction points were suggested to 
tackle this for example St Clements, Donnington Bridge Road, various residential 
streets. 
 
Timing of traffic restriction points 
 
A range of opinions were given on when traffic restriction points should operate.  
Some felt that they should be in use all the time whereas others argued that they are 
only needed when there is congestion i.e. morning and evening peak periods during 
the week.  Some groups felt that if they operate only at peak times this would have 
less of a negative impact on necessary local trips by people who need to use the car. 
 
Exemptions for traffic restriction points 
 
A range of opinions were expressed on this point with many saying that very limited 
exemptions should be given for use of the traffic restriction points in order to ensure 
their effectiveness.  Of these, it was widely suggested that only buses, taxis and 
private hire vehicles should be allowed.  Some felt that there may be a case for 
allowing vehicles making essential deliveries and carrying out servicing and repairs 
etc, particularly in the case of city centre restriction points or generally for properties 
very close to the restriction points. In some instances, resident groups and providers 
of healthcare services made a case for allowing people living close to traffic 
restriction points to be allowed to pass through them to avoid long detours for 
essential journeys.  
 
There was a general feeling that electric vehicles shouldn’t be exempt from the traffic 
restrictions given their impact on traffic congestion. 
 
It was highlighted that private buses/coaches taking children to schools in the city 
should be allowed to use the traffic restriction points as they help tackle the negative 
impacts of the school run. 
 
Oxpens traffic restriction point/Access to Westgate 
 
It was highlighted that the exact location of the traffic restriction point on Oxpens 
would influence how traffic approaches the Westgate car park – west of the car park 

91



Appendix 1 

68 
 

would require all traffic getting there to route via Abingdon Road. East of the 
entrance would require all traffic to route via Botley Road. This could put excessive 
pressure on either of those routes.  
 
Introduction of non-car alternatives/timing of scheme start 
 
Many stakeholders emphasised that measures to encourage and cater for non car 
alternative modes of transport must be in place on day one of the scheme being 
operational. 
 
Expanded 20mph speed limit 
 
A number of respondents were concerned that if the measures are effective in 
reducing traffic then a 20mph speed limit on all the city’s roads would be needed to 
ensure attractive conditions for cyclists and pedestrians. 
 
Wider Controlled Parking Zones (CPZs) coverage needed 
 
It was frequently suggested that greater coverage of the WPL area by CPZs would 
be needed to prevent people from parking in residential areas rather than changing 
to non-car modes of travel.  Any such wider CPZ coverage would be needed in time 
for the start of the WPL. 
 
Removal of bus lanes 
 
There was some concern expressed about the suggestion that traffic reduction could 
lead to removal of bus lane provision.  This would only be acceptable if there was 
clear evidence that buses would not be affected by congestion in the future.   It was 
considered that some busy junctions would continue to need priority for buses at 
least into the foreseeable future. 
 
Improvements to the public realm 
 
A number of organisations were keen to point out that traffic restriction points would 
offer opportunities in the vicinity to improve the quality of the public/civic realm. 
 
New bus routes 
 
Building on the proposals in the engagement material, there were a number of 
suggestions, some very detailed, about how bus services into and across the 
Eastern Arc could be improved to give better access to key destinations. 
 
Improved cycle infrastructure 
 
Ideas were given for how to improve cycling facilities, some general and some 
specific ideas.  There was strong support for proper segregation of cyclists from 
vehicles and pedestrians.  It was also said that high quality connections are needed 
from origins outside of the city. 
 
Impact of school run 

92



Appendix 1 

69 
 

 
It was said several times that unlike a congestion charge, the WPL would have a 
limited impact on the congestion associated with school runs, not least because 
many of these trips do not end in the car being parked.   
 
Tourist coaches 
 
Some concern was expressed about the impact that the proposals might or might not 
have on coaches bringing tourists to the city centre.  Practically speaking queries 
were raised about how coaches would turn around if they weren’t allowed through 
traffic restriction points.  Others were concerned that a WPL would not have 
sufficient effect on the negative impacts of tourist coaches. 
 

93



Appendix 1 

70 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Welcome. 
 
We're suggesting some bold ideas to improve connectivity, 
reduce congestion and tackle pollution in and around 
Oxford.  We need your views on them to help us develop the 
proposals. 

 
   

Please read the Connecting Oxford brochure before completing 
this questionnaire.  

 

 
This survey asks for your personal data.  To find out how we handle your data 
please visit the webpage below or write to us at the address above. 
 
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/council/about-your-council/access-data-and-
information/data-subject-rights 

This is a printable version of an online survey, 
available at: 
 
https://www.smartsurvey.co.uk/s/60ZY3/ 
 
Please complete the survey online if you can. 
 
Paper survey forms can be posted or hand delivered to: 
 
Connecting Oxford 
Oxfordshire County Council 
County Hall 
New Road 
Oxford  
OX1 1ND 

 
This is not a freepost address. 

Connecting Oxford 

Feedback survey 

94

http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/file/roads-and-transport-connecting-oxfordshire/connecting_oxford_brochure.pdf
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/council/about-your-council/access-data-and-information/data-subject-rights
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/council/about-your-council/access-data-and-information/data-subject-rights
https://www.smartsurvey.co.uk/s/60ZY3/


Appendix 1 

71 
 

About you  

1. I am completing this survey:  
 

   In a personal capacity – please go to question 6 

   As a representative of a business, employer or other organisation 

 
About you and your organisation  
  
We will assume your responses represent the views of your organisation. 
 
If you are responding in a personal capacity, please go to question 6 
 

2. Which business, employer or organisation are you representing?  
 

  

  

3. What is your name? 
 

  

  

4. What is your role in the organisation you are representing?  
 

  

  

5. If you would like to receive updates about this project in future, please enter your email 
address:  
 

  

 
 

More about you  
  

6. What's your home postcode? We need this to understand how views might be shaped 
by where people live. We cannot identify you personally from your postcode, and it will be 
used only to analyse the responses to the survey.  
 

  

  

95



Appendix 1 

72 
 

7. If you would like to receive updates about this project in future, please enter your email 
address:  
 

  

 
More about you  
  

8. It would help us when analysing the feedback from the survey to know more about you. 
These questions are all optional, so you can skip this section if you want to.  
 

   I'm happy to provide more information about myself 

   I'd like to skip to the next part of the survey – please go to question 18 

 
More about you  
  
All information given is anonymous and any information provided is governed by the 
General Data Protection Regulations 2018. All information given will be treated as strictly 
confidential. 
 

9. Are you:  
 

   Male 

   Female 

   Prefer not to say 

   
Other (please specify): 

  
 

  

10. What is your age group?  
 

   Under 11 

   12 – 17 

   18 – 24 

   25 – 34 

   35 – 44 

   45 – 54 

   55 – 64 

   65 – 74 

   75 – 84 

   85 plus 

96



Appendix 1 

73 
 

 11. Please describe your marital status. Leave blank if you wish.  
 

  

  

12. Please describe your ethnic group or background. Leave blank if you wish.  
 

  

  

13. Please describe your religion. Leave blank or write none if appropriate.  
 

  

  

14. Do you have a disability? Please say no, or say yes and briefly describe it if you wish. 
Or you can leave blank, or write prefer not to say.  
 

   Yes 

   No 

 
Comments:   

  
 
 
 

  

15. Are you currently pregnant or have you been pregnant in the last year?  
 

   Yes 

   No 

   Prefer not to say 

  

16. Do you consider yourself to be...  
 

   Heterosexual or straight 

   Gay or lesbian 

   Bisexual 

   Prefer not to say 

   
Other (please specify if you wish): 

  
 

  
 

97



Appendix 1 

74 
 

17. Is your gender identity the same as the gender you were assigned at birth?  
 

   Yes 

   No 

   Prefer not to say 

  
Thank you for answering these additional questions. 

 
Your travel  
 
These questions are about how you travel in and around Oxford. 
 
If you are responding on behalf of an organisation, please go to question 26 

18. For what purpose do you most often travel in and around Oxford?  
 

   Commuting to and from work 

   Business travel whilst at work 

   Shopping, leisure or tourism 

   Visiting friends and family 

   
Other (please specify): 
 

  
 

  

19. What is the postcode of your normal place of work (if applicable)?  
 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

98



Appendix 1 

75 
 

Your travel  
  

20. Thinking about your main purpose for travelling in Oxford, how do you most often 
travel?  
 

   Bicycle 

   Bus 

   Car all the way to my destination 

   Motorcycle 

   Park & Cycle 

   Park & Ride (bus) 

   Park & Walk 

   Taxi 

   Train & Bus 

   Train & Cycle 

   Train & Taxi 

   Train & Walk 

   Walk 

   
Other (please specify): 

  
 

 
Why do you use this mode?   

  
 
 
 

99



Appendix 1 

76 
 

About your bus travel (if applicable) 
  

21. Which bus service(s) do you most often use?  
 

  

 
Your priorities when travelling  
  

22. What three things are most important to you when travelling in Oxford?  

Please enter the numbers 1, 2 and 3 in the boxes below.  

1 = most important 

 2 = second most important  

3 = third most important 

You can only enter numbers 1 -3. Please use each number only once, otherwise we can’t 
use your response and it won’t count towards our analysis.  
 

The reliability of my journey     
 

How safe I feel whilst travelling     
 

Being able to do something else (e.g. work or read) whilst travelling     
 

The impact of my journey on my health     
 

The impact of my journey on the environment     
 

Having a comfortable journey     
 

How long my journey takes     
 

How much my journey costs     
 

 
Comments:   

  
 
 
 

100



Appendix 1 

77 
 

Your views on traffic restrictions  
  

23. Based on your priorities, do you think the additional traffic restrictions we're 
suggesting would make your journeys better or worse overall?  
 

   Better 

   About the same 

   Worse 

   Don't know 

 
Why do you say that?   

  
 
 
 

 
Your views on a workplace parking levy  
  

24. Based on your priorities, do you think the workplace parking levy and the 
improvements it could pay for would make your journeys better or worse overall?  
 

   Better 

   About the same 

   Worse 

   Don't know 

 
Why do you say that?   

  
 
 
 

101



Appendix 1 

78 
 

Your ideas for other changes  
  

25. Based on your priorities, could anything else be done to improve your journeys in 
Oxford?  
 

   Yes (please state below) 

   No 

   Don't know 

 
Comments:   

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

102



Appendix 1 

79 
 

Your organisation's priorities  
  
If you are responding in a personal capacity, please go to question 30 

26. What are your organisation's top three priorities for transport in and around 
Oxford?  

The options relate to your organisation's staff commuting, business travel and 
goods/servicing requirements.  

Please enter the numbers 1, 2 and 3 once in each COLUMN (A, B and C) below. Please use 
each number only once in each column, otherwise we can’t use your response and it 
won’t count towards any analysis.  

1 = most important priority  

2 = second most important priority  

3 = third most important priority  
 

 
Staff commuting to and 

from work 
Business travel 

(excluding commuting) 
Movement of goods and 

service vehicles 

Reliability 
  

   

  

   

  

   

Safety 
  

   

  

   

  

   

Impact on fitness and 
health 

  

   

  

   

  

   

Impact on air pollution 
and climate change 

  

   

  

   

  

   

Journey comfort 
  

   

  

   

  

   

Journey times 
  

   

  

   

  

   

Transport costs 
  

   

  

   

  

   
 
Comments:   

  
 
 
 

103



Appendix 1 

80 
 

Your organisation's views on traffic restrictions  
  

27. Based on its priorities, does your organisation think the additional traffic restrictions 
we're suggesting would make transport in Oxford better or worse overall?  
 

   Better 

   About the same 

   Worse 

   Don't know 

 
Why do you say that?   

  
 
 
 

 
Your organisation's views on a workplace parking 
levy  
  

28. Based on its priorities, does your organisation think the workplace parking levy and 
the improvements it could pay for would make transport in and around Oxford better or 
worse overall?  
 

   Better 

   About the same 

   Worse 

   Don't know 

 
Why do you say that?   

  
 
 
 

104



Appendix 1 

81 
 

Your organisation's ideas for other changes  
  

29. Based on your organisation's priorities, is there anything else that could be done to 
improve transport in Oxford?  
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
More detailed questions  
  

You have reached the end of the main questions. 
 
  
 

30. If you have time, would you like to answer a few more detailed questions? Depending 
on the length of your answers this may take another 10 minutes or more, but your 
answers will be very helpful.  
 

   Yes, I'd like to answer some more detailed questions 

   No thanks, I'd like to finish the survey – please go to question 39 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

105



Appendix 1 

82 
 

Detailed questions - traffic restrictions  

  

31. Should there be any exemptions for the traffic restrictions? If so, please explain why.  
 

  
 
 
 

  

32. At what times and on which days should the traffic restrictions be in force? Why?  
 

  
 
 
 

  

33. What other complementary schemes would you like to see for the traffic restrictions, 
and why?  
 

  
 
 
 

  

34. Are the suggested traffic restrictions in the right places? Please describe any changes 
you would like to see, and why.  
 

  
 
 
 

106



Appendix 1 

83 
 

Detailed questions - workplace parking levy  
  

35. We're suggesting that employers who provide 10 or fewer commuter car parking 
spaces would be exempt from the workplace parking levy. Do you think this is right? 
Should anyone else be exempt from the workplace parking levy? If so, please explain 
why.  
 

  
 
 
 

  

36. What is your view on the proposed boundary of the Eastern Arc workplace parking 
levy?  
 

  
 
 
 

  

37. What level of charge do you think is appropriate for the workplace parking levy? £400 - 
600 per parking space per year is the suggested level.  
 

  
 
 
 

  

38. What is your view on the suggested bus routes and employer/employee benefits that 
could be funded through the workplace parking levy? Do you think the levy should be 
used to fund any other transport improvements?  
 

  
 
 
 

107



Appendix 1 

84 
 

Any other comments  
  

39. If you'd like to make any other comments before you finish, please do so here. We 
can't respond to individual questions raised here. If you have a question you'd like us to 
reply to, please write to us at the address above. 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Thank you for completing this survey. 
 

108



Traffic restrictions

▪ Where the road would be closed to most traffic in both

directions

▪ Buses, cyclists, taxis and private hire vehicles, and all

emergency vehicles, would be allowed to pass through

the restrictions (there could be other exemptions for other

vehicles)

▪ The traffic restrictions might not be in effect all the time,

and the timings might not be the same at all of them

Workplace parking levy (WPL)

▪ A WPL is an annual charge paid by employers for each

parking space they provide, on or off-site, that is used for

employee (commuter) car parking.

▪ Operational parking is exempt from a WPL as are fleet,

visitor and customer car parking spaces

▪ Employers, not employees are responsible for paying the

WPL charge

Map of Connecting Oxford proposals Appendix 2

109



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Employers in the WPL area would benefit from:

▪ Grants for on-site sustainable transport

improvements (e.g. cycle parking, showers, lockers)

▪ Grants for on-site car parking management (e.g.

monitoring & enforcement systems)

▪ Access to a Travel Plan advisor dedicated to the

WPL zone

Employees in the WPL area would benefit from:

▪ Discounts on bus fares

▪ Discounted P&R fares

▪ Reserved P&R parking

▪ Discounts on bike purchases

Appendix 3

111



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  Appendix 4 

SCIA for Connecting Oxford Page 1 of 13 

Service and Community Impact Assessment (SCIA) 
 

Front Sheet: 
 

Directorate and Service Area: 
 
Communities – Planning & Place 

 

 

What is being assessed (e.g. name of policy, procedure, project, 
service or proposed service change): 
 
Connecting Oxford 

 

 

Responsible owner / senior officer: 
 
Sue Halliwell, Director for Planning & Place 

 

 

Date of assessment: 
 
November 2019 

 

 

Summary of judgement: 
 
There are risks of negative impacts relevant to the following characteristics/areas: 
 

 Age  
 Disability  
 Pregnancy and maternity  
 Sex  
 Rural communities 
 Areas of deprivation   
 Other council services  
 Other providers of council services 

 
The assessment recommends: 
 

 Further assessment of these risks 
 Further consultation with the communities and individuals identified 
 Consideration of changes to the proposals to mitigate the risks identified 

 

  

113



  Appendix 4 

SCIA for Connecting Oxford Page 2 of 13 

Detail of Assessment: 
 

Purpose of assessment: 
Briefly summarise why you have done the assessment (e.g. in response to new or 
proposed changes to a policy, project, contract or service delivery).  

 
This assessment is being carried out in response to a new project, Connecting 
Oxford.  
 
Ideas put forward in the Connecting Oxford plan are based on the policies and 
strategy in the county council’s Local Transport Plan, and more specifically, the 
Oxford Transport Strategy. 
 
The proposals are still at a relatively early stage, with no decisions having been 
made yet about the scheme.  An informal public engagement exercise was carried 
out in September and October 2019.  Over 3000 responses were received.  The 
purpose of this SCIA is to: 
 
Provide a high level summary of the known issues at this stage, to inform a Cabinet 
decision in January 2020; and 
 
Inform the next stage of work on the project, if approved by Cabinet. 

 

 
You should also include the following statement to clearly set out 
the reasons and context for undertaking the assessment: 
 
Section 149 of the Equalities Act 2010 (“the 2010 Act”) imposes a duty on the 
Council to give due regard to three needs in exercising its functions. This 
proposal is such a function. The three needs are: 

o Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Equality Act. 

o Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

o Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic, and those who do not. 

 
Complying with section 149 may involve treating some people more favourably than 
others, but only to the extent that that does not amount to conduct which is otherwise 
unlawful under the new Act. 
 
The need to advance equality of opportunity involves having due regard to the 
need to: 

 remove or minimise disadvantages which are connected to a relevant 
protected characteristic and which are suffered by persons who share that 
characteristic, 

 take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and which are different from the needs other people, and 

114



  Appendix 4 

SCIA for Connecting Oxford Page 3 of 13 

 encourage those who share a relevant characteristic to take part in public life 
or in any other activity in which participation by such people is 
disproportionately low. 

 take steps to meet the needs of disabled people which are different from the 
needs of people who are not disabled and include steps to take account of a 
person’s disabilities. 

 
The need to foster good relations between different groups involves having due 
regard to the need to tackle prejudice and promote understanding. 
 
These protected characteristics are: 

 age  

 disability  

 gender reassignment  

 pregnancy and maternity  

 race – this includes ethnic or national origins, colour or nationality  

 religion or belief – this includes lack of belief  

 sex  

 sexual orientation  

 marriage and civil partnership 
 

Social Value 
 

Under the Public Services (Social Value Act) 2012 the Council also has an obligation 
to consider how the procurement of services contracts with a life value of more than 
£173,9341 might improve the economic, social, and environmental well-being of the 
area affected by the proposed contract, and how it might act to secure this 
improvement. However, it is best practice to consider social value for all types of 
contracts, service delivery decisions and new/updated policies. In this context, 
'policy' is a general term that could include a strategy, project or contract.  

 
 

Context / Background: 
Briefly summarise the background to the policy or proposed service change, 
including reasons for any changes from previous versions. 

 
Connecting Oxford is a project to develop and implement transport congestion 
management schemes in and around Oxford.  The project is being promoted jointly 
by Oxfordshire County Council and Oxford City Council.  
 
Connecting Oxford is part the Oxford Transport Strategy, which is in turn part of the 
county council’s fourth Local Transport Plan.  The principles are supported by Oxford 
City Council’s new Local Plan.  The plans are also part of the two council’s efforts to 
address the causes of climate change. 
 
Oxfordshire needs a modern, efficient, reliable, affordable and sustainable transport 
system.  This means transforming transport connectivity and how people move 

                                            
11

 EC Procurement Threshold for Services  

115

http://www.ojec.com/Threshholds.aspx


  Appendix 4 

SCIA for Connecting Oxford Page 4 of 13 

around, while ensuring everyone has access to employment, education, health, 
retail, and leisure. 
 
Vitally, it also means moving Oxfordshire’s transport system to one that is largely 
zero emission, and as close to zero-carbon as possible, within 20 years. This will 
improve people’s health and wellbeing and reduce transport’s contribution to climate 
change. 
 
To make this vision a reality, Oxfordshire’s transport system needs to encourage 
more walking, cycling and use of public transport, and reduce the number of motor 
vehicles on the roads, particularly in and around Oxford.  Connecting Oxford will play 
a major part in delivering this vision. 

 

 

Proposals: 
Explain the detail of the proposals, including why this has been decided as the best 
course of action. 

 
The Connecting Oxford proposals consist of five new traffic restrictions (two in the 
city’s Eastern Arc and three in the city centre); a workplace parking levy in the 
Eastern Arc; new and improved bus services in the Eastern Arc; and walking and 
cycle route improvements across the city.  The core elements of the proposal are the 
traffic restrictions and workplace parking levy, and these were the focus of the public 
engagement in September/October 2019. 
 
The rationale for the proposals is set out in the documentation published online.  The 
rationale for the Oxford Transport Strategy (OTS - of which Connecting Oxford forms 
part) are set out in the OTS, also published online. 
 

 

Evidence / Intelligence: 
Explain any data, consultation outcomes, research findings, feedback from service 
users etc that supports your proposals and can help to inform the judgements you 
make about potential impact of different individuals, communities or groups. 

 
The evidence base for the OTS is summarised within the OTS itself; likewise, the 
Connecting Oxford public engagement document includes the key evidence base for 
the Connecting Oxford proposals specifically.  The evidence base that supports the 
proposals currently includes high level traffic modelling completed for the OTS, 
routine traffic and air quality monitoring, workplace parking surveys, research from 
other cities in the UK and elsewhere, and feedback from the recent public 
engagement. 
 
This SCIA is informed by feedback from the recent public engagement, as well as by 
UK and international research on transport demand management and air pollution, 
and independent professional advice on the implications of traffic restrictions for 
people with disabilities. 

 

116



  Appendix 4 

SCIA for Connecting Oxford Page 5 of 13 

Alternatives considered / rejected: 
Summarise any other approaches that have been considered in developing the 
policy or proposed service change, and the reasons why these were not adopted. 
This could include reasons why doing nothing is not an option. 
 
Alternatives to the overall strategy set out in the OTS were considered as part of the 
OTS and are covered within the OTS document, published online.   
 
Alternatives to the Connecting Oxford proposals are covered within the information 
about Connecting Oxford published online. 
 
In summary, doing nothing is not an option because the problems of poor transport 
connectivity (caused mainly by traffic congestion), local air pollution, and climate 
change would remain and worsen if nothing is done. 
 
Alternatives such as building more roads are not appropriate, as these would offer 
only temporary connectivity improvements and would not address local air pollution 
and climate change issues. 
 
Opportunities to improve sustainable transport infrastructure (including bus, cycling 
and walking routes, and railways) are limited by the space available in a constrained 
city like Oxford, and by the availability of funds.  The construction of large 
infrastructure projects of any kind also consumes resources and contributes to 
climate change. 
 
The preferred strategy is therefore to make the best possible use of existing 
transport infrastructure by reducing the number of private cars on the roads, thereby 
allowing space to be reallocated to sustainable modes of transport, which can offer 
improved connectivity whilst reducing local air pollution and tackling climate change. 
 
The councils believe the Connecting Oxford proposals are the fairest, most effective 
way of reducing traffic.  Alternatives such as a congestion charge have been 
considered but are not being progressed at this stage because a congestion charge 
would not achieve – and sustain – the same level of traffic reduction as traffic 
restrictions, particularly if it applied only to the city centre. 
 
A congestion charge covering the whole city would require a large number of 
enforcement cameras and involve hundreds of thousands of daily transactions; this 
would make it expensive to operate, with less funding available for transport 
improvements.   
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

117



  Appendix 4 

SCIA for Connecting Oxford Page 6 of 13 

Impact Assessment: 
 
Identify any potential impacts of the policy or proposed service change on the 
population as a whole, or on particular groups. It might be helpful to think about the 
largest impacts or the key parts of the policy or proposed service change first, 
identifying any risks and actions, before thinking in more detail about particular 
groups, staff, other Council services, providers etc. 
 
It is worth remembering that ‘impact’ can mean many things, and can be positive as 
well as negative. It could for example relate to access to services, the health and 
wellbeing of individuals or communities, the sustainability of supplier business 
models, or the training needs of staff. 
 
We assess the impact of decisions on any relevant community, but with particular 
emphasis on: 

o Groups that share the nine protected characteristics 
 age  
 disability  
 gender reassignment  
 pregnancy and maternity  
 race – this includes ethnic or national origins, colour or nationality  
 religion or belief – this includes lack of belief  
 sex  
 sexual orientation  
 marriage and civil partnership 

o Rural communities 
o Areas of deprivation   

 
We also assess the impact on: 

o Staff 
o Other council services  
o Other providers of council services 
o Any other element which is relevant to the policy or proposed service 

change 
o How it might improve the economic, social, and environmental of the 

area affected by the contract if the Public Services (Social Value) Act 
2012 applies 

 
For every community or group that you identify a potential impact you should discuss 
this in detail, using evidence (from data, consultation etc.) where possible to support 
your judgements. You should then highlight specific risks and any mitigating actions 
you will take to either lessen the impact, or to address any gaps in understanding 
you have identified.  
 
If you have not identified an impact on particular groups, staff, other Council 
services, providers etc. you should indicate this to demonstrate you have considered 
it.  
 
 

118



  Appendix 4 

SCIA for Connecting Oxford Page 7 of 13 

Impact on Individuals and Communities: 
 
Community / Group being assessed (as per list above – e.g. age, rural 
communities – do an assessment for each one on the list)  
Summarise the specific requirements and/or potential impact on this community / 
group, and then highlight the most significant risks and mitigating action that has 
been or will be taken. 
 

Age 

 
 
 

Risks Mitigations 

Older people (excluding impacts related to 
disability, which are considered separately) 
 
Survey data: Over 65 years olds were slightly more 
likely than the average respondent to say traffic 
restrictions would make their journeys worse, but 
slightly less likely than average to say the WPL would 
make their journey worse. 
 
Some older people may be more reliant on their 
car, even if they have no disability, so they may be 
negatively affected by the proposals, particularly 
the traffic restrictions because they may increase 
the duration and length of car trips.  This may in 
turn exacerbate loneliness or isolation for those 
affected.   
 
 

 
 
Assess further through 
detailed modelling and 
social impact 
assessments 
 
Consider limiting hours of 
operation of traffic 
restrictions to minimise 
impact on older people 
 
Continue to engage 
groups representing 
older people in 
subsequent consultations 
 

Young people 
 
Survey data: insufficient responses to draw any 
conclusions 
 
School age children may be negatively affected if 
the traffic restrictions make it harder for parents to 
drop off their children at school. 
 
Young people at work may be disproportionately 
affected by the WPL because their salaries are 
likely to be lower. 
 

Assess further through 
detailed modelling and 
social impact 
assessments 
 
Consider limiting hours of 
operation of traffic 
restrictions to minimise 
impact on school age 
children 
 
Continue to engage with 
schools and groups 
representing young 
people 
 

119



  Appendix 4 

SCIA for Connecting Oxford Page 8 of 13 

 
Disability 

 
Gender reassignment  

 
Pregnancy and maternity/paternity  

Risks Mitigations 

Survey data: people with a disability were 
significantly more likely than the average 
respondent to say that the traffic restrictions 
would make their journeys worse, and slightly 
more likely to say the WPL would make their 
journeys worse.  The survey did not ask whether 
a person’s disability made them more reliant on 
a car. 
 
People with a disability that makes them 
more reliant on travel by private car (either 
as a driver or passenger) may be negatively 
affected by the traffic restrictions and/or WPL 
because the cost, duration and length of car 
journeys may increase. 
 
 

Assess further through detailed 
modelling and social impact 
assessments 
 
Consider limiting hours of 
operation of traffic restrictions to 
minimise impact on people with 
disabilities 
 
Consider exemptions and 
discounts for blue badge 
holders 
 
Continue to engage with groups 
representing people with 
disabilities 
 

Risks Mitigations 

No specific risks identified 
 
Survey data: insufficient responses to 
draw any conclusions 
 

Not applicable 

Risks Mitigations 

Pregnant women, who during their 
pregnancy have a temporary disability 
which falls into one of the two 
categories identified in the “Disability” 
section above 
 
Risks as identified above 

See above 

120



  Appendix 4 

SCIA for Connecting Oxford Page 9 of 13 

 
Race – this includes ethnic or national origins, colour or 
nationality  
 

 
Parents with very young children, 
using pushchairs etc, who are more 
reliant on travel by car  
 
People in this group may be negatively 
affected by the traffic restrictions and/or 
WPL because the cost, duration and 
length of car journeys may increase. 
 

Assess further through detailed 
modelling and social impact 
assessments 
 
Consider limiting hours of operation of 
traffic restrictions to minimise impact 
 
Employers do not have to pass on the 
WPL charge to staff, and may offer 
discounts or exemptions for parents 
with children if they do pass on the 
charge. 

Parents with children who are more 
reliant on travel by car because they 
drop/collect their children at school or 
childcare using their car 
 
People in this group may be negatively 
affected by the traffic restrictions and/or 
WPL because the cost, duration and 
length of car journeys may increase. 
 

Assess further through detailed 
modelling and social impact 
assessments 
 
Continue to engage with schools and 
school transport providers 
 
Consider limiting hours of operation of 
traffic restrictions to minimise impact 
 
Employers do not have to pass on the 
WPL charge to staff, and may offer 
discounts or exemptions for parents 
with children if they do pass on the 
charge. 

Risks Mitigations 

Survey data: BAME or mixed race 
respondents were as likely as the 
average respondent to say the traffic 
restrictions and WPL would make their 
journeys worse.  
 
No specific risks identified 

See above 

121



  Appendix 4 

SCIA for Connecting Oxford Page 10 of 13 

Religion or belief – this includes lack of belief  

 
Sex  

 
Sexual orientation  

 
 
 

Risks Mitigations 

Survey data: insufficient responses to 
draw any conclusions 
 
No specific risks identified 

See above 

Risks Mitigations 

Survey data: female respondents were 
significantly more likely than male 
respondents to say the traffic restrictions 
and WPL would make their journeys 
worse. 
 
On average, women are less likely to cycle 
than men, and are more likely to transport 
young children to school, childcare or other 
destinations.  Women may also have 
greater personal security concerns about 
using public transport. 
 
The traffic restrictions and WPL may 
therefore negatively affect women to a 
greater extent than men. 

Assess further through detailed 
modelling and social impact 
assessments 
 
Consider limiting hours of operation 
of traffic restrictions to minimise 
impact 
 
Employers do not have to pass on 
the WPL charge to staff, and may 
offer discounts or exemptions for 
parents with children if they do pass 
on the charge 

Risks Mitigations 

Survey data: lesbian, gay or bisexual 
respondents were significantly less likely 
than average respondents to say that the 
traffic restrictions and WPL would make 
their journeys worse. 
 
No specific risks identified 
 

Not applicable 

122



  Appendix 4 

SCIA for Connecting Oxford Page 11 of 13 

Marriage and civil partnership 

 

Rural communities 

 
Areas of deprivation   

Risks Mitigations 

Survey data: married or civil partnered 
respondents were slightly less likely than 
average respondents to say that the 
traffic restrictions and WPL would make 
their journeys worse. 
 
No specific risks identified 

Not applicable 

Risks Mitigations 

Survey data: respondents from outside 
the OX1 to OX4 postcode areas were 
significantly more likely than average 
respondents to say that the traffic 
restrictions and WPL would make their 
journeys worse. 
 
People living outside Oxford are much 
more likely to be reliant on car travel to 
access destinations in Oxford.   
 
People living in rural communities may 
be negatively affected by the 
proposals, because they are likely to 
have less access to alternative modes 
to the car. 

Assess further through detailed 
modelling and social impact 
assessments 
 
Consider role of Park & Ride 
 
Consider limiting hours of operation of 
traffic restrictions to minimise impact 
 
Employers do not have to pass on the 
WPL charge to staff, and may offer 
discounts or exemptions for people 
who live in places with poor access by 
non-car modes 

Risks Mitigations 

 
Survey data: not available 
 
WPL may negatively affect people on 
lower incomes. 
 
The proposals may harm the local 
economy, which would particularly 
affected people in more deprived 
areas. 

 
Assess further through detailed 
modelling and economic/social impact 
assessments 
 
Employers do not have to pass on the 
WPL charge to staff; even if they do, 
they may choose to base the amount 
charged to each member of staff on 
their salary (e.g. a % of salary rather 
than a fixed amount) 

123



  Appendix 4 

SCIA for Connecting Oxford Page 12 of 13 

Impact on Staff 
 
Summarise the specific requirements and/or potential impact on staff, and then 
highlight the most significant risks and mitigating action that has been or will be 
taken. 
 
No additional risks identified for staff that are not covered by the “Individuals and 
Communities” section above.  The county council has several offices and other 
premises in Oxford, but these are generally in locations accessible by non-car 
modes, and do not have a large amount of car parking for staff. 
 
The county council will need to decide if and how it passes the WPL on to staff. 
 

 

Impact on other Council services 
 
Summarise the specific requirements and/or potential impact on other council 
services, and then highlight the most significant risks and mitigating action that has 
been or will be taken. 
 
There is a risk of negative impacts on: 
 

 Recruitment & retention of skilled staff (particularly teachers/teaching 
assistants, social workers) 

 Operational travel (for example, by social workers making home visits) 
 
These risks need to be further assessed through detailed modelling and 
economic/social impact assessments, and need to be discussed with the service 
areas affected. 
 
 

Impact on providers: 
 
Summarise the specific requirements and/or potential impact on providers of council 
services, and then highlight the most significant risks and mitigating action that has 
been or will be taken. 
 
There is a risk of negative impacts on providers’ transport and travel requirements 
(for example, contracted staff making home or site visits, deliveries to council 
premises). 
 
These risks need to be further assessed through detailed modelling and 
economic/social impact assessments, and need to be discussed with any service 
areas affected.  
 
 
 
 

124



  Appendix 4 

SCIA for Connecting Oxford Page 13 of 13 

Social Value 
If the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 applies to this proposal, please 
summarise here how you have considered how the contract might improve the 
economic, social, and environmental well-being of the relevant area. 
 
How might the proposal improve the economic well-being of the relevant area? 
 
Not applicable 
 
 
How might the proposal improve the environmental well-being of the relevant 
area? 

 
Not applicable 
 

 
 

Action plan 
 
Summarise the actions that will be taken as a result of the assessment, including 
when they will be completed and who will be responsible. It is important that the 
officer leading on the assessment follows up to make sure the actions are 
completed, and updates the assessment as appropriate. Any significant risks 
identified should also be added to the appropriate service or directorate risk register, 
to ensure they are appropriately managed and reviewed. 

 

Action  By When 
Person 
responsible 

Detailed modelling and economic/social impact 
assessments 

Summer 2021 
Joanne 
Fellows 

Further discussion with communities/individuals 
at risk of negative impact and groups 
representing them 

Summer 2021 
Joanne 
Fellows 

Formal consultation to include all 
communities/individuals at risk of negative 
impact, and groups representing them 

Summer 2021 
Joanne 
Fellows 

Consideration of changes to the proposals, 
including discounts and exemptions, to address 
residual risks identified after two actions above 
have been completed 

Summer 2021 
Joanne 
Fellows 

 

125



This page is intentionally left blank



Connecting Oxford - programme up to & including submission of business case & WPL scheme Order to DfT

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
Tasks

Scoping and project planning
Draft Cabinet reports and progress through officer & member groups

Cabinet decision: support further scheme & business case development (21 January: County; 22 January: City)  

Project set up & consultancy procurement

Outline business case development
Model development
Data collection & research
Traffic & emissions modelling
Socio-economic impact assessment (non-transport)
Legal advice
Development of supporting measures & infrastructure package
Cost & income modelling
Detailed design of WPL & traffic restrictions - charge, exemptions etc. 
Preparartion of business case documentation

Cabinet decision to carry out formal consult (November or December 2020)

Cabinet decision to hold a public inquiry (February 2021)

Preparartion for public inquiry incl. further option testing & business case development

Cabinet decision to implement traffic restrictions, and also, submit WPL scheme Order & business case to DfT (July 2021)

Finalise scheme Order & business case documentation
Submission of WPL scheme Order & business case to DfT

Engagement & consultation
Business & stakeholder engagement
Consultation
Public Inquiry

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Appendix  5

127



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

. 

 

To: Cabinet 

Date: 22 January 2020 

Report of: Head of Housing Services 

Title of Report:  Use of s.106 and Retained Right to Buy Receipts to 
increase the provision of more affordable housing 

 

Summary and recommendations 

Purpose of report: The report seeks project approval and delegations to 
enable the spending of Retained Right to Buy Receipts 
and s.106 funding for the purpose of delivering, or 
enabling the delivery of, more affordable housing, through 
new build or acquisition activity. 

Key decision: Yes  

Cabinet Member: Councillor Mike Rowley, Board Member for  Affordable 
Housing  

Corporate Priority: Meeting Housing Needs 

Policy Framework: Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2018 to 2021 

Recommendations: That  Cabinet resolves to: 

1. 

 

 

2. 

 

 

 

 

3. 

 

 

 

4. 

 

 

Give project approval to the proposals, to purchase accommodation or 
issue grants, as set out in this report, and within the allocated capital 
budgets, for the purpose of delivering more affordable housing in Oxford; 

Note that the proposals set out in this report, in relation to Retained Right to 
Buy Receipts (RRTBRs) - £13.2m in the HRA in 20/21, and £2.35m in 21/22; 
Recycled Capital Grant Funds (RCGF) - £370k in the HRA in 20/21; and 
s.106 funds - £3m in the General Fund in 20/21; have informed the budget 
setting process and that the implications for budgets are included within the 
2020/21 consultation budget; 

Recommend to Council that a capital budget for £3m of expenditure, 
subsidised using RRTBRs, is approved in 2019/20, to enable an off-plan 
purchase of Social Rented homes, this sum being effectively brought forward 
from the overall £13.2m identified in 2020/21 in the consultation budget, 
which would then reduce to £10.2m in 20/21 accordingly; 

Delegate authority to the Director of Housing, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Affordable Housing; the Head of Financial 
Services/Section 151 Officer; and the Council’s Monitoring Officer, to enter 
into agreement for the award of grant, contractual arrangement and/or 
spend, for the provision of additional affordable housing in perpetuity, using 

129

Agenda Item 9



 

 

5. 

 

 

 

6. 

 

Retained Right to Buy Receipts or Recycled Capital Grant funding; 

Delegate authority to the Head of Planning Services, in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Affordable Housing; the Head of Financial 
Services/Section 151 Officer; and the Council’s Monitoring Officer, to enter 
into agreement for the award of grant, contractual arrangement and/or 
spend, for the provision of additional affordable housing in perpetuity, using 
s.106 funds; and  

Delegate authority to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Members for Finance and Asset Management, and Affordable Housing, to 
approve any property or development purchases over £500,000 for 
affordable housing, within this project approval. 

  

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 

Appendix 2 

Risk Register  

Equality Impact Assessment 

 

Introduction and background  

1. The Council continues to develop a programme of affordable housing supply 
through multiple work streams, including the direct delivery of units through Oxford 
City Homes Ltd (OCHL); joint ventures, such as Barton Park; regeneration 
schemes; and helping to enable delivery from Registered Provider partners, 
community-led organisations, and others.   

2. OCHL has recently refreshed its business plan (to 2029) with the ambition of 
delivering over 2,200 new homes of mixed tenures over this period, including 354 
new homes for Social Rent at Barton Park.  The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
business plan currently expects to buy over 1,000 of these new homes from the 
company, with nearly 800 of these being at Social Rent, having to balance this with 
the demand for investment in existing stock, including responding to the climate 
emergency. 

3. Officers continue to review opportunities to bring forward the development of further 
affordable homes to increase the supply available to help meet Oxford’s housing 
needs.  This might take the form of developing more new homes; acquiring 
property to use as affordable housing; or switching tenures to improve affordability 
and access to these homes. 

4. The OCHL development programme also continues to support a significant share 
of the Oxfordshire Growth Deal (OGD) programme by delivering affordable homes, 
using OGD grant, within the three years of that programme. 

5. Developments are financially appraised on a scheme by scheme basis, and need 
to be viable and sustainable to move forward in the development process.  Many 
schemes will require additional subsidy to fund costs, in addition to using borrowing 
and cross-subsidy from market units (sale or rent).  Strategic issues that impact on 
scheme financial modelling includes Government policy; prudential borrowing rules; 

130



and Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) rates, all of which have seen considerable 
change in recent years.  On a site basis, there are also multiple influences on costs 
including the cost of the land; site and ground conditions; build costs; planning 
requirements; and valuations (most noticeably impacting on a reduced ability to 
cross-subsidise from market sale or rent in lower value areas).  Should (public) 
subsidy be insufficient to bridge funding gaps, then developments may not be 
progressed, or may be re-modelled to reduce the number of affordable units 
(especially those at the more affordable Social Rent tenure) than might otherwise 
be supplied. 

6. This report identifies some additional funding streams that the Council could use for 
the purpose of further driving the delivery of more additional affordable homes for 
rent, supporting scheme development financing with additional grant. 

 

Retained Right to Buy Receipts 

7. Retained Right to Buy Receipts (RRTBRs) are the receipts that the Council is able 
to retain to be recycled into new replacement affordable homes in accordance with 
the agreement signed in 2012, between the Council and Secretary of State for 
Housing, setting out the requirements for this, following agreement for the self-
financing of the HRA.   Receipts that are unspent after three years from the time of 
the sale must be returned to the Government, with interest (4% over base rate).  
This receipt/spend profile is monitored quarterly.   

8. Spend must be on new rented social housing supply, at up to 30% of the qualifying 
spend (i.e. £1m spend can be financed by using up to £300,000 of RRTBRs).  
Currently, activity by OCHL does not qualify and is prohibited as suitable 
expenditure.   The Council originally planned to use these funds as part of the 
financing for Barton Park, but when Government introduced a raft of financially 
negative proposals planned for the HRA in 2015 a significant review of HRA 
spending was required and consequently the Barton acquisitions within the HRA 
without the removal of the then debt cap, meant that it was therefore an unviable 
scheme for the HRA. Consequently, the Council took the decision that the social 
housing on this site would be owned by OCHL, so using RRTB to part fund these 
acquisitions was no longer an option. 

9. To date, the Council has used RRTBRs to support considerable investment across 
the General Fund and the HRA.  This has included: 

a. £10m investment in the National Homeless Property Fund (NHPF) – using 
£5m of Council funding and £5m match funding (c.£3m of RRTBRs used)  

b. £5m of further Council investment in the NHPF round 2 – with c.£0.5m 
investment from other parties in Oxford as a result (using c.£1.7m RRTBRs) 
– which together with round 1, has acquired 70 properties locally to be used 
to prevent households from becoming homeless, as well as providing an 
investment return for the Council 

c. £10m investment in acquiring properties for temporary accommodation use 
and supporting the switch from leasing to owning such units, saving money 
for the Council; improving quality; and ensuring suitable accommodation is 
available as required for statutory homelessness activity (c£3m RRTBRs 
used) 

131



d. £2.4m spend in the HRA to purchase 10 additional permanent units to let at 
Social Rent, off-plan, from a development in Didcot (using c.£0.7m RRTBRs) 

e. £1.5m spend on acquiring larger homes, to meet the needs of larger families, 
at  Social Rent and within the HRA, using funding from a property disposal 
and boosted by additional RRTBR funds (c.£0.4m) 

10. The Government proposals following its Aug-Oct 2018 consultation on the use of 
RRTB funds is currently awaited.  This consultation indicated that the Government 
could be considering extending the deadline for the receipts currently held by 
Council’s from 3 to 5 years, there were also indications that this could be 
monitored annually rather than quarterly; and that in high demand/ high cost areas, 
receipts might be able to be used at 50% of cost rather than 30%, with combined 
top-ups with other grant funding also possible.  Limitations on using RRTB funding 
for property acquisition rather than direct new build, in areas where the latter is 
cheaper were also mooted, as are possible opportunities for use of funding by 
housing companies, in certain circumstances.  There is currently however, no 
indication as to when an announcement on any of this may be made.  Recent 
representations by officers, in relation to asking for additional flexibilities under the 
Oxfordshire Growth Deal, have not been supported by Government to date. 

11. The Council currently has over £4.6m of RRTBRs unallocated to a project – spends 
to date having been set out above.  This requires ‘qualifying expenditure’ of over 
£15.5m to use the receipts and ensure they do not have to be returned to 
Government.   

12. In the Consultation Budget report to Cabinet, a proposed spend allocation of 
£13.2m is proposed for 2020/21.  Minimum ‘spend’ by the end of each quarter of 
2020/21 in the following profile is required.  ‘Spend’ can be taken to ‘start on site’ for 
a development, rather than an actual completion. 

 

Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Total 

£2.3m £0.5m £6.4m £4.0m £13.2m 

 

13. There is approximately £705,000 of RRTBRs that require spend in 2021/22 (having 
resulted from RTB sales in 2018/19.  This is less, due to a fall in the amount of RTB 
sales, and this lower level of sale activity is currently predicted to continue.  
Qualifying spend of £2,350,000 is required to use this, and a spend allocation is 
also proposed in the Consultation Budget, for this sum, in 2021/22. 

 

Recycled Capital Grant Fund (RCGF) 

14. The Council has only recently received £111k of funds under this regime.  The 
restrictions and requirements for use are broadly similar to RRTBRs. The funds 
are the result of sales from the HRA units more recently built by the Council under 
the Homes England (formerly HCA) AHP1 programme.  As with RRTBRs this fund 
must be used within three years of receipt and be spent at 30p in the pound of 
‘qualifying expenditure’.  Spend must be requested via an application to Homes 
England, in accordance with their grant conditions (The Recovery of Capital 
Grants and Recycled Capital Grant Fund General Determination 2017).  The 
requirement for spend currently is £370,000, profiled as follows: 

132



 

Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Total 

£186,500  0 £181,500  0 £370,000 

 

 

Section 106 Affordable Housing Contributions (“s.106 funds”) 

15. The Council seeks to secure on-site affordable housing on development schemes 
through the planning process, where possible, but will take a financial contribution 
to support affordable housing development in alternative locations in some 
circumstances.  These include schemes of 9 units or less and student schemes, in 
accordance with the current Local Plan, and the recently changed position in 
relation to policy HP4 of the Sites and Housing Plan.  A significant contribution, in 
lieu of affordable housing, was also taken from the Westgate development.   

16. There are few grant conditions on s.106 receipts for affordable housing, other than 
that they are used for this purpose within Oxford.  The funds held by the Council 
currently amount to £8,146,843, with over £2.5m of further contributions expected 
by the end of the 2020/21 financial year, at which point the fund would be expected 
to exceed £10.5m if there continues to be no expenditure.  Only two of the 
contributions have expenditure deadlines agreed with the developer (for £200k of 
contributions, requiring spend by Dec 2023). 

17. The s.106 grant, unlike RRTBRs can be combined with other grant schemes, and 
could therefore be used to provide top-up funding to schemes currently under 
consideration.  It is for the Council to decide on the operation and governance 
arrangements of such.  Spend could therefore be considered for any affordable 
housing tenure.  For auditing purposes, it may be decided to be best issued on unit 
completions, although this might be flexible also, depending on the scheme and the 
provider/ developer circumstances. 

 

Proposals for Spend 

 

18. There are a number of scenarios where these additional funding streams could be 
of significant benefit in the development of the affordable housing programme.  Due 
the different restrictions, it is best to consider them as two separate funding 
streams. 

 

RRTBRs and RCGF funds  

 

19. Opportunities for spend need to be developed at pace.  These could include the 
following initiatives: 

a. Purchase of a development off-plan.  Where this does not include affordable 
housing, the funding could subsidise the purchase cost to the HRA and allow 
all the units to be used for Social Rent.  In scenarios where schemes already 
include affordable housing, to ensure planning compliance, the HRA could 
still seek to purchase the affordable units from the developer using this to 

133



subside the purchase cost, although less additionality might be achieved in 
such a scenario 

b. Recognising that there are very limited opportunities for such off-site 
purchases, within Oxford or its immediate vicinity within the timescales 
required (starting on-site in 2020/21, and noting the quarterly deadlines also), 
officers should also mobilise to re-start an acquisition programme by buying 
units from the open sale market.  This can achieve high levels of value for 
money, especially in the re-purchase of property where the Council is the 
free holder.  It will require resourcing, and in-house resource is less likely to 
be able to support this at present, requiring a contractual arrangement for the 
property search function with a third party.  Such an initiative will also not be 
able to purchase a sufficient volume of properties that are suitable and of the 
right value from the local market in this timescale  

c. Officers should explore whether some market sale units from OCHL schemes 
could be purchased by the HRA using RRTBRs, on smaller schemes (under 
c. 30 units) where tenure mix is not a requirement to ensure the long term 
sustainability and community mix in a development.   

d. RRTBRs can also be used on land purchases, and officers should explore 
and action any possibilities for this also, including the consideration of any 
voluntary sales or CPOs to support development or possible regeneration 
schemes, or purchases from other public authorities. 

e. Should HRA capital commitments be close to the agreed debt cap/ prudential 
borrowing limits, then officers should consider further General Fund options 
for spend, this being temporary accommodation for homeless households, 
and bring forward a further report to Cabinet and Council should this be 
considered viable. 

f. Officers should continue to explore further options to use RRTBRs and 
RCGF flexibly to ensure spend and increasing affordable housing supply.  

20. It is proposed that RRTBRs and RCGF are spend up to the full financial envelope 
available, as outlined above. 

 

S.106 Funds   

 

21. These funds can be used more flexibly with other public grants.  As such, it is 
proposed that further opportunities for spend should be explored and actioned, 
including: 

a. Determination of the likely requirement to support the affordable housing 
element of the Blackbird Leys District Centre regeneration project, and other 
subsequent estate regeneration schemes.  As such, only £3m of these funds 
are being included in this report.  Further reports to Cabinet will relate to 
other proposed expenditure of s.106 funds, such as the Blackbird Leys 
District Centre regeneration project. 

b. For the creation of a top-up fund to improve the viability of schemes that are 
proposed, or might be brought forward, through the Oxfordshire Housing and 
Growth Deal.  This additional injection of funds might allow schemes to be 
accelerated and be brought forward faster; make them viable or viable to be 

134



developed within the Growth Deal when otherwise they might not be able to; 
or allow for a greater proportion of affordable rented homes (preferably Social 
Rent) to be supplied within a scheme.  The Growth Deal grant rate for Social 
Rent is currently £55k per unit, whereas the Homes England AHP 
programme will support grants for Social Rent in this area of £75k.  A £20k 
top-up grant, may be able to improve viability by closing this gap and 
recognising the high and rising cost of development in this area.  Officers 
from across the Oxfordshire Districts are engaging with the Growth Deal 
team to agree a common value for money assessment framework for 
assessing such grant awards (aligned to similar Homes England processes). 

c. A top-up fund might also be used to fund the difference in capitalised 
valuations of seeking to switch the tenure on a small number of schemes, 
from shared ownership to affordable rent, thus improving affordability and 
access to persons in housing needs from the housing registers. 

d. A local enabling grant could also be considered, with the Council drafting a 
suitable prospectus and inviting submissions from RPs as to what they might 
be able to develop for the award of an agreed grant. 

22. It is proposed that s.106 funds are used up to the limit of a £3m financial envelope 
available, as ‘top-up’ or ‘enabling’ grant for Affordable Housing, as outlined above, 
with subsequent reports to be developed for Cabinet relating to the remaining 
s.106 funds.  Delegation for this spend rests with the Head of Planning Services as 
the signatory of s.106 agreements with developers. 

 

Financial implications 

23. This report seeks the required delegations to further develop the programme of 
affordable housing supply.  The decision to proceed with any purchase or 
development will be supported by a financial model outlining short, medium and 
long term impacts on Council finance, and will require a neutral or positive impact in 
order to proceed. 

24. Financial modelling on overall scheme viabilities will also be undertaken in relation 
to any grant programme, based on open book principles, to ensure that grant 
positively impacts on affordable housing supply as set out in this report.   

25. In the event that the Council secures an opportunity for the purchase of a site/ 
multiple unit development, then the purchase price is likely to exceed general 
delegations (up to £500k).  For this reason, this report recommends a further 
delegation to the Chief Executive, to provide for this circumstance and to allow the 
Council to move rapidly to enter into agreement should it wish to. 

 

Legal issues 

26. Sections 24 & 25 of the Local Government Act 1988 enable Councils to make 
grants and provide financial assistance for the purposes of the provision of more 
affordable housing. 

27. It is proposed that any conveyancing for a new acquisition programme continues to 
be undertaken using existing resource provision available to the Council. 

135



28. Grant funding agreements for top-up or enabling grants will be prepared and 
executed by the Head of Law and Governance to ensure value for money as well as 
effective and efficient outcomes from this investment, with grant only expecting to 
be awarded to Registered Providers. 

29. The Council has considered the State Aid rules and to avoid any contravention it 
intends to adhere to the following four tests set out in the Altmark judgment (Case 
C-280/00) in relation to the provision of Services in the General Economic Interest 
(SGEI):- 

a. the grant recipient must have public service obligations to discharge which 
must be clearly defined 

b. the parameters on the basis of which the grant is calculated must be             
established both in advance and in an objective and transparent manner 

c. the grant cannot exceed what is necessary to cover all or part of the costs 
incurred in the discharge of the public service obligations, taking into account 
the relevant receipts and a reasonable profit 

d. where the grant recipient is not chosen in a public procurement procedure,        
the level of grant awarded must be determined by a comparison with an 
analysis of      the costs that a typical undertaking would incur (taking into 
account the receipts and a reasonable profit from discharging the 
obligations).       

30.  The Council will monitor compliance with these tests by ensuring that the grant 
agreements contain clauses imposing requirements that:- 

a. any land purchased with or benefitting from grant funding is only used for the 
provision of social or affordable housing; and 

b. the grant recipient  must demonstrate that its costs of provision of the 
social/affordable housing are no greater than it would cost a typical well-run 
community led housing undertaking.  

31. Officers will mitigate the application of State Aid rules by following public 
procurement rules in selecting any grant recipient wherever possible. 

 

Level of risk 

32. A Risk Register is provided at Appendix 1. The main risk identified is not spending 
RRTBRs or RCGF within the three year deadline from the time of receipt, and 
thereby being required to return the funds to Government with interest applied from 
the time of receipt. 

Equalities impact  

33. An Equalities Impact Assessment is provided at Appendix 2.   There are no 
adverse impacts in undertaking this activity, with the potential to improve provision 
for persons in housing need. 

 

 

 

136



Conclusion 

34. That the Council agrees to spending as set out in this report to further support the 
delivery and enabling of more affordable rented housing accessible to help persons 
on the housing register to secure much needed permanent homes. 

 

 

Report author Dave Scholes 

Job title Housing Strategy and Needs Manager 

Service area or department Housing and Property 

Telephone  01865 252636   

e-mail  dscholes@oxford.gov.uk 

Background Papers:                        None 

  

137



 

138



Ref
Title Risk description Opp/ threat Cause Consequence I P I P I P Control description Due date Status Progress % Action Owner

1 Insufficient 
opportunities to spend 
these funds as 
intended 

Insufficint housing market 
or development activity to 
enable suitable 
investments to be made 
that achieve value for 
money

Threat Market slow-down 
(development and sales) 
and difficulties of 
developing in Oxford (inc 
high land and build costs)

Council does not pursue 
these initiatives further 
and may need to return 
the RRTBR and/or RCGF 
funding, in full or in part, 
to Government, plus 
compound intertest 
above base rates

01/11/19 Stephen Clarke 3 4 3 3 2 2 Ensuring that all work 
streams continue to be 
progressed at pace, and 
that any negotiations are 
conducted promptly, with 
due diligence, and within an 
agreed framework.

Ongoing Ongoing 30 Dave Scholes

2 Unable to agree 
acceptable agreement 
terms for 
developments; 
acquisitions; or grants

Not entering into 
agreements with RP 
providers

Threat Unable to secure 
agreement on acceptable 
terms

Council does not pursue 
one or more schemes 
further

01/11/20 Stephen Clarke 3 3 3 3 1 1 Ensuring that negotiations 
are conducted promptly, 
with due diligence, and 
within an agreed 
framework.  Risks here 
mitigated by running 
multiple schemes and 
options for spend 
simultaneously

Ongoing Ongoing 30 Dave Scholes

3 Developments stall or 
do not proceed in 
accordance with 
agreements

Delivery risk that the 
scheme does not 
progress as expected

Threat That the outcome expected 
from the contractual 
arrangement is not 
delivered within acceptable 
tolerances on quality; time 
or budget, including that 
the scheme is unable to 
secure planning consent

The the Council may 
need to enforce contracts 
terms or exit the 
agreement by consent.  If 
the development stalls 
during construction, then 
the Council may elect to 
intervene.

01/11/19 Stephen Clarke 3 2 3 2 1 1 That the Council undertakes 
due diligence and ensures 
that the contractual 
agreement offers the 
Council the necessary 
controls and exit 
arrangements required.  
That the viability 
assessment is rigourously 
tested.  That off-site 
manufacture methods 
reduce site risks.

Ongoing Ongoing 0 Dave Scholes

4

Appendix 1 - Risk Register - RRTBR/ AH Funding - Cabinet Report 19th December 2019

Current Residual Comments ControlsDate Raised Owner Gross

  Appendix 1 

139



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  Appendix 2 
 
Appendix 2:  Equality Impact Assessment – RRTBR/ AH Funding - Cabinet Report 19th 
December 2019 
 
1. Which group (s) of people has been identified as being disadvantaged by your proposals? 

What are the equality impacts?  
 

No groups have been identified as being disadvantaged by this proposal.  The initiative 
recommended focuses on better meeting the needs of persons in housing need through 
seeking to improve the supply of more affordable housing. 
 

 
2. In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your current or proposed new or 

changed policy, strategy, procedure, project or service to minimise or eliminate the adverse 
equality impacts?  
 

Please provide further details of the proposed actions, timetable for making the changes and the person(s) 
responsible for making the changes on the resultant action plan  
 

N/A – No adverse impacts expected. 
 

 
3. Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed changes and if you do not 

plan to consult, please provide the rationale behind that decision.  
 

Please note that you are required to involve disabled people in decisions that impact on them 
 

No groups have been identified as being disadvantaged by this proposal and it is expected to 
have a positive impact on many vulnerable people as outlined, through the provision of more 
affordable housing. 
 

 
4. Can the adverse impacts you identified during the initial screening be justified without 

making any adjustments to the existing or new policy, strategy, procedure, project or 
service?  
 

Please set out the basis on which you justify making no adjustments 
 

No adverse impacts, relating to protected characteristics, have been identified. 
 

 
5. You are legally required to monitor and review the proposed changes after implementation 

to check they work as planned and to screen for unexpected equality impacts.  
 

Please provide details of how you will monitor/evaluate or review your proposals and when the review will 
take place 
  

All plans and spends will be monitored throughout the development period, and through 
contractual arrangements. 
    
 

Lead officer responsible for signing off the EqIA: Dave Scholes, Housing Strategy & Needs 
Manager.  Date: November 2019 

141



This page is intentionally left blank



 

. 

To: Cabinet 

Date: 22 January 2020 

Report of: Tim Sadler, Transition Director 

Title of Report:  Becoming a net zero council in terms of greenhouse gas 
emissions - Energy & Water Supply Procurement 2020 to 2024  

Summary and recommendations 

Purpose of report: To approve parameters and approach for the procurement of 
energy and water for the period period 1 October 2020 to 30 
September 2024 with a view to Oxford City Council becoming a net 
zero carbon council in terms of energy usage. 

Key decision: Yes 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Tom Hayes, Zero Carbon Oxford 

Corporate Priority: A Clean Green Oxford 

Policy Framework: Corporate Plan 2016-2020 

Recommendations:That Cabinet resolves to: 

 1. Approve the procurement strategy of seeking the purchase of certified renewable 
electricity and renewable gas supplies;  

2. Authorise officers to explore options to better stimulate investment in new local 
renewable energy generation through a corporate Power Purchase Agreement (PPA) 

   approach for the council’s energy supplies;

3. Approve (subject to 2 above) the use of the Kent County Council energy 
procurement framework via its trading arm LASER (the specialist public sector energy 
buying organisation) for up to a further four years (2020-2024) to procure the 
Council’s energy and water contracts from October 2020;  

 4. Approve the continuation of the energy purchasing approach - a flexible contract 
for larger electricity and gas supplies, and a fixed term fixed price contract for smaller 
energy consuming sites and water supplies; 

5. Approve the purchase of appropriate offset products to mitigate the impact of 
vehicle fuel purchase; 

6. Note the continuing  impact of the Council’s Carbon Reduction Programme in 
reducing the need for offsetting in the future and the overall energy and fuel 
requirements to support the council’s operation; and  

7. Note that with the combination of the procurement of renewable energy, certified 
and verifiable offsetting of fuel impacts and a programme to reduce energy 
consumption in place the Council can rightly claim to be Net Zero in terms of Green 
House gases associated with its operations. 

143

Agenda Item 10



  

  

  

Appendices 

Appendix 1 LASER performance data 

Appendix 2  Risk Register 

  

 Introduction 

 1. The Report “Initial response to Report on Citizens’ Assembly on Climate Change”, 
(Cabinet 19 December)  amongst a number of steps sets out a proposed initial 
response to the climate emergency and the citizens’ assembly, sets the ambition of 
the Council of becoming a net zero carbon organisation in terms of energy and fuel 
purchase in 2020.  This report sets out the practical steps and procurement strategy 
to achieve that ambition. 
 

 2. Each year the council purchases electricity and gas for its operational buildings and 
fuel for the vehicle fleet.  The impact of these purchases in terms of greenhouse gas 
emissions is demonstrated in the table below taken from the Council’s Greenhouse 
Gas Emissions Report. 

 
 3.  

 

 
 

 4.  The Council’s current policy is to purchase renewable energy where the premium 
for doing so is no more than 2%.  In recent years this has been possible for 
electricity with the significant reduction in greenhouse gas impact as set out in the 
table of 40.8% over the past 5 years. 
 

 5. With the passing of the resolution by Council of the Climate Emergency 
consideration has been given to how this approach could be built on to enable the 
Council to be net zero in terms of greenhouse gas emissions. 

 

144



 
 6. It is now possible to purchase renewable gas, ie gas produced by the anaerobic 

digestion of farm products, which would have a significant impact on greenhouse 
emissions. 
 

 7. That would leave vehicle fuel as the main component of the council’s greenhouse 
gas emissions.  Whilst there are plans to electrify the council’s fleet over the mid-
term, steps could be taken now by accredited offsetting to mitigate those gases 
enabling the council to be net zero for its operations. 

 
 8. Such an approach, in isolation, could open the council up to criticism that it is simply 

buying its way to net zero. However, combined with the council’s well established 
fleet management and building energy reduction plans this is believed to be a 
robust approach that is recommended for adoption. 
 

 9. This report also identifies the opportunity to enter into Power Purchase Agreements 
directly with the owners of renewable energy assets.  Where this could be achieved 
locally it would providea local closed loop of energy production, supply and 
consumption with the benefits remaining with the local economy and communities 
 

 10.There are undoubted environmental benefits from the  approachset out in this 
report, it will assist in stimulating markets in renewables and demonstrate leadership 
that whilst climate change is a huge complex subject there are practical, 
proportionate steps that organizations can take.  There are parallels with the 
council’s stand in respect of the Oxford living Wage where the Council having taken 
the lead builds a growing band of support for a new or innovative approach to 
solving seemingly intractable problems. 

 
 

Procurement policy and proposal. 
 
11. The value of the contract to supply the Council with energy over a typical 4 year 

supply period is £7m.  Therefore careful thought has to be given to procurement to 
ensure that it delivers value for money and is compliant with the public procurement 
regulations.  Therefore a significant part of this report covers those aspects. 
 

12. Since gas and electricity markets opened to competition in the 1990’s, the energy 
market has become a highly specialised field of procurement. The complexity of the 
procurement options can create a risk if not appropriately managed. It can be time 
consuming and therefore costly due to the potential number of suppliers and types 
of contract available. 
 

13. Several buying organisations, both private and public sector, can secure such 
contracts on the Council’s behalf. Public sector buying organisations (PBOs) are 
favoured because they focus more on public sector needs rather than trying to 
match the potentially competing objectives and requirements of private and public 
sector organisations. In addition, these groups have long experience of acting on 
behalf of the public sector and are therefore well versed in their requirements and 
processes 

145



14. The Council’s current energy purchasing arrangements - using the Public Buying 
Organisation (PBO) LASER (Local Authority South East Region) as a specialist 
energy purchasing agent - were agreed by the then City  Executive Board  in 
February 2016. This covered the period 1 October 2016 to 30 September 2020. 
LASER established in 1989, has been managing public sector energy procurement 
for 25 years and it launched its first Flexible Procurement framework in 2008  
Appendix 1 examines the performance of the laser arrangements and the structure 
of contracts that best suits the needs of the council.  This concludes that the council 
should continue to utilize the LASER approach to energy and water procurement 
with a similar contract structure as at present.The significant change however, is 
that certified renewable sources of both electricity and gas are required. 

 
Offsetting 
 

15. Whilst offsetting is legitimate and helpful step where there is no other means of 
reducing emissions the approach is criticised where it is used as a means of not 
taking action to reduce emissions. 
 

16. The council’s current carbon management plan requires a 5% per annum reduction 
in carbon emissions by installed measures.  This has been met in recent years 
through a combination of improvements to buildings and fleet utilising the Salix, and 
Salix Plus revolving loan funds, the capital programme to improve buildings and 
external grants. 
 

17. In light of the climate emergency the council will consider whether this pace is 
sufficient.  The pieces of work set out in the report on the initial response to the 
citizens’ assembly will inform the prioritisation and costs of acceleration. 
 

18. Plans are in place to conclude the transfer of the first 23% of the council’s fleet, 
operated by ODSL, to electric and the ODSL business plan provides  for further 
transitions. 
 

19. Therefore over time the reliance on offsetting will reduce. 
 

20. In terms of the nature and type of offsetting it is important that this is done to 
recognised international standards.  It is widely held that the preferred form of 
offsetting is that which is close to the source being offset and that the purchasing 
body has control over the offsetting asset.  It is therefore proposed that going 
forward the council explores with partners the possibility for a local offsetting 
scheme that at the same time enhances the biodiversity of the area, maximises 
natural capital resources and provides a safe and healthy environment for citizens 
to enjoy. 
 

21. The additional cost of offsetting the council’s current fuel requirements, have been 
included in the draft budget proposals included elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 

146



Options appraisal  

22. In seeking to review and renew the Council’s energy contracts the following options 
are presented:  

o Do nothing  
o Run a procurement process in-house  
o Use a public (professional) buying organisation (PBO) or third party 

intermediary (TPI) buying organisation. 
o One of the above options with or without offsetting  

 

23. In summary, doing nothing is not an option in terms of cost as this would mean that 
the council would slip into expensive deemed rates/out of contract pricing 
arrangements with its energy suppliers without an energy contract in place. 
 

24. In terms of climate change impact renewable energy gas is now available at a 
modest premium and should be considered as part of the council’s overall response 
to the climate emergency. 
 

25. For energy, with a procurement value of the order of c.£1.7m per annum,  running a 
procurement process in-house would both be time-consuming and expensive 
requiring specialist energy purchasing expertise and having to run as an Official 
Journal of the European Union (OJEU) tendered process. The Council also does 
not have the large scale of purchasing volume to warrant setting up its own energy 
contracts via a flexible purchasing arrangement. It would also not have the buying 
power that a PBO or similar purchasing consortia would offer. 
 

26. Procuring energy through a PBO is regarded as a best practice approach to 
mitigate energy price risk in an increasingly volatile and complex energy market and 
is the recommended option for the Council  to pursue. PBOs are also not-for-profit 
organisations geared for working with public sector organisations and the 
constraints they have to operate in. They also present a low-risk OJEU compliant 
procurement route to market. 

 

Preferred option and benefits for procurement 

27. It is recommended to continue using the services of a PBO to procure the Council’s 
energy. Given its good track record and level of service provided to the Council over 
the past four framework periods (16 years), development of the energy/water 
purchase offering via a new access agreement with additional flexibility in terms of 
contract length and services available, it is recommended to continue using LASER 
(a not-for-profit PBO) to purchase energy and water on behalf of the Council.  
Market testing has found prices with another similar PBO to be on a par with LASER 
– prices have also been sought from an independent supplier direct and again were 
found to be on a par with LASER’s offering.  
 

28. It is proposed to purchase from LASER on a procurement-only basis as the 
Council’s energy team has now established the expertise to validate and make 
payment of energy and water bills in-house using the Sigma Energy software. 
  

147



29. It is also recommended that renewable electricity and  gas is made a requirement of 
the procurement. 

 
Corporate PPAs to stimulate investment in local renewable energy generation 

30. Corporate power purchase agreements (corporate PPAs) are longer-term energy 
contracts in which the user agrees to purchase electricity directly from an energy 
generator rather than the traditional approach of simply buying electricity from 
licensed electricity suppliers. Agreement terms are usually 10 to 25 years - but are 
often set at a fixed rate linked to some form of indexation. Structured arrangements 
like this provide financial certainty for the utility companies and the developers, 
removing the obstacle to financing and building new renewable energy facilities.  
 

31.  PPAs help support the delivery of  more renewable energy on the grid and are  
arguably the next greenest option other than to develop on-site generation on the 
Council’s own land and buildings. It is proposed to explore the possibility of sign up 
to a corporate PPA with a renewable energy generator via LASER’s access 
agreement. This would mean that the council is more directly investing and 
supporting the development of renewable energy capacity beyond which is 
mandated by government towards reducing the carbon intensity of the national 
energy mix. 
 

32. This also aligns with the council’s aspirations to go further and faster than the legal 
target for the UK to reach net-zero carbon emissions by 2050 with the council 
effectively investing in much larger scale renewable energy projects than it would be 
able to achieve on its own buildings and assets. It also provides price certainty on 
supplies fixed over a longer term than has traditionally been purchased. Whilst the 
PPA option has advantages in terms of supporting new, possibly local, renewable 
energy it does tie the council into long term contracts, rather than the revolving four 
year terms that have served it well in recent years. If the possibility of an attractive 
PPA does emerge it is proposed that a further report to Cabinet setting out the risks 
and benefits would be made. 

   
Legal issues 

33. Kent County Council (KCC) is the ‘Contracting Authority’ for the flexible energy 
supply contracts operated by LASER. The energy supply contracts are procured 
through OJEU compliant tender processes. KCC is a ‘Central Purchasing Body’ 
(‘CPB’), a contracting authority which provides centralised purchasing activities as 
specified in the Public Contract Regulations 2015. As such, other public sector 
bodies are able to use the energy supply contracts without having to run separate 
OJEU tender processes for either the appointment of energy suppliers or LASER’s 
contract management services.  

 
34. An ‘Open Procedure’ procurement process, in accordance with ,  the legal 

framework for utilities procurement in the UK as set out in the Directive 2014/25/EU 
of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 February 2014 on procurement 
by entities operating in the water, energy, transport and postal services sectors and 
repealing Directive 2004/17/EC (Utilities Directive 2014) will be utilised for the 
tender and award of flexible energy supply contracts for the period October 2020 – 
September 2024. Officers are exploring the possibility of “sleeving” a PPA into the 

148

https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/5-581-1365?originationContext=document&transitionType=PLDocumentLink&contextData=%28sc.Default%29&navId=9C8906304D05EA4834F759E19144EEF6&comp=pluk
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/5-581-1365?originationContext=document&transitionType=PLDocumentLink&contextData=%28sc.Default%29&navId=9C8906304D05EA4834F759E19144EEF6&comp=pluk
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/5-581-1365?originationContext=document&transitionType=PLDocumentLink&contextData=%28sc.Default%29&navId=9C8906304D05EA4834F759E19144EEF6&comp=pluk
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/5-581-1365?originationContext=document&transitionType=PLDocumentLink&contextData=%28sc.Default%29&navId=9C8906304D05EA4834F759E19144EEF6&comp=pluk


LASER contract, which is an established mechanism in the market to fix one 
component within a broader supply agreement. 
 

35. Under s111 of the Local Government Act 1972 the Council as a local authority has 
power to do anything which is calculated to facilitate, or is conducive or incidental 
to, the discharge of any of its functions. In this instance the Council is purchasing 
energy (gas and electricity) to facilitate the discharge of its functions. 

 
Financial Issues 

36. Whilst it is proposed to continue initially with purchasing via the Purchase in 
Advance basket option, alternative basket options (PWP and FSAR) will be 
continued to be reviewed throughout the year ahead of the annual decision date 
with LASER.  

 
37. A decision on which purchasing basket to use needs to be made by 31 March each 

year ahead of the contract start date (1 October).  
 

38.The option to require certified renewable gas supply is estimated to be c.£64k per 
annum, c.£5k per annum for certified renewable electricity. 
 
39.The amount to offset fuel purchase at current levels is estimated to be c.£30k per 
annum. 

 

40.These sums have been included in the draft budget. 

 
 
 

Environmental Impact 

41.Oxford City Council has reduced its own carbon emissions by more than 900 tonnes 
in the last year. This reduction is the equivalent amount of CO2 produced by a single 
car driving 2.9 million miles. These latest figures show the council has reduced carbon 
emissions by 10% in a single year and over 40% in the last four years. Since 2015, the 
Council has reduced its annual emissions by the equivalent amount of CO2 produced 
by a single car driving 12.6 million miles every year. The Council is committed to 
building on recent success and show further leadership. 
 
41.The council currently purchases 100% certified renewable electricity supplies but 
has to remain on brown/conventional gas supplies until the contract end point of 30 
September 2020. For the October 2020 to September 2024 period, renewable energy 
supplies are available in the entire LASER portfolio for the flexibly purchased supplies 
for the duration of the new frameworks through to 30 September 2024. There is no 
guarantee of 100% availability and buying entirely clean supplies would incur an 
additional premium for electricity (of ca0.06p/kWh, ca equivalent of £4,800/year or 
0.4% additional electricity spend) and green gas (of ca0.4p/kWh, ca equivalent of 
£64,000/year or 13.5% additional gas spend). This represents an overall on-cost for 
electricity and gas of c.5% based on current consumption.  
 

149



43. In light of the Council’s Climate Emergency Declaration and aspiration to become 
net zero carbon, encouraged by Oxford’s Citizens’ Assembly on Climate Change, it is 
proposed that the Council will seek to obtain 100% of its electricity and gas supplies 
from clean, fully traceable renewable energy in the energy supply contracts.  

 
44.Transparency and accountability are critical. Traceability of renewable energy 
supply will be available through provision of Renewable Electricity Guarantees of Origin 
(REGO) certificates for electricity and Renewable Gas Guarantees of Origin (RGGO) 
certificates. This will be beneficial for providing greater transparency for Oxford City 
Council’s Carbon and Sustainability reporting as well as furthering the Council’s 
aspirations to become net zero carbon as quickly as possible. Buying certified 
renewable gas and electricity can make a c.70% contribution towards Oxford City 
Council becoming net zero carbon.  

 

45.This does not mean that ongoing efforts to continue to reduce electricity and gas 
consumption will be scaled back. The financial case for demand reduction is in fact 
strengthened with the purchase of renewable energy supplies. It is also proposed to 
explore opportunities to purchase ‘greener’ electricity through a corporate PPA directly 
with a renewable energy generator on a longer term arrangement.  

 

46.For the remaining supplies on the fixed term fixed price contracts certified 
renewable energy sources of gas and electricity will be secured where possible. 

 

Level of Risk 
  
47.A risk register is appended with this report (Appendix 2). Using a PBO to procure 
the Energy contracts is a recommended best practice approach in the volatile and 
complex energy sector. Purchasing energy on flexible contracts through a PBO is also 
an aggregated, flexible and risk-managed way of securing energy contracts as 
recommended by the Pan-Government Energy Project. 

 
48.The highest risk to the council is to not have energy contracts in place and slip in to 
deemed/out of contract rates for its energy supplies which are significantly more 
expensive than contracted rates (of the order of 50% or higher compared to arranged 
contract rates). The purpose of securing contracts through a PBO is to avoid this 
happening and also to give the best chance of securing most competitive energy (and 
water) contract prices. 

 
 

Equalities Impact 
 
 
 
49.There are no equalities impact issues with this decision.  

 

 

 

150



Report author Paul Spencer/Paul Robinson 

Job title Energy & Carbon Manager/Team Manager, 
Energy& Natural Resources team 

Service area or department Environmental Sustainability 

Telephone  01865 252238/  01865 252541 

e-mail  pspencer@oxford.gov.uk/ 
probinson@oxford.gov.uk 

Background Papers: None 

 

151

mailto:pspencer@oxford.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



  Appendix 1 

 

Appendix 1: LASER Purchase in Advance (PIA) basket market performance Oct 
2009 to Sept 2020  
 
Performance over an 11 year purchasing in advance period is illustrated in the chart 
below.  
 
In summary, LASER’s average electricity purchase price is 5.0% below the average 
market price in the Purchase in Advance (PIA) energy basket – and 25.1% below the 
maximum market price.  
 
LASER’s average gas purchase price is 3.4% below the average market price in the 
Purchase in Advance (PIA) energy basket. – and 26.2% below the maximum market 
price. 
 
. 
 

 

153



This page is intentionally left blank



Title Risk description Opp/ threat Cause Consequence I P I P I P Control description Due date Status Progress % Action Owner

Delay to having a new 

contractual 

arrangement in place

Council contracts not in 

place by the start of the 

contract start date of 

1/10/2020

T Council fails to put an 

energy  and water 

purchase agreement and 

contract in place to 

purchase all of its energy 

and water supplies before 

the current contracts 

expire on 30 Sept 2020

Council would slip into 

expensive deemed rates 

for being out of contract

07/10/2019 Jo Colwell 4 2 1 1 1 1 Cabinet report 

timeframe allows 

agreement of energy 

and water purchase 

arrangements from 1 

Oct 2020 in good time to 

have agreements in 

place so the probability 

of this is very low

Agree energy water 

purchase agreement 

ahead of contract start 

date and ideally before 31 

March 2020 to ensure 

good lead in time for 

flexible purchase ahead of 

contract start date.

30/09/2020 75%  P.Spencer working 

with procurement team 

New contract price is 

higher than alloted 

budget

Contract rates are higher 

than the alloted budget

T As is the general direction 

of travel in the energy 

market in particular with a 

growing non-commodity 

cost outside of the 

council's control, it is 

anticipated that there will 

be an increase to rates for 

the new contract. 

The Council would have 

to increase the budget to 

meet requirement.

07/10/19 Jo Colwell 2 3 1 2 1 2 LASER are very good at 

keeping their customers 

informed about the 

market and how energy 

basket purchases are 

going. Their buyers are 

constantly engaged with 

the market and aware of 

outside forces that can 

affect pricing. 

It is expected that the 

electricity and gas market 

price will rise during the 

course of this contract . 

Close working with the 

Finance Business 

Partner/team at all times to 

prepare for any significant 

rises throughout the 

contract term. Main area of 

control for council is in 

reducing direct energy 

consumption in its buildings 

to keep the overall energy 

spend at lowest possible 

levels. A direct benefit from 

reducing Council carbon 

emissions .

01/10/20 75% Jo Colwell in 

consultation with the 

Finance Business 

Partner

Date Raised Owner Gross Current Residual Comments Controls

Appendix 2

155



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

To: Cabinet 

Date: 22 January 2020 

Report of: Head of Financial Services 

Title of Report:  Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2020/21 

 

Summary and recommendations 

Purpose of report: To consider the feedback from the recent consultation on 
the proposed changes to the Local Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme and to agree the principles of the new scheme to 
be drawn up for approval by Council on 27th January 
2020 

Key decision: Yes 

Executive Board 
Member: 

Councillor Marie Tidball, Supporting Local Communities 

Corporate Priority: Meeting housing need, Efficient, effective council. 

Policy Framework: Financial Inclusion Strategy. 

Recommendations:That Cabinet resolves to: 

1. Note the outcome of the consultation on the proposed Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme; 

2. Delegate authority to the Head of Financial Services  to draft the details of 
the new Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2020/21 in accordance with 
paragraphs 6-9 of this report, so that it can be submitted to Council for 
approval at its meeting on the 27th January 2020; and 

3. Recommend Council to resolve to adopt the new Local Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme for 2020/21. 

  

 

Appendices 

 

Appendix 1 

 

Response to consultation 

Appendix 2 

Appendix 3 

Risk Register 

Equalities Impact Assessment 

  

  

Introduction and background  

1. Councils are required to review their Council Tax Reduction (CTR) Scheme for working 
age recipients on an annual basis and determine whether to revise it or not. The 
scheme that exists for pension age recipients is a national scheme prescribed by 
regulations and cannot be varied locally. 
 
 

157

Agenda Item 11



2. In order to change its scheme a council is required by law to: 

 Consult with the major precepting authorities 

 Consult with other persons it considers are likely to have an interest in the 
operation of the scheme 

The CTR Scheme itself must be adopted by full Council, it cannot be delegated to an 
officer or committee. 

 
3. Local Schemes must take account of and support: 

 Work incentives and in particular avoid disincentives for those moving into work 

 The Council’s duties to protect vulnerable people (under the Equality Act 2010, 

the Care Act 2014, the Child Poverty Act 2010 and  the Housing Act 1996) 

 The Armed Forces Covenant 

 

Proposed changes to scheme 

4. At its meeting on the 11 September 2019, the Cabinet agreed to consult on a new CTR 
Scheme for 2020/21. Public consultation was undertaken from 30 September 2019 to 
12 November 2019 both in electronic and paper format. The Council also consulted 
directly with Universal Credit claimants on the current Income Band Scheme. The views 
of the major preceptors, Oxfordshire County Council and the Thames Valley Police and 
Crime Commissioner were also sought.  
 

5. Prior to recommending consultation to the Cabinet, officers considered a range of 
options for changing the CTR Scheme in 2020/21. This incorporated options to reduce 
the cost of the scheme, incorporating the introduction of a minimum charge (meaning all 
claimants would pay something towards their Council Tax liability), providing certain 
categories of claimants with full CTR if a minimum charge was introduced, and making 
CTR a discount. These options were rejected as they risked putting further pressure on 
households already struggling with reductions in the benefits received, low wages and 
increasing household costs. However it was agreed that these options would need to be 
revisited in future years due to the increasing cost of the CTR scheme to the Council. 
 

6. Three new proposals were submitted for consultation. The proposals related to  

 Changes that affect CTR to be applied from the date of the claim, rather than the 
Monday after the change. This mirrors how the daily charge for Council Tax 
works and the cost of doing this will be neutral. The impact on claimants is that 
some may lose up to 7 days entitlement to CTR where others will gain up to 7 
days entitlement.  

 Leaving a CTR claim open for 6 months whilst there is a Universal Credit (UC) 
application in place. This will mean a small administration saving as the Council 
will be able to use the same CTR claim more than once rather than claimants 
having to make a new CTR claim or claims, with no financial cost or saving. The 
impact on the claimant is that their CTR claim will be dealt with sooner.  

 Whether or not to introduce a banded income approach for working age 
claimants, in the same way as UC claimants are treated, from 2021/22. The 
impact on the CTR claimant is that fewer changes will need to be reported to the 
Council for minor income changes, resulting in less administration and more 
certainty for claimants. 

 

7. Having consulted on these three changes to the current scheme, it is proposed that the 
Council should apply the first two changes to the 2020/21 CTR Scheme, and consider 
introducing Income Bands for all claimants when devising the 2021/22 CTR Scheme 

 

158



8.  The 2019/20 CTR Scheme, which was approved on 28 January 2019, allows for the 
Income Band Scheme for residents on Universal Credit to be up-rated annually in line 
with changes to the National Minimum Wage (NMW) and the Oxford Living Wage 
(OLW), and that the benefit cap be uprated in line with inflation (based on the Retail 
Price Index figure for September 2018). Whilst it is not necessary to consult on this 
annually, it was included in the consultation to check that it is still relevant. 

 
 The existing Income Bandings used to determine the amount of Council Tax Reduction 

provided under the 2019-20 CTR Scheme are shown in Table 1 below. 
 
Table 1: 

Band Weekly Income Discount received Numbers in each 
band 

1 £0 - £131.99 100% 1,012 

2 £132 - £197.99 75% 333 

3 £198 - £300.99 50% 217 

4 £301 - £397.99 25% 57 

5 £398 0% (not recorded) 

 
The rationale for the figures above is as follows: 

 £132 is 16 hours on the National Minimum Wage (NMW) rounded upwards, (and is 
at a level which ensures households who previously received 100% reduction 
continue to do so) 

 £198 is 24 hours on the NMW rounded upwards 

 £301 is 30 hours on the Oxford living wage (OLW), rounded upwards 

 £398 is the benefit cap 
 

These figures have been calculated using the 2019 figures for the NMW and OLW 
which are £8.21 and £10.02 per hour respectively. The band 5 value has been uprated 
by 3.3% which is the RPI figure for September 2018. 

  
9.  It is proposed to uprate the bands annually in line with changes to the National Minimum 

Wage (NMW- this figure is unlikely to be released until January 2020 due to the 
election, but will be presented at Cabinet/Council once known) and Oxford Living Wage 
(OLW- £10.21), and in the case of the benefit cap, by inflation (based on the Retail 
Price Index figure for September 2019 which was 2.4%). These changes would have no 
significant impact on the amount of support provided by the Council and will ensure that 
no-one has to pay more council tax as a result of receiving a small change in income.  

 
Summary of consultation 

10.  Appendix 1 provides details of the responses to the consultation on the proposed 
changes to the CTR Scheme. Although only 36 responses were received, this was an 
increase on the previous year, with many providing very detailed feedback and showing 
a good understanding of the issues. In summary:  
 

 In relation to the Income Band Scheme, the majority of respondents agreed 
with both the principle of the scheme, and with the proposed uprating. 

 

 On the proposals for applying a banded scheme to all working age CTR 
claims the majority of respondents agreed with this proposal, and officers will 
consider this when preparing future schemes. 

 

159



 On amending the effective date for a change that affects CTR to the date of 
the change and not the following Monday, a majority agreed with this, 
although a significant number were unsure about this proposal. 

 

 On leaving a claim open for 6 months whilst there is a UC claim in place, the 
majority agreed with this proposal. 

 
 The majority of respondents did not want to see an increase in Council Tax 

or Fees and Charges to fund the CTR Scheme whilst there was a fairly even 
split for cutting other services (see Section 20 below). 

 
11 A number of other comments were received and all responses are shown at Appendix 

1. 
 

Implementation 
12  There will be some administrative work required to implement the amendments to the 

scheme and inform the public about the changes. This includes revising the scheme, 
amending the functionality of the software used for administering the CTR Scheme, 
amending local processes, training staff and producing communications for customers.  

Financial Implications 

13 Whilst the Government initially provided funding for the new local schemes, the funding 
has reduced each year in line with the reduction in the Council’s Revenue Support 
Grant (RSG). RSG has now reduced to zero and consequently no funding is provided 
towards the CTR Scheme. 

 
14  Oxford City Council is one of a small number of councils with a CTR Scheme which has 

maintained the same level of financial support for claimants as existed within the old 
Council Tax Benefit scheme. Most other councils have reduced the cost of their 
schemes by providing a lower level of support. Oxford City Council’s scheme will cost 
an estimated £1.6m for the current financial year, and £1.7 million from 2020/21. Any 
increase in the number of CTR claims will increase this cost further. 

 
15 The table below sets out the cost and caseload for the Council’s current CTR Scheme 

since its introduction. The cost of the scheme is shared by Oxford City Council (15.7%), 
Oxfordshire County Council (73.9%) and Thames Valley Police and Crime 
Commissioner (10.4%) in accordance with the proportion of Council Tax levied by each. 
The table shows that the gap between the net and gross cost to the Council is 
narrowing as government grant reduces. The gross cost to the Council has remained 
broadly unchanged for the last four years. This is because despite a significant increase 
in Council Tax levels during this period, the number of recipients of support from the 
CTR Scheme have reduced. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

160



Table 2:  

 

16. The current cost of the CTR Scheme has been factored into the Council’s Medium Term 
Financial Plan. Due to the reduction in government grant, the Council bears the full cost 
for its share of the scheme from 2019/20, and the cost of the scheme from then on will 
depend on the changes in the Council Tax levied and the number of recipients of 
support. 

17 The proposed changes to the scheme are not expected to increase the scheme’s cost. 
The bandings in the income band scheme are being uprated in line with expected 
increases in wages, and so this change should ensure current recipients of support stay 
in the same band as their income increases. As such this will have a neutral impact on 
cost to the Council.  

18 As the Oxfordshire County Council is the principal precepting authority, it is difficult for 
Oxford City Council to make significant savings in its cost of support, i.e. to save £1 an 
additional £6 must be raised. Reducing the amount of support provided will also lead to 
some administrative costs being incurred in the collection of any additional Council Tax 
charged. 

Legal issues 

19 In considering changes to the CTR Scheme, the Council must take into account the 
provisions of The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) 
(England) 2012 and subsequent amendments. 

20 Since the introduction of CTR Schemes, there have been a number of legal challenges 
against other local schemes. Most of these challenges have been in relation to the 
consultation undertaken and have questioned whether due regard was given to any 
equality impact assessment when changes were made to schemes. A Supreme Court 
ruling in 2014 ( R (Moseley) v London Borough of Haringey) has determined that 
consultation on changes to council tax reduction schemes must also include an option 
for any current scheme to be retained on the same level of funding with a consequent 
reduction in funding for other services. There were questions in the consultation paper 
on these options. 

21 The CTR Scheme itself must be adopted by Council, and the approval of the scheme 
cannot be delegated to an officer or committee.  

Level of risk 

22. A risk register is attached at Appendix 2.  

 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Cost of Pension Age £3,567,670 £3,557,466 £3,326,142 £3,274,619 £3,172,713 £3,299,833

Pension Age caseload 3,572 3,424 3,261 3,122 3,056 2,993

Cost of Working Age £6,593,636 £6,485,387 £6,234,439 £6,357,253 £6,318,785 £6,571,959

Working age caseload 6,434 6,121 5,963 5,841 5,666 5,550

Total Cost £10,161,306 £10,042,852 £9,560,581 £9,631,872 £9,491,498 £9,871,793

Total Caseload 10,006 9,545 9,224 8,963 8,722 8,543

Gross Council Cost £1,712,631 £1,626,667 £1,575,329 £1,572,711 £1,546,165 £1,568,628

Net Cost to Council -£11,785 £193,396 £523,977 £875,604 £1,230,572 £1,432,449

161



 

Equalities impact  

23. The changes proposed in this report do not have any new equality impacts attached to 
them. The removal of the minimum income floor amends a previously identified 
inequality. The equality impact of the income band scheme was considered in a report 
to Cabinet dated 19 December 2017. An Equalities Impact Assessment is attached at 
Appendix 3 

 

Report author Tanya Bandekar 

Job title Revenues & Benefits Service Manager 

Service area or department Financial Services 

Telephone  07483 011298 

e-mail  tbandekar@oxford.gov.uk 

 

Background Papers: None 

 

162



  Appendix 1  

. 

 

 

Consultation on changes to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

 

This document collates the responses to the Council Tax Reduction (CTR) Scheme 
consultation carried out between 30th September 2019 and 12th November 2019. 36 
completed responses were received to the consultation. 1 response was from an 
organisation. 35 responses were from individuals. Responses have been received from 
CTR claimants (20) and non CTR claimants (12) with 4 preferring not to say. 

The responses to the proposals for change are shown below. There continues to be 
strong support for continuing to use income bandings and for the method of uprating 
the bandings used in the income band scheme. There was also strong support for the 
small changes proposed to the start date of the change and for keeping a UC claim 
open. 

Comments are collated at the end of the document, together with the Council’s 
responses where required. 

 

Income band scheme for households in receipt of Universal Credit  
To what extent do you agree or disagree with the principle of using income bands 
for deciding how much support people get in paying their Council Tax? 

 Strongly Agree   10 

 Agree     16 

 Disagree   2 

 Strongly Disagree  4 

 Unsure   4 

 
To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposal to uprate the income 
bands from 2020/21? 

 Strongly Agree   7 

 Agree     14 

 Disagree   5 

 Strongly Disagree  3 

 Unsure   7 

 
Income band scheme for households not in receipt of Universal Credit  
 

To what extent do you agree or disagree with applying a banded scheme to all 
working age CTR claims? 
 

 Strongly Agree   8 

 Agree     16 

 Disagree   2 

 Strongly Disagree  1 

 Unsure   9 

163



 
 

Effective date of a change 
 
To what extent do you agree or disagree that we should amend the effective date 
for a change that affects CTR to the date of the change and not the following 
Monday? 

 

 Strongly Agree   8 

 Agree     11 

 Disagree   3 

 Strongly Disagree  0 

 Unsure   14 

 
Leaving a claim open when Universal Credit is in place 
 

To what extent do you agree or disagree that the Council should leave a claim open 
for 6 months whilst there is a UC claim in place? 
 

 Strongly Agree   8 

 Agree     18 

 Disagree   2 

 Strongly Disagree  2 

 Unsure   6 

 
As some of the proposals in the consultation may slightly affect the support people 
receive, the Council was required to consult on alternatives to making these changes. 
This included increasing the level of Council Tax, finding savings by cutting other 
Council services and increasing fees and charges. The responses to these proposals 
were as follows. 
 
Increase the level of Council Tax- if this is possible within the Government 
determined Council Tax cap? 
 

 Strongly Agree   2 

 Agree     5 

 Disagree            10 

 Strongly Disagree           12 

 Unsure                                7 

 
Find savings from cutting other Council services? 
 

 Strongly Agree           10 

 Agree     6 

 Disagree   8 

 Strongly Disagree  4 

 Unsure                         8 

164



 
Increase fees and charges for some Council services? 
 

 Strongly Agree   2 

 Agree             13 

 Disagree   7 

 Strongly Disagree  4 

 Unsure                              10 

 

 

 

Comments and Council responses 

 

The income band scheme and its proposed uprating 

1. This scheme seems the most practical and logical method to use. The up-rating 
is also a logical extension of the current levels. 

Response: Noted 

 

2. On the previous benefit system my family would have been helped out with 
100% council tax covered, we have one carer in the family and I earn on 
average £400, as we have a disabled child the benefit cap doesn't affect our 
universal credit payment and as such we are seen as on enough to pay 25%. 

Response: 

The Council does consider disability when devising its scheme but at present the 
Council doesn’t exclude all disability incomes when calculating entitlement to 
CTR. Disability incomes that the Council currently exclude for UC claimants are: 
Disability Living Allowance, Personal Independence Payment and Attendance 
Allowance (for applicant and/or partner). The Council will consider the impact of 
the incomes that it continues to include in future schemes. 

 

3. I'm really not sure what you are doing. I'm on universal credit and I don't work 
because of my husband's disabilities so not sure how this would affect me 
personally. 

Response: 

Noted. This a statement specific to the individual’s circumstances. 

 

4. If you put an explanation of what this means in real terms it would be easier to 
have an opinion. Does it mean that people whose income increases will go into 
the next band and hence have less benefit? 

Response: That may happen, however with the banding scheme it means that 
until your income increases to a level that puts you into a higher band, your 
entitlement won’t change. So small changes in income that would have meant a 
change to your entitlement will be ignored. The other benefit to this is that you 
will only get a revised Council Tax bill when your income places you into a 

165



different band, which allows you more certainty of your instalment amounts 
month on month. 

 

5. "UC has so many loopholes as it is and its claimants have to suffer as a result 
leaving them worse off. This scheme will make it worse and should not be a 
rushed decision." 

Response:  

The aim of CTR is to reduce liability for Council Tax for those on low incomes.  
The Council is working on a scheme which is fair to all and consults in order to 
hear the views of those who wish to respond.  As part of this consultation the 
Council is already looking towards the 2021/2022 scheme to give officers as 
much time as possible to create a balanced approach to future CTR schemes. 

 

6. I think there should be consideration for outgoings as well. Many middle income 
people live hand to mouth and it's those who struggle more 

Response: 

The Local Government Finance Act states that every Council’s scheme has to 
take into account the income of the ‘claimant’ when calculating entitlement to 
CTR.  Whilst people have many expenses within the household, the Council 
cannot take these into account as it is for the claimant themselves to manage 
their financial affairs. 

 

7. "People should not get a CTR for working part-time. They should increase their 
hours. People will deliberately work the 'right' number of hours to get the highest 
reduction possible. I'm having to work full-time in a job I hate, so why can't other 
people. I'm paying an extortionate council tax, I don't get any help, and I don't 
have any money left at the end of the month, so why should I pay more and 
other people less?" 

Response: 

 Noted  

 

8. I think, it's better to consider the price of the rent of the property before using the 
band scheme. 

Response: 

The current scheme for Universal Credit claimant does take into consideration 
the amount of rent payable, and it is not proposed to change our CTR scheme 
with regards to starting to include the rent, however this comment is noted and 
will be added to the review of the 2021/2022 CTR scheme.  

 

9. Banding is not a progressive form of means test and such approach is not used 
in the social security system. It creates significant change in support provided for 
claimants at the margins of the income bands if there is a small change in their 
income. It generates issue of defining income as demonstrated by previous 
amendments the Council has had to make to its banded scheme.  

Response: 

166



Under the Local Government Finance Act CTR is no longer a benefit, but a 
discount. Whilst the Council agrees that this does not match the approach of the 
Social Security legislation, this is our local CTR scheme. 

 

Creating an Income Band Scheme for all claimants 

10. That can be done based on the total amount of expenses that each family has 
monthly 

Response: 

Please see reply to point 6 above. 

 

11. I receive UC, so this does appear to be a sensible approach. 

Response: Noted 

 

Alternatives to reducing the amount of help provided by the CTR Scheme  

 

12. I think of many cuts that can be made with the housing services. Send one 
person to do a repair not 2 to look at it and then 2 different to complete the 
repair. You should save a fortune sending the correct person. Or maybe sending 
a surveyor once a year to assess repairs and actually get them done with the 
right person with the correct skill set. 

 

Response: 

Noted. This has been passed to the Housing Department for their consideration. 

 

Other comments on the CTR Scheme 

 

13. I have a discount but still very high value. 

Response: 

Noted 

 

14. The Council must amend the definition of 'Universal Credit other income' in 
Class F para. 2 to exclude any overpayment of a 'legacy benefits' recovered as 
'other income' within UC under UC (TP) Reg. 10 'Treatment of overpayments'. 
 
This provision means that an overpayment of a 'legacy benefit' will be recovered 
twice, firstly by a reduction in UC that would otherwise be payable and, 
secondly, by a possible reduction in LCTR which would otherwise be awarded. 
This is because UC (TP) Reg. 10 treats an overpayment as an 'income' in the 
calculation of UC entitlement when, of course, it is the opposite. 
 
Such method of overpayment recovery shows on a claimants UC payment 
statement as 'other income'. As such recovery will normally happen in the first 
(and any subsequent if required) UC 'assessment period' the claimant faces a 
'double whammy' of reduced income at the start of an award of UC and reduced 

167



LCTR. This method of overpayment recovery is not uncommon, therefore, the 
number of LCTR claimants on UC affected by this 'double whammy' is likely to 
be significant. 
 
An addition definition of disregarded income should be added to para. 4: 
 
"Any overpayment recovery made by the SSWP under UC (TP) Reg. 10 as 
'other income' shall be disregarded. 
 
The Council does not appear to be using LGFA s13A (1) (c) to mitigate the 
impact of the definition of 'UC other income' that applies within its scheme. 
 
The Council would suggest this issue (and previous issues with the drafting of 
the scheme) illustrate the problems with (a) a banded scheme (b) attempting to 
define a LCTR scheme by reference to social security legislation. 

Response: 

Noted. The Council will be amending the scheme for 20/21 as is aware of this. 
 
Question 9 
 
A full service UC claim does not remain 'active' for 6 months after an award ends 
(as was the case with live service UC). A claimant may be able to make what 
DWP describe as a 'UC rapid reclaim' within that period. UC Reg. 21(3C) merely 
provides that on a new claim within 6 months a claimant retains the same 
'assessment period' as applied to the previous claim. The Council will need to 
consider if the position with a full service UC claim ending has any practical 
impact on this otherwise positive proposal. 

Response: 

Noted. Our intention is to mirror the assessment period on UC. 

 

15. The City Council are to be congratulated for retaining 100% council tax support 
for those wholly reliant on income-based benefits. Oxford is a very unequal city 
and this is one way in which the most deprived can be supported by those in the 
higher income brackets. 

Response: 

Noted 

 

 

168



    Appendix 2 

. 

 

Title Risk description Opp/ threat Cause Consequence I P I P I P Control description Due date Status Progress % Action Owner

Challenge to 

consultation process

Customers challenge 

the effectiveness of the 

consultation

Opp Due regard not given to 

statutory guidelines or 

relevant case law.

Any changes in the 

CTR scheme may not 

be upheld by Tribunals 

or Courts, when 

challenged by a 

customer.

25/7/19 Tanya Bandekar 3 2 1 2 1 2 Reference the relevant 

regulations and case law 

in planning the 

consultation

20/9/11 100 Laura Bessell

Increased customer 

contact

Customers are 

concerned at potential 

changes to the support 

they get and contact the 

Council about them.

Threat Poor explanation of 

changes, and no 

mitigation planned.

Customers are not clear 

about the impact of the 

changes.

25/7/19 Tanya Bandekar 2 2 1 1 1 1 Simple explanations given 

of the proposed changes, 

together with details of 

mitigation.

20/9/11 75 Laura Bessell

Council reputation Proposals for changes 

not clearly thought 

through, and impact not 

properly understood, 

resulting in damage to 

Council reputation

Opp Insufficient modelling 

undertaken, and/or 

impact of changes not 

properly understood

Informed customers 

spot impacts of 

changes that the 

Council has not properly 

identified, undermining 

both the proposals and 

consultation process.

25/7/19 Tanya Bandekar 3 3 3 2 3 2 Expert team from different 

service areas assembled 

to work on the proposals, 

time taken to model 

changes and understand 

customer impact.

20/9/11 75 Paul Wilding

Financial implications Costs are not correctly 

calculated, or a change 

in economic climate 

means more claimants

Threat Poor budgetting Changes are costed 

incorrectly and lead to 

an increase in scheme 

costs

25/07/2019 Tanya Bandekar 3 3 3 2 3 2 Work with Finance Team 

to ensure funding available 

and changes costed

20/09/2011 80 Tanya Bandekar

Date Raised Owner Gross Current Residual Comments Controls

169



T
his page is intentionally left blank



   
  Appendix 3 

. 

 

 
Initial Equalities Impact Assessment screening form 
 

1. Within the aims and objectives of the policy or strategy which group (s) of people 
has been identified as being potentially disadvantaged by your proposals? What 
are the equality impacts?  

 

Council Tax Reduction is claimed by low income households in the city. The 
following groups are over represented in this cohort compared to the general 
population: 
Women 
Single parent households 
Ethnic Minorities 
People with a disability or lifelong illness 
 

 
 

2. In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your current or proposed 
new or changed policy, strategy, procedure, project or service to minimise or 
eliminate the adverse equality impacts?  

 
      Please provide further details of the proposed actions, timetable for  
      making the changes and the person(s) responsible for making the  
      changes on the resultant action plan  

 

The 2020/21 Council Tax Reduction Scheme has been informed by a 
consultation process. This included: 

 Uprate the income bands for Universal Credit claimants in line with 
previous years 

 Changes that affect CTR to be applied from the date of the change, 
rather than the Monday after the change. This mirrors how the daily 
charge for Council Tax works and the cost of doing this will net itself. 
There may be some gainers and losers depending on the change 
reported 

 Leaving a claim open for 6 months whilst there is a Universal Credit 
claim in place 

  To consider  whether or not to introduce a banded income approach 
for working age claimants, the same as the Council currently does for 
UC claimants from 2021/22 

Within the existing Council Tax regulations, there is provision for discretionary 
payments to be made to people experiencing hardship. Anyone 
disadvantaged by the Council Tax Reduction scheme can apply for help form 
this scheme. 

Changes will take effect from 1 April 2020 unless otherwise stated 

171



 
3. Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed changes and if 

you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale behind that decision.  
 
           Please note that you are required to involve disabled people in   
           decisions that impact on them 
   
 

The Council have consulted via our website, electronically with major 
preceptors and advice agencies, placed paper copies in surgeries and 
libraries, and invited people to respond via email straplines. The Council also 
targeted Universal Credit claimants on the income banded scheme via email. 
 
 

 
 

4. Can the adverse impacts you identified during the initial screening be justified 
without making any adjustments to the existing or new policy, strategy, 
procedure, project or service?  
 

      Please set out the basis on which you justify making no adjustments 
 

Within the existing Council Tax regulations, there is provision for discretionary 
payments to be made to people experiencing hardship. Anyone 
disadvantaged by the Council Tax Reduction scheme can apply for help from 
this scheme. 
 
 
 

 
5. You are legally required to monitor and review the proposed changes after 

implementation to check they work as planned and to screen for unexpected 
equality impacts.  

 
      Please provide details of how you will monitor/evaluate or review your  
      proposals and when the review will take place.  

 

 
The impact will be monitored via applications for discretionary support. This 
should highlight any areas of concern.  
The Council will also continue to ensure that it promotes the CTR scheme to 
anyone moving onto Universal Credit, as it will need to be by a separate 
application. 
 
As the changes will be rolled out on a gradual basis, as people see changes 
in their circumstance, there will be an opportunity to revise the scheme in 
future years, if there is an unexpected negative impact on certain groups of 
customers. 
 

 

172



 

Lead officer responsible for signing off the EqIA: Tanya Bandekar 
 
Role: Service Manager, Revenues & Benefits  
 
Date:   13/11/19 
     
 

 

173



This page is intentionally left blank



 

. 

To: Cabinet 

Date: 22 January 2020 

Report of: Head of Law and Governance 

Title of Report:  City of Sanctuary flag flying 

 

Summary and recommendations 

Purpose of report: To seek Cabinet approval to fly the "City of Sanctuary" 
flag annually on 20 June for World Refugee Day and 18 
December for International Migrants Day, following a 
cross-party motion passed by Council on 22 July 2019. 

Key decision: No 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Susan Brown, Leader, Economic Development 
and Partnerships 

Corporate Priority: Strong and Active Communities 

Policy Framework: Corporate Plan 2016-2020 

Recommendation: That Cabinet resolves to: 

1. Authorise the flying of the City of Sanctuary flag annually on 20 June for 
World Refugee Day and 18 December for International Migrants Day.  

 

Appendices 

1.  Risk Register  

Introduction and background  

1. The Council’s Flag Flying Protocol was agreed by the City Executive Board (now 
Cabinet) on 13 March 2019. The protocol stipulates that decisions on annual or 
regular flag flying commitments must be considered by Cabinet, while the 
consideration of one off requests is delegated to the Head of Law and Governance 
in consultation with the Leader.  

City of Sanctuary motion 

2. Council on 22 July 2019 unanimously passed a cross party motion titled “A City of 
Sanctuary” in which the Council, among other things, committed to flying the “City 
of Sanctuary” flag on World Refugee Day. Since decisions on annual flag flying 
commitments are a matter for Cabinet, this report seeks Cabinet authorisation to 
give effect to the flag flying commitment expressed in the Council motion. 
Consistent with the spirit of the motion, authority is also requested to fly the City of 
Sanctuary flag annually on International Migrants Day. 

175

Agenda Item 12



Flying the City of Sanctuary flag 

3. If the recommendation in this report is agreed, the City of Sanctuary flag will be 
flown annually on 20 June and 18 December from the mast above the Edinburgh 
Woollen Mill shop on the corner of St. Aldate’s and High Street. As with all flag 
flying commitments, this will be subject to the weather, safe access to the flagpole, 
the availability of suitably trained staff and planning consent. 

Financial implications 

4. The cost of the City of Sanctuary flag will be met from the existing Town Hall 
budget. 

Legal issues 

5. The responsibility for flag flying to mark events and occasions lies with Cabinet 
under the Local Government Act 2000 as it is not specifically reserved to full 
Council. The flying of flags is not the subject of statute across Great Britain.  

6. Under the Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) 
Regulations 2007 flags are treated as advertising for the purposes of planning 
consent. Certain flags can be flown without the express consent of the local 
planning authority but the City of Sanctuary flag does not fall into this category. 
Planning consent will be requested if the recommendation in this report is agreed 
by Cabinet. 

Level of risk 

7. Council commitments to fly flags may be regarded by organisations and 
communities as being a significant honour. The recommendation in this report 
would give effect to a commitment that has already been expressed by Council. A 
risk register is attached as Appendix 1. 

Equalities impact  

8. Flags are emotive symbols that have the potential to cause controversy or create 
tensions between communities or interest groups whose views and interpretations 
may differ. The Council has a responsibility to carefully consider the potential 
impacts of flying flags on communities, equalities and protected characteristics. The 
recommendation in this report may be seen as promoting diversity and supporting 
marginalised and vulnerable groups without adversely impacting upon equalities or 
serving to disadvantage any groups. 

 

Report author Andrew Brown 

Job title Committee and Member Services Manager 

Service area or department Law and Governance 

Telephone  01865 252230   

e-mail  abrown2@oxford.gov.uk 
 

Background Papers: None 

  
 

176

mailto:abrown2@oxford.gov.uk


Title Risk description
Opp/ 

threat
Cause Consequence I P I P I P Control description

Due 

date
Status

Progress 

%

Action 

Owner

Flag not flown It is not possible to 

fly the flag as 

requested by full 

Council

Threat No Cabinet 

agreement / planning 

consent not granted / 

adverse weather / lack 

of trained staff

Commitments made by 

Council are not met / 

disrespect may be 

implied

13 

November 

2019

Andrew 

Brown

2 2 2 2 2 1 Cabinet agreement and 

planning consent sought in 

advance. Clear flag flying 

protocol in place. Use of 

social media if it is not 

possible to fly the flag on 

the day e.g. due to bad 

weather.

20 

June 

2020

Andrew 

Brown

Risk Register

Comments ControlsDate Raised Owner Gross Current
Residua

l

Appendix 1

177



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Minutes of a meeting of the  
CABINET 
on Thursday 19 December 2019  
 
 

Committee members: 

Councillor Brown (Chair) Councillor Linda Smith (Deputy Leader) 

Councillor Turner Councillor Chapman 

Councillor Clarkson Councillor Hayes 

Councillor Hollingsworth Councillor Rowley 

Councillor Tidball Councillor Upton 

Officers:  

Gordon Mitchell, Chief Executive 
Tom Bridgman, Executive Director (Development) 
Caroline Green, Assistant Chief Executive 
Tim Sadler, Transition Director / Chairman Direct Services Companies 
Mish Tullar, Corporate Policy, Partnership and Communications Manager 
Anita Bradley, Monitoring Officer 
Nigel Kennedy, Head of Financial Services 
Jane Winfield, Regeneration and Major Projects - Team Manager / Director Housing 
Companies 
Bill Lewis, Financial Accounting Manager 
Ian Wright, Head of Regulatory Services and Community Safety 
Keerpa Patel, Senior Planner 
John Mitchell, Committee and Member Services Officer 

Also present: 

Councillor Andrew Gant 
Councillor James Fry 
Councillor Pat Kennedy 

Apologies: 

None. 

101. Declarations of Interest  

None. 

102. Addresses and Questions by Members of the Public  

None.  
 
 

179

Agenda Item 13



 

103. Councillor Addresses on any item for decision on the Board's 
agenda  

Councillor Kennedy addressed Cabinet about item 15 on the agenda, Bullingdon 
Community Centre, Project Approval and Award of contract. An account of her address 
is given at minute 14 below. 

104. Councillor Addresses on Neighbourhood Issues  

None. 

105. Items raised by Board Members  

None. 

106. Scrutiny Committee Reports  

Councillor Gant speaking in his capacity as Chair of Scrutiny Committee, spoke to two 
of the reports before Cabinet.  
 
The Committee had had a detailed and informative discussion about the introduction of 
Universal Credit and the capacity of the Council to respond to it. Particular reference 
had been made to the funding of Discretionary Housing Payments. He was grateful for 
the Cabinet’s positive response to the recommendations.  
 
The Committee had considered  the draft Corporate Strategy (item 9 of the agenda) 
earlier in the week which had resulted in the detailed recommendations  now before 
Cabinet. 
 
The Committee had also considered the Initial Response to the Report of the Citizens’ 
Assembly. The discussion had been wide ranging  and while the Committee had felt no 
need to make recommendations to Cabinet, it warmly welcomed the report. 
 
Councillor James Fry, speaking in his capacity as Chair of the Finance Panel of the 
Scrutiny Committee, spoke to the Panel’s recommendations in relation to the Property 
Investment Portfolio Analysis and Strategy Report (item 14 of the agenda). He was 
grateful for the Cabinet’s positive response to the report’s specific recommendations. 
More generally it was important to note that the proposed diversification of the Council’s 
commercial portfolio, whilst intended to reduce risk (as described in the Cabinet report) 
it was not riskless if, for example, interest rates go up at some point and property 
values come down. 
 
Councillor Ed Turner, Cabinet Member for Finance & Asset Management, said the 
Panel’s recommendations had been helpful. The proposals were being put forward 
having taken independent expert advice and diversification of the portfolio was 
considered, on balance, to represent the best way forward at the present time.     
 
 
 

180



 

107. Consultation Budget 2020-21 and Medium Term Financial Plan 
2021-22 to 2023-24  

The Head of Financial Services had submitted a report to propose a Medium Term 
Financial Strategy and the 2020/21 Budget for consultation.  
 
Councillor Ed Turner, Cabinet Member for Finance & Asset Management, introduced 
the report. At this point in the budget process he simply wanted to draw attention to a 
few overarching points. National pressures; the Council’s ambition to deal effectively 
with rough sleeping; and the need to  respond effectively to the Climate Emergency, all 
made for a challenging budget setting environment. The Council was reliant on the 
‘Oxford Model’ and income from its companies, this was something which set it apart 
from other District Councils.  These income streams are critical to the Council to enable 
it to continue to deliver services to residents although, equally, they present a level of 
risk which will require careful monitoring going forward. He drew attention to a small 
amendment to the report, details of which are attached to this minute.  
 
Nigel Kennedy, Head of Financial Services, drew attention to some of the national 
uncertainties in relation to business rates, the continued delay of the introduction of the 
Fair Funding Review and the future of the New Homes Bonus. 
 
The Chair thanked Councillor Turner, Nigel Kennedy and the Finance Team for their 
work in developing a positive budget, despite the challenging environment. 
 
Cabinet resolved to: 
 
1) Approve the 2020-21 General Fund and Housing Revenue Account budgets for 
consultation and the General Fund and  Housing Revenue Account Medium Term 
Financial Strategy as set out in  Appendices 1-9, noting : 
 
       a) the Council’s General Fund Budget Requirement of £24.029 million for   
2020/21 and an increase in the Band D Council Tax of 1.99% or £6.13 per annum 
representing a Band D Council Tax of £313.92 per annum subject to confirmation of 
the referendum levels contained in paragraphs 20-21 of the report.   
 
      b) the Housing Revenue Account budget for 2020/21 of £44.447 million and 
an increase of 2.70% (£3.06/wk) in social dwelling rents from 1 April 2020 giving a 
revised weekly average social rent of £105.32 as set out in Appendix 5 
 
 c)  the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme as 
shown in Appendix 6. 
 
2)  Agree the fees and charges shown in Appendix 7  
 
3)  Delegate to the Section 151 Officer in consultation with the Board Member for 
Finance and Assets the decision to determine whether it is financially advantageous 
for the Council to enter into a Business Rates Distribution Agreement as referred to 
in paragraphs 37-38 of the report. 
 

181



 

4) Agree that Care Leavers are determined as a class of discount for the purpose 
of Section 13A(1)(c) of The Local Government Finance Act 1992 from 1 April 2020 
as referred to in paragraphs 22-24 of the report; and  
 
5) Approve the payment into the County Council Pension Fund of £5 million as 
referred to in paragraph 64 (f). 
 
  

108. Draft Corporate Strategy 20-24 - For consultation  

The Assistant Chief Executive had submitted a report to seek approval to consult on 
the Council Strategy 2020-2024.  
 
Councillor Susan Brown, Leader of the Council, introduced  the report. The Strategy 
took a different approach to its predecessor, being simpler and hopefully clearer as a 
result. The discussion at Scrutiny Committee  earlier in the week had been helpful. The 
draft had benefitted from input from a Member workshop and Council employees 
among others. The cross cutting themes in the strategy should not be treated in 
isolation, they inevitably affected each other. In order to  keep the strategy as clear and 
uncluttered as possible, unnecessary repetition and cross-referencing had been kept to 
a minimum.  
 
Mish Tullar, Head of Corporate Policy, Partnerships and Communications, noted that 
revisions to the text before Cabinet were already underway and it would be a ‘living 
document’ until the final text was agreed. 
 
Cabinet resolved to: 
 

1. Grant approval to consult externally on the Council Strategy 2020-2024;  and  
2. Delegate authority to the Head of Corporate Policy, Partnerships and 

Communications to work with the Council Leader to make any changes as may 
be required following Scrutiny and Cabinet consideration, and then publish the 
Draft Council Strategy 2020-24 for public consultation.   

 

109. Initial Response To Report of Citizens' Assembly into Climate 
Change  

The Transition Director had submitted report to formally welcome the final report of the  
Oxford’s Citizens’ Assembly on Climate Change established by Oxford City Council, 
approve an initial response to it, and lay out the next steps to become a Zero Carbon 
Council and City.  
 
Tom Hayes, Cabinet Member for Zero Carbon Oxford, introduced the  report. The 
Council had had several years of positive action to address environmental concerns. 
Following the declaration of a Climate Emergency there was a clear ambition to take 
some significant steps and to be clear that the declaration was more than words. The 
Assembly had  been inspirational, intense and active. A key view to emerge  from the 
Assembly was the  desirability  of moving ‘further and faster’ than the government has 
in mind . Among other things, it is intended that the Council should reduce its own 

182



 

carbon footprint to zero by 2020. The Council is estimated to account for just 1% of the 
City’s greenhouse gas emissions, so work with partners will be essential.  
 
The Chair confirmed the need for the Council to work with partners, use its influence 
more widely and to lobby government.  
 
Cabinet resolved to: 
 
1. Formally welcome the Final Report on Oxford’s Citizens’ Assembly on Climate 
Change established by Oxford City Council; 
2. Formally welcome the Council’s Climate Emergency Strategy Support report 
which underpinned the Citizens’ Assembly, commissioned from Oxford-based 
environmental consultancy Anthesis; 
3. Agree an immediate response to the Citizens’ Assembly Final Report, including 
measures in the budget for 2020/21; 
4. In line with the findings of Oxford’s Citizens’ Assembly, agree steps to reduce 
the City Council’s carbon footprint – that is, the Council’s direct operations, where it 
pays the bills – to net zero by the end of 2020, initially through the purchase of 
renewable electricity and gas and offsetting and then through an acceleration of 
existing and new programmes to reduce the Council’s underlying emissions;  
5. Request that officers develop detailed plans for further projects to accelerate the 
reduction in the Council’s underlying emissions to achieve a Zero Carbon Council by 
2030 or sooner; and 
6. Request the reinvention of the Low Carbon Oxford Partnership as the Zero 
Carbon Oxford Partnership. Convened by the City Council, this new Partnership will 
galvanise emitters in the city to agree targets and an action plan for Oxford to become 
a zero-carbon city. 
 
 

110. Integrated Performance Report for Quarter 2 2019/20  

Councillors Brown and Hollingsworth both declared for the sake of  transparency that  
the Jericho Community Centre, mentioned briefly in the report, was situated close to 
their home.  
 
The Heads of Financial Services and Business Improvement had submitted a report 
to update Cabinet on Finance, Risk and Corporate Performance matters as at 30 
September 2019.  
 
Councillor Ed Turner, Cabinet Member for Finance & Asset Management, 
introduced the report. There was a slight adverse variance in the General Fund 
forecast outturn alongside a favourable variance in the Housing Revenue Account. 
The Capital programme had been subject to a major review by officers to get a 
deliverable and well timetabled programme. 
 
It was agreed that it would be helpful, in future reports, to present the  capital projects 
sorted by project status. 
 

183



 

The Leader drew attention to new requirements relating to accessibility of public 
documents, noting that the appendices to this report, in particular, would not meet the 
new standards. Data presented in narrative form rather than (or as well as) tabular form 
would often be helpful. 
 
Cabinet resolved to: 
 

1. Note the projected financial outturn as well as the current position on risk and 
performance as at 30 September 2019;  

2. Recommend the Council to vire £0.500 million from Compulsory purchase of 
property (N7049) to Extensions & Major Adaptions (N7020) to cover the work of 
four extensions within the Housing Revenue Account Capital programme as set 
out in paragraph 10 of the report; and 

3. Recommend  Council to approve the revised Capital Programme budget to be 
£59.962 million in line with the latest forecast following the major review carried 
out by officers. 

111. Annual Monitoring Report 2018/19  

The Head of Planning Services had submitted a report to approve  the Annual 
Monitoring Report for publication.  
 
Councillor Alex Hollingsworth, Cabinet Member for Planning & Sustainable Transport, 
introduced the report, which fulfilled a statutory requirement and reported against a 
number of previously determined indicators. He drew particular attention to the  
trajectory of house building in the City. Next year, for the first time since 2009, the City 
would be ahead of where it should be. In the context of the new emerging Local Plan in 
which a further 28,000 dwellings were being proposed, it was important to ensure that 
house building remained a priority.  
 
Cabinet resolved to: 
 
Approve the Annual Monitoring Report 2018/19 for publication; and  
Authorise the Head of Planning Services to make any necessary additional minor 
corrections not materially affecting the document prior to publication. 
 
 
 

112. Treasury Mid-Year Report 2019/20  

The Head of Financial Services had submitted a report on the performance of the 
Treasury Management function for the 6 months to 30th September 2019.  
 
Councillor Ed Turner, Cabinet Member for Finance & Asset Management, 
introduced the report which  provided the latest regular update to provide assurance 
that the Council’s funds were being invested as wisely as possible. While property 
investments continued to perform well, consideration was being given to investing in 
a Multi Asset Fund to reduce the reliance on property based income.  
 
 

184



 

Cabinet resolved to: 
 
1.Note the performance of the Treasury Management function for the six months to 
30th September 2019; and  
2.Recommend  Council to: 

i.Approve the change of the Indirect Property Funds counterparty category to 
Pooled Investment Funds; and 
ii.Note that the Council is considering investing in a Multi Asset fund instead of 
an Indirect Property Fund as was previously anticipated. 

113. Property Investment Portfolio Analysis and Strategy Report  

The Executive Director – Development had submitted a report to agree the council’s 
commercial investment portfolio strategy.  
 
Councillor Ed Turner, Cabinet Member for Finance & Asset Management, introduced 
the report. He reminded Cabinet that the property portfolio generated £12m of revenue 
per annum. Given the significance  of this strand of Council investment, some external 
professional review of the make up of the portfolio and the individual assets within it 
had been carried out. Central to this advice was the recommendation to reduce the 
exposure to retail and diversify the capital distribution into other property sectors. 
 
Jane Winfield,  Regeneration & Major Projects Service Manager, assured Cabinet 
that disposals would only proceed after a process of due diligence and that full 
account would be taken of potential future use and value. 
 
Cabinet resolved to: 
 

1. Agree the overarching property investment strategy contained in the confidential 
appendices; and 

2. Note that the Leader will delegate the authority for the decision in relation to 
individual property transactions to the Cabinet Member for Finance and Asset 
Management. 
 

114. Bullingdon Community Centre - Project Approval and Award Of 
Contract  

The Executive Director Customer and Communities had submitted a report to seek 
Grant Project Approval to replace the existing end of life community building at 
Bullingdon with a modern fit for purpose facility that meets the needs of the community. 
 
Councillor Pat Kennedy spoke about the very great value of the Bullingdon Community 
Centre to the local community over many years and the important role it would continue 
to play. The centre played host to a diverse range of groups, clubs and associations. 
She paid tribute to the work of officers in bringing this proposal forward, noting  the 
excellent relationship they have with the centres trustees. She commended the report 
to Cabinet. 
 
Councillor Marie Tidball, Cabinet Member for Supporting Local Communities, thanked 
Councillor Kennedy for her support for this important project. She also thanked 

185



 

members of the Bullingdon Community Association (who had been closely involved 
with the design) and  those  Ward and  County Councillors who had given  their support 
to ensure the development of a building which would meet the needs of the community.  
The report demonstrated what great use was made of the centre and the diversity of 
those groups and activities. It was  noteworthy that the proposal was for a building 
which would meet the nearly carbon zero criteria. The significant benefits which would 
flow being able to proceed with the enhanced funding were set out in the report. It was 
expected that  that Oxford Direct Services Limited would be awarded the contract for 
the project on the basis set out in the report.  
 
The Chair took the opportunity to thank Aileen Carlisle, interim Executive Director - 
Communities and Customer, for her contribution to this project and others during her 
time with the Council and to wish her well in anticipation of her imminent return to New 
Zealand. 
 
 
Cabinet resolved to: 
 
1. Delegate to the Executive Director Customer and Communities in consultation with 

the S151 officer and Head of Law and Governance the award of the contract to 
Oxford Direct Services Ltd subject to the full tender submission being within the 
agreed budget; and 

2. Recommend to Council to increase the total project budget by £200,000 to 
£1,403,000. This is included as part of the consultation budget. 

115. Enforcement of the Regulations in relation to energy efficiency in 
Domestic and non-domestic properties following Delegation of 
powers by Oxfordshire County Council  

The Head of Regulatory Service and Community Safety had submitted a report to seek 
formal approval to enforce legislation applicable to: 

a) Domestic Private Rented Energy Performance Certificates (EPCs); and 
b) Commercial  Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards (MEES) 

following the delegation of powers under the Energy Performance of Buildings (England 
and Wales) Regulations 2012 and under the Energy Efficiency (Private Rented 
Property)(England and Wales) Regulations 2015 from Oxfordshire County Council. 
 
Councillor Linda Smith, Cabinet Member for Leisure & Housing, introduced the report. 
This report spoke to two of the Council’s priorities, the Climate Emergency and the 
importance of high quality housing. Driving up standards in the private rented sector 
was important and this proposal would contribute to that. The County Council had  
been unable to enforce Energy Performance Certificates (EPCs) because of other 
service priorities.  She thanked officers for their work in bringing forward the delegation 
of enforcement of EPCs to the City Council. 
 
Ian Wright, Head of Service for  Regulatory Services and Community Safety, said 
this proposal could act as a template for the delegation of responsibility for 
enforcement of EPCs in other District Council areas which the City Council could 
potentially undertake.  
 

186



 

Cabinet resolved to: 
 
1.Accept the delegation of powers from Oxfordshire County Council to enable Oxford 
City Council  to carry out enforcement of Energy Performance Certificates (EPCs) in 
the domestic private rented sector under The Energy Performance of Buildings 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2012; 
2.Accept the delegation of powers from Oxfordshire County Council to Oxford City 
Council for the enforcement of the  Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards (MEES) in 
commercial  property The Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property)(England and 
Wales) Regulations 2015; 
3.Authorise the Head of Regulatory Services and Community Safety,  acting in 
consultation with the Head of Law & Governance and the Head of Financial Services, 
to enter into all necessary and appropriate contracts to implement the delivery of the 
enforcement work  on behalf of the Oxfordshire County Council; and 
4.Delegate authority to the Head of Regulatory Services and Community Safety to 
perform the enforcement duties of the Oxfordshire County Council as set out in the 
agency agreement and to take any steps necessary to perform those duties. 

116. Transformation Funding for Oxford Direct Services Limited  

The Head of Financial Services had submitted a report to  present the funding and 
budget requirements of the Oxford Direct Services Transformation Project for 
approval and for recommendation to Council.  
 
Councillor Ed Turner, Cabinet Member for Finance & Asset Management, 
introduced the report. The proposed investment  represented the next phase in the 
important partnership between Oxford Direct Services (ODS) and the County 
Council, the principle of further investment having been agreed in the previous 
budget. 
 
Councillor Nigel Chapman, Cabinet Member for Safer Communities and Customer 
Focussed Services, said this additional funding was central to ODS’s ambition to be 
a modern, competitive  and effective company. 
 
While it was recognised that there were other potential ways of increasing the 
dividend to the Council this was seen to be the most effective approach in keeping 
with the Council’s values. The Council’s interests would be overseen by, among 
other things,  Shareholder oversight. 
 
Cabinet resolved to: 
 
1. Approve the business case for the transformation project within ODS and the 

capitalisation of £1.25 million revenue costs by the Council related to the Oxford 
Direct Services Limited Transformation project in accordance with the Statutory 
Guidance on the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts  and in line with the approved 
capital budget; 

2. Provide a capital grant to Oxford Direct Services for the capitalised transformation 
revenue costs to be drawn down upon the Head of Financial Services being 
satisfied as to the evidence of expenditure provided and to include a repayment 
clause operated if the forecast returns are not achieved; 

187



 

3. Enter into a legal agreement with Oxford Direct Services Limited relating to the 
capital grant for the capitalised revenue costs of the Oxford Direct Services Limited 
Transformation project subject to the Head of Law and Governance in consultation 
with the Head of Financial Services drawing up and being satisfied as to the terms 
of such agreement; and 

4. Include progress of the transformation project and updates on the financial returns 
achieved and forecast to be included annually in the Council’s Capital Strategy. 

 
 

117. Minutes  

 
The Board resolved to APPROVE the amended minutes of the meeting held on 13 
November 2019 as a true and accurate record. 

118. Dates of Future Meetings  

Meetings are scheduled for the following dates: 
 

 22 January  

 12 February 

 11 March 
 
All meetings start at 6pm. 

119. Matters Exempt from Publication  

No matters were considered in confidential session. 
 
 
The meeting started at 6.00 pm and ended at 7.20 pm 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Chair …………………………..   Date:  Wednesday 22 January 2020 

188


	Agenda
	8 Connecting Oxford
	Appendix 1 Connecting Oxford summary report of engagement
	Appendix 2_Map of Traffic Restriction points & Eastern Arc WPL option
	Appendix 3_Map showing route of proposed new high frequency bus route serving the Easter Arc
	Appendix 4_Service & Community Impact Assessment (SCIA)
	Appendix  5_Project Programme rev 2
	Sheet1


	9 Use of s106 and Retained Right to Buy Receipts to increase the provision of more affordable housing
	Appendix 1  (19 Dec 19) v.0.1
	Blank Risk Register  

	Appendix 2  EQIA (19 Dec 19) v.0.1

	10 Energy & Water Supply Procurement 2020 – 2024
	Appendix 1 LASER PIA basket performance
	Appendix 2 Risk Register

	11 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2020-21
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3

	12 Flag flying on World Refugee Day
	Appendix 1

	13 Minutes

